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sults Highlight
RRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our Group for the ~ TXHIBEAEBRBERENRFENEREUK
last five financial years, is set out below: BEERBENHE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR i HEHFEAEER

LOSS
For the year ended December 31,
BZE2A3ALEFE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
2020%F 20215 20224F 2023%F 20245
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(ARETT) (ARETIT) (ARETRE) (ARETIT) (AR¥TT)
Revenue WA 2,327,008 3,598,251 4,532,920 4,867,026 5,745,315
Gross profit EF 404,673 537,538 779547 618716 1,019,372
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE,(ER) 13,974 (172,864) (564,219) (64,863) 204,373
Non-IFRS Measure: FERIRR A SR 5 XERIGT & -
Adjusted net profit’ KRB SRR 221316 259,232 364,048 162,225 349,466
Notes: MEE
Equals profit/(loss) for the year plus changes in the carrying amount of financial . ERFERFIE (BER)MEAREERTHEMIA
instruments issued to investors, share-based payments, listing expenses, and fair value HREEZS - LRMDAEMOHNR - EHRZRR
changes and dividend income arising from equity investments. BRENAABEEZSHES AR -
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Results Highlight
LERE

LR 3

For the year ended December 31,

BZNA3IBLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204F 20216 20224F 20234 20244
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB’000)
(ARBTFIT) (ARBTT) (ARETT) (ARETT) (AR¥TR)
Current assets MENEE 823,935 1,737,342 2,058,147 3,567,238 2,682,858
Non-current assets EMENEE 311,647 646,810 1,004,405 1,167,573 1,930,960
Total assets BEHE 1,135,582 2,384,152 3,062,552 4734811 4,613,818
Current liabilties neaE 465,654 251,697 744,856 1,285,472 980,303
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 387,402 1913867 2,424,068 65,829 78,745
Total liabilities =Rvt 853,056 2,165,564 3,168,924 1,351,301 1,059,048
Net current assets MEVEEFE 35828 1,485,645 1,313,291 2,281,766 1,702,555
Net assets/(liabilities) BEERE (AEFH) 282,526 218,588 (106,372) 3383510 3,554,770
SUMMARY OF KEY FINANCIAL METRICS BRMEEERE
Summary of 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Key Financial Metrics RRMEEERE 20205 20214 20026 2023 202445
Revenue growth (%) Wit & (%) N/A 54.6 260 74 18.0
Gross profit margin (%) EFIZE(%) 174 149 17.2 12.7 17.7
Net profit (%) SEFE (%) 0.6 (4.8) (124) (13) 36
Adjusted net profit margin (%) 4<% 4T F % (%) (3EE
(non-IFRS measure) SRS ERGFTZ) 9.5 72 8.0 33 6.1%
Inventory turnover days FEREEXH 100 100 16 127 113
Trade receivables turnover days & 55 JiE U B 7% & 85 K 25 13 20 28 24 20
Trade payables turnover days B 5) F& 1< BR 5B 8 K & 22 16 14 13 I
Gearing ratio (%) BRBRELEE(%) 75.1 208 103.5 285 23.0
TEEREERAERAT FEHRE2024 7



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Shiyue Daotian, | would like to present the annual results of the

Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

In 2024, the international economic landscape was marked by its complexity
and volatility, amidst which, the global economic transformation reinforced the
economic momentum, while scientific and technological innovation embarked
on an era of accelerated evolution. The domestic economy was also navigating
through a critical period of transition, seeking progress without compromising
stability. The pace of technological innovation, green transformation, etc. not
only charted the course for domestic enterprises, but also exerted a profound

influence on the trajectory of international economic development.

Shiyue Daotian has consistently adhered to the mission of “being committed
to providing Chinese consumers with healthy, quality and safe pantry food”,
propelling growth through innovation and responding to challenges with resilience.
Over the past year, amidst the challenging macroeconomic environment, we
have steadfastly adhered to our strategic orientation, while vigorously impelling
the upgrading across our brand, products, channels, and supply chain, thereby
achieving a growth in both our overall business operations and financial

performance against the adverse trend.

In 2024, Shiyue Daotian recorded a total revenue of RMB5,745.3 million,
representing an increase of approximately 18.0% compared with the year 2023;
the adjusted net profit of the Group increased from RMBI62.2 million in the
previous year to RMB349.5 million in 2024, representing an increase of | 15.5%.

Throughout the past year, we persistently pursued innovation in the categories of
pantry food, further optimizing our product portfolio. We reduced our strategic
investment in low-margin channels and products, which led to a higher proportion
of premium rice contributing to our income. Moreover, as our rice business
stabilized, we swiftly expanded corn cultivation, which emerged as our second

pillar of growth, substantially improving our earnings quality.
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In addition, we have continued to deepen our omni-channel layout, coupled with
strategic deployment for sales channels. So far, we have established a presence
on over 30 major e-commerce platforms, including JD.com, Tmall, Douyin and
Pinduoduo, while forging partnerships with nearly 100 modern retail channels
(including those occupying leading positions). Meanwhile, we have also proactively
explored cooperation opportunities in emerging channels such as social e-commerce
platforms, and continuously adjusted operational strategies, with sales volume in

key channels all achieving breakthrough growth in 2024.

As an innovator in pantry food and a practitioner of rural revitalization in
China, we has also proactively responded to the national modern mega-
agriculture policies, concentrating on the primary links including farmers' planting,
procurement, order-oriented production, processing, warehousing, logistics,
sales, brand experience, repetitive purchase and services, etc, so as to promote
the integrated construction of the entire supply chain while comprehensively
improving the stability of our industrial system, which ultimately contributes to

rural revitalization and development.

Overall, 2024 stands as a year for Shiyue Daotian to unceasingly fortify its
foundation, adhere to policy orientation, diversify its business segments, enhance
its channel architecture, persist in constructing an industrial closed-loop ecosystem
from field to table, and practise the commitment of long-termism as an food

enterprise.

Last but not the least, on behalf of Shiyue Daotian, | would like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to all employees for their dedication throughout the preceding
year. Meanwhile, | would also like to extend our sincere appreciation to all our
customers, shareholders and partners. In the future, we will continue to conform
to the policies that shape modern mega-agricufture under the guidance of long-
termism, while upholding the fortitude to surmount challenges and act earnestly
after in-depth contemplation. Our endeavors will be dedicated to continuously
enhancing the operational efficiency of the Group, steadily generating value
that satisfies consumers’ needs, while simultaneously delivering more sustainable

returns to shareholders.

WANG Bing
Chairman
March 24, 2025
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EENWEDN

MACRO AND INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

In 2024, the global economic environment continuously exhibited complexity
and volatility. Against this background, the Chinese economy demonstrated
remarkable resilience and vitality, and the national economy maintained overall
stability while achieving steady progress with improvement. According to official
data, the GDP growth rate of China for the year 2024 reached 5.0%, with the
growth rate in the fourth quarter even rising to 5.4%, reflecting that the resilience
of Chinese economy is being strengthened. The total retail sales of consumer
goods increased by 3.5% year-on-year throughout the year, especially for grain,
oil and food commodities exhibiting an outstanding growth rate of 9.9% that
surpassed the overall consumption growth rate, emerging as a pivotal driving
force in stimulating the growth of domestic demand. In terms of the consumer
price index (CPI), the increase for the year 2024 was only a marginal 0.2%,
but there were apparent discrepancy in the price structure: the prices of fresh
vegetables and pork rose by 5.0% and 7.7% respectively, while the price of grain
remained stable due to increased production, dropping by merely 0.19%. The price
fluctuations remained within a moderate range. With the constant improvement
of living standards and the increasing health awareness among Chinese residents,
consumers’ demand for food has shown two major trends: one is the pursuit
of health and quality. Consumers have transitioned from focusing on satiety to
healthy diet, preferring foods that are nutritionally balanced, low in fat and rich in
fiber. The other is the demand for convenience and brand. Pre-packaged food,
with its advantages of stable quality, effortless storage and transportation, has

continuously expanded its market share.

In terms of categories, China’s pantry staple food can be divided into four
categories, namely, flour products, rice products, whole grain and the new
staple food products featuring corn as representative. As the main food for
people in most parts of China, rice possesses a substantial market potential and
maintains a decent rate of growth, with a market exhibiting maturity and stability.
In December 2024, seven departments including the National Development
and Reform Commission and the National Food and Strategic Reserves
Administration, jointly issued the “National Whole Grain Action Plan (2024-
2035)", which insists on ensuring food security with high quality and improving
the nutritional and health status of the whole people as the goal, and adheres
to the orientation towards comprehensive food security, integrated nutrition
and universal health, so as to develop the whole grain' industry according to

local conditions, promote food conservation and loss reduction, facilitate the

Whole grains are grains that retain a complete caryopsis structure (i.e., endosperm,
germ, and pericarp) after the removal of inedible parts such as the husk, which
preserve the natural nutrients and bioactive substances, such as dietary fiber, B
vitamins, and minerals, to the greatest extentWhole grains primarily include brown
rice, whole wheat, oats, millet, corn, buckwheat, quinoa, sorghum and others.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

consumption of residents in nutrition and health, and ensure national grain
security at a higher hierarchy and more advanced level. At the same time, the
growing health consciousness of consumers and the popularization of the concept
of dietary balance have contributed to the growth of the market scale for whole
grain and corn. The corn category demonstrated exceptional performance,
emerging as a preferred choice on contemporary dining tables owing to its low-

fat and high-fiber attributes.

Based on package specification, rice, corn, whole grain, bean and seed products
can be further divided into pre-packaged products and bulk products. Pre-
packaged products have become more popular among consumers, mainly
due to their portability and better preservation of quality, freshness and taste.
As Chinese consumers have become more conscious of food quality, more
consumers prefer to purchase pre-packaged rice, corn, whole grain, bean and
seed products, boosting a much higher growth rate of the pre-packaged product
market. In addition, consumers’ multi-scenario demands have given rise to the
trend of turning staple foods into snacks, making dietary patterns more adaptable
to modern life. Pre-packaged fresh corn products, along with pre-cooked
whole grain foods, can fulfill consumers’ composite demands for “nutrition and

convenience”.

PROSPECT

By adhering to the mission of "being committed to providing Chinese consumers
with healthy, quality and safe pantry food" all along, the Group has been dedicated
to providing our customers with pre-packaged premium rice, corn, whole grain,
bean, and dried food products. By maintaining omni-channel sales coverage, we
are committed to providing customers with products of diversified categories
that are sourced from renowned grain production regions in China. In virtue of
increasingly improved service quality and operational efficiency, we aim to “build a

valuable and influential food brand in China”.

We will continue to broaden and deepen our omni-channel ecosystem, and
reinforce our channel management capabilities. We will continue to use the
traffic ecology to lay out our brand IP matrix, increase brand exposure, and
continue to gain insight into consumer needs and build brand recognition. We will
pay constant and close attention to the overall industry trends, exert promptly
adjustments to our business layout and product assortment, give full play to our
own characteristics and advantages to expand new channels and businesses. We
will continue to forge flagship products of healthy and high-quality nature. We
will also continue to penetrate into selected production areas for rice, corn,
whole grain, bean and other products, and focus on building infrastructure for
procurement, production, inspection, storage and other core capabilities in quality

origins.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Group has been dedicated to providing customers with pre-packaged
premium rice, corn, whole grain, bean and dried food products, aiming to
capture consumer mindshare with “high brand visibility and convenient purchase
experience”’. The Group has continued to cultivate its categories in existence,
expand its multi-category product portfolio, develop its sales network, strengthen
its multi-brand business model with respective proven record of success, and
consolidate its supply chain management capabilities to meet diversified consumer
needs and continuously strengthen the emotional connection of our consumers

with us.

In 2024, total revenue of the Group was RMB5,745.3 million, representing an
increase of approximately 18.0% as compared with RMB4,867.0 million of the
previous year. Gross profit of the Group increased by 64.8% from RMB618.7
million for the previous year to RMBI1,019.4 million for this year, while gross
profit margin increased from 12.7% for the previous year to 17.7% for this year.
Compared to the previous year, the Group has achieved a significant financial
turnaround this year. In the previous year, the Group recorded a loss before
income tax of RMB58.8 million, while the Group recorded a profit before
income tax of RMB224.4 million this year. Compared with a net loss of RMB64.9
million in the previous year, the Group recorded a net profit of RMB204.4 million
this year. The Group'’s adjusted net profit increased by |15.5% from RMBI162.2
million for the previous year to RMB349.5 million for this year, and adjusted net

profit margin increased from 3.3% for the previous year to 6.1% for this year.

12 SHIYUE DAOTIAN GROUP CO,, LTD. 2024 Annual Report

lanagement Discussion and Analysis

E 3 e

2024%F - ARERBER IR ATFRERHESREL
RAFXK - ME THERELEER  KEUES
RBRIIGGHEENTR - AEEFERMA
EmlE WRZRBERER - ARFHEMEK - 08
TR EERENHEEN  URFEHEEEEE
N REMRREZHEARBEEERE  HEBRECRME
HEENBRER

2024F - AEBEMNBERARARES 745388 T -
BFEENARK48670E BT INL180% » AN
ENEMNHLELFEMNARKECISTABEITLIEN48%E
REENARBIOCAEE L TR XRELEFED
127%EMNEREER17.7% o B FEERL - REE
AEBEEBERS  LFEASESRBHEHANE
BARBSSSEET H MAFEALEBEFAEHA
MEARB2448 8T - LEEAREESHSFERBA
R#e49oBETT MAFEREBESEFBEARE
20448 ETT c KFBFMNEREFENARE 1622
BEITIEMI ISS%ERFEMNARKE3OSBEET - &
FARFFEER EFERBIREMERFENG6 1% -




Management Discussion and Analysis

OUR BRANDS AND PRODUCTS

We are one of the leading and rapidly growing pantry food companies in China,
enjoying a robust omni-channel brand presence. We have been dedicated
to providing our consumers with premium pre-packaged rice, corn, whole
grain, bean, and dried food products since our inception, and have successfully
established and been operating multiple well-recognized brands, mainly including
Shiyue Daotian (+ A#EH), Firewood Courtyard (4¢ A KPFT) and Sunshine
Family ({8 % AZ). The Group has been growing steadily, successfully achieving
a consistent leading performance in the past. According to an industry study
completed by Frost & Sullivan in May 2024, we have been recognized as the
“Top Selling Brand for Northeast Rice in China for Five Consecutive Years?’
and the “Omni-channel Service Provider for 130 Million Users of Chinese
Families®”. In addition, in response to the trend of making corn a staple food, we
have laid out the supply chain of corn categories in the high-quality production
area in Northeast China, which has won the full recognition of the market
and consumers by virtue of its advantages in production area, production and
processing, and product innovation since its appearance on the market, and we
have been certified as the “Top Selling Brand for Corn Categories in China®’ by
Frost & Sullivan.

We mainly supply rice products, corn products, whole grain, bean and other
products, as well as dried food and other products. Rice products mainly include
pre-packaged rice products of different varieties, such as Wuchang rice (B AK),
Daoxiang rice (FEEK), long grain rice (FRALEAK) and Komachi rice (/]NE]
). Corn products mainly include different categories of pre-packaged fresh corn
products, such as yellow glutinous corn, white glutinous corn, black glutinous corn,
multicolored glutinous corn, fruit corn, fruit corn kernels, as well as dried and
peeled corn kernels. Whole grain and bean products mainly include pre-packaged
mixed brown rice, millet and red bean, and other products under this category
primarily refer to seed. Dried food products mainly include pre-packaged wood
ear mushrooms, snow fungus mushroom, lotus seeds and lily bulbs, and other
products under this category mainly include by-products, such as bran, husk and
fractioned rice. Our revenue is mainly derived from the sales of rice products
and corn products. The table below sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by

product category for the periods indicated:

Based on research on the Northeast Rice industry in China by Frost & Sullivan;
calculated based on the sales volume (tons) of pre-packaged Northeast Rice
products in retail channels in Mainland China from 2019 to 2023; Northeast Rice is
defined as japonica rice produced in the production area of Northeast China; the
survey was completed in May 2024.

Based on research on the pantry staple food industry in China by Frost & Sullivan;
calculated based on the total number of household users served by all sales channels
in Mainland China as of April 2024; the survey was completed in May 2024.

Based on research on the corn industry in China by Frost & Sullivan; calculated based
on the sales volume (tons) of corn categories in retail channels in Mainland China
from January 2023 to March 2024; corn categories refer to edible corn, mainly
including corn cobs, corn segments, corn kernels and corn derivatives, etc.; the survey
was completed in May 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Year ended December 31,

BZENA3IBLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234

% of total % of total

RMB’000 revenue RMB'000 revenue

Product category EmE5 AREBTRT 8 BA% AR®EFT  (HEKA%
Rice products FOKEE o 4,014,456 69.9 3,830,303 787
Corn products FREmM 815,108 14.2 130,801 27
Whole grain, bean and other products Mg - SEKHEMER 469,536 8.2 470,699 9.7
Dried food and other products g8 M EAEmR 446,215 77 435,223 8.9
Total aat 5,745,315 100.0 4,867,026 100.0

Our revenue generated from rice products increased by 4.8% from RMB3,830.3
million for the previous year to RMB4,014.5 million for this year, primarily due to
the Group'’s continued adjustment to product mix of rice during the year, which
resulted in an increase in revenue from mid to high-end rice, with the proportion
of revenue from Daoxiang rice and long grain rice in our rice revenue increased,
coupled with the decrease in sales volume of low-gross-profit rice varieties,
collectively leading to an increase in revenue from rice products. Our revenue
generated from corn products increased by 523.29% from RMBI30.8 million for
the previous year to RMB8I5.1 million for this year, attributable to our insight
into consumer needs through which we continued to launch new products that
meet composite demands such as low fat, health and convenience combined
with omni-channel marketing, and thus sales volume of corn products increased
significantly in this year. Our revenue generated from whole grain, bean and other
products amounted to RMB469.5 million for this year, which remained stable
as compared to RMB470.7 million in the previous year. Our revenue generated
from dried food and other products increased by 2.5% from RMB435.2 million
for the previous year to RMB446.2 million for this year, primarily due to the
increase in sales volume and sales of dry food products as we undertook in-depth
expansion in our sales network, plus the decrease in sales revenue of by-products
resulting from the declining sales price of by-products in line with market
conditions this year, collectively leading to a slight increase in the revenue of this

category.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUR SALES NETWORK

The Group's customer group encompasses both corporate customers and
individual customers. Our sales network is remarkably diversified and spans
a multitude of online and offline channels, enabling us to achieve extensive
consumer coverage and penetrate the market effectively. We not only maintain
strong partnerships with, and have established leading positions on, prominent
comprehensive e-commerce platforms, but also proactively explore cooperation

opportunities in emerging channels such as social e-commerce platforms.

In line with the development tendency of the offline retail ecosystem, we have
successfully established an extensive sales network across our modern retail
channels, and has achieved rapid growth and success in this field, establishing a
leading position in the modern retail channel. Leveraging our integrated online
and offline operation capabilities, we have further deepened our sales channel
penetration and established an omni-channel sales network. Our omni-channel
sales network enables us to promptly stay abreast of consumer experiences
and evolving preferences, thereby further guiding the iterative upgrading of our

product development and sales strategies.
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lanagement Discussion and Analysis
HEEwmea s

The table below sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by sales channel for the — TREFIR TR BB FIEHE REE DU AR AE:

periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,

BZENA3IBLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenue RMB'000 revenue
Sales channel SHERE ARBTT (HBEBA% ARETT (E8KA%
Online channels HSERE
E-commerce platforms BT e 2,384,025 416 2,836,474 584
Online self-operated stores A =y 1,214,643 21.1 469,080 9.6
Modern retail channels' RAEHBER 1,013,288 17.6 653,920 134
Direct customers? HEER 829,474 14.4 627,970 12.9
Distribution network R 303,885 53 279,582 57
Total = 5,745,315 100.0 4,867,026 100.0
Notes: Mt -
Modern retail channels mainly include NKAs and LKAs which provide our products I BRANBRBFZPEMNKRHEEERBRMERDN
to end-consumers. NKA K LKA
2. Direct customers primarily consist of catering companies, agricultural products 2. EERFPIZEDREERAT - BEMARNUREME
companies, and other corporate and individual customers. (REAEP
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Management Discussion and Analysis

This year, our revenue from online channels accounted for the majority of our
total revenue. Our revenue generated from online channels increased by 8.9%
from RMB3,305.6 million for the previous year to RMB3,598.7 million for this
year. Among them, our revenue from e-commerce platforms decreased by |6.0%
from RMB2,836.5 million for the previous year to RMB2,384.0 million for this
year, primarily attributable to our adjustment to channel structure which reduced
our involvement in the channels with low gross profit. Revenue from online self-
operated stores increased by 1589% from RMB469.1 million for the previous
year to RMBI,214.6 million for this year, primarily due to our adjustment of the
operation strategies on social e-commerce and self-operated stores of certain
emerging platforms in line with the changes in consumption habits, which led to
the growth of revenue from our online self-operated stores. Revenue generated
from modern retail channels increased by 55.0% from RMB653.9 million for
the previous year to RMBI,013.3 million for this year, which was mainly due to
increased sales volume, resulting from our continuous cultivation of channels
and establishment of partnership with high-quality customers. Revenue from
direct customers increased by 32.1% from RMB628.0 million for the previous
year to RMB829.5 million for this year, which reflected the Company’s active
efforts in direct customer expansion, coupled with the Company's elevated brand
awareness, increased corporate procurement for internal employee benefits, and
our strengthened cooperation with catering companies, which collectively led to
an increase in revenue from direct customers. Revenue from distribution network
increased by 8.7% from RMB279.6 million for the previous year to RMB303.9
million for this year, which reflected the Company's continuous exploration of

distribution channels during the Reporting Period.
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OUR PRODUCTION

The foundation of our brands' and products’ core competitiveness lies in the
superior quality of raw materials. We have established long-term and stable
relationships with various product suppliers from renowned places of origin
for grains. To ensure efficient procurement and storage of raw materials, we
have strategically located five production bases around the core grain-producing
areas for rice, whole grain and bean in Northeast China and Inner Mongolia,
namely Shenyang Xinmin production base, Wuchang production base, Songyuan
production base, Tonghe production base and Aohan production base. The rice
originating from Wuchang, and millet originating from Aohan, are China National
Geographical Indication Products. We also purchase raw materials for whole
grain, bean and dried food products from other renowned places of origin,
including red beans from Daging, Heilongjiang Province, mung beans from Inner

Mongolia, and peanuts from Fuyu, Jilin Province.

We constantly optimize our production process, explore and develop the
production technology and techniques to maintain the good taste and preserve
the nutritional value of our products, thus satisfying the preferences of our
consumers. Our production process is highly standardized and automated. In
addition, we have made substantial investment in purchasing advanced production
machinery and equipment. Our production team members work closely to
continuously maintain our production machinery and equipment to meet our high

production standards and improve our production efficiency.

anagement Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFNWED

Our corn production lines

BT FREER

We are capable of efficiently procuring and storing fresh paddy and other grain
upon maturity, ensuring that their freshness and moisture levels remain intact
under low-temperature conditions by virtue of advanced warehousing facilities.
According to Frost & Sullivan, we are among a few companies in China’s rice,
whole grain, bean and seed industry that have implemented a vertically integrated
operation model encompassing the entire industry chain, from procurement,
storage, production and sale to logistics. This allows us to offer consumers fresh

products that retain their natural taste and aroma.
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The integrated construction of the entire supply chain of the industry, comprehensively improving the stability of our industrial system
EXEER-BIER  2ERFSEXBAREML

+TEBREERAERAT FEHE2024 19



EENWEDN

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

By closely collaborating with various channels, we are able to oversee all stages
of our value chain, enabling us to collect and analyze consumption information in
a timely manner, and synchronize our order, inventory, and capacity information.
This allows us to respond quickly to real-time transaction information by
efficiently formulating, monitoring and adjusting our production plans, and make
informed decisions during the business process. Relying on efficient supply chain
management, we typically perform order-based production and are able to
produce and process our products within three days of placement and dispatch
such to customers’ designated warehouses or end-consumers, thus guaranteeing
the freshness and good taste of our products. Furthermore, our flexible and

efficient supply chain ensures a rapid response to market needs.

Our production is highly standardized and automated, and we are committed to
continuously upgrading our production line with advanced equipment to enhance
its automation level. As of December 31, 2024, we had put into operation
over twenty automated production lines. Additionally, we have built a modern
warehouse and distribution system, which expands nationwide through five self-
operated regional distribution centers (“RDCs") in Shanghai, Tianjin, Chengdu,
Shenyang and Dongguan, and more than ten local warehouses to ensure prompt

and reliable contract fulfillment.

FOOD SAFETY AND QUALITY CONTROL

Food safety and product quality are our top priority. We are committed to
offering safe and premium food to maintain consumer confidence in our
products and strengthen our brand recognition. We have implemented
stringent food safety and quality control standards and measures throughout our
operations, covering steps from procurement, production and storage to sales.
To achieve systematic quality management, our quality assurance team focuses
on implementing a group-level quality control plan through the implementation
and maintenance of our quality control system, and is responsible for quality
inspection of raw materials, semi-finished products and finished products, as well

as product shelf-life management.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUR INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The IT systems utilized by the Group cover various aspects of our operations,
including raw materials supply, production, operation and logistics. Our IT team
is responsible for developing and maintaining IT systems in line with our business
expansion and creating customized solutions to meet our business needs. We
have developed and implemented a supply chain management system to integrate
resources along the supply chain and align value propositions with the aim of
decreasing our upfront costs. In addition, we use ERP system, TMS, warehousing
management system, CRM system, cloud office system and OA system to
complement each other to achieve a series of functions such as product

operation and data management.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Gross Profit

In 2024, the Group recorded a revenue of RMB5,745.3 million, representing
an increase of 18.0% as compared with RMB4,867.0 million in 2023, primarily
because (i) we attached importance to customer needs and feedback, expanded
the multi-category product portfolio based on the philosophy of healthy and safe
diet, and continued to cultivate our categories in existence, so as to satisfy the
diverse consumer needs; (ii) we paid constant and close attention to the overall
industry trends, adjusted our business arrangement and focused on investing in
emerging channels and modern retail channels to bring about incremental sales;
and (iii) we proactively enhanced both brand effect and brand competitiveness,
empowered the Shiyue Daotian brand through the founder’s IP, established our
presence in social media platforms and outdoor advertising, and integrated a
number of online and offline marketing activities to maximize brand awareness

across different channels with higher brand exposure.

Gross profit of the Group in 2024 amounted to RMB1,019.4 million, representing
an increase of 64.8% from RMB618.7 million in 2023. Gross profit margin of
the Group increased from 12.7% in 2023 to |7.7% for the Reporting Period,
primarily because we (i) carried out continuous innovation and in-depth operation
in the pantry food category to optimize its product portfolio; and (i) leveraged
the strategic deployment of sales channels to curtail our involvement in certain
channels with low gross profit, which resulted in an significant improvement of

the Group's earnings quality.
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EENWEDN

Other Net Income

Other net income of the Group increased from RMB3.7 million in 2023 to
RMB40.6 million in 2024, mainly due to (i) a provision of RMB20.0 million for
outstanding legal claims in 2023, and the reversing of the difference between the
amount of litigation provision of the previous year and the amount of judgment
in 2024; (i) an increase in the returns on investment and wealth management
compared with 2023; and (iii) the Group planted a small amount of corn and
paddies in 2024 and being affected by the flood disaster in Liaoning in August
2024, losses on the fair value of biological assets occurred in the planting of crops,

which partially offset the increase in other net income.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased by 585% from
RMB324.1 million in 2023 to RMB513.8 million in 2024, primarily due to changes
in the structure of our sales channels and a significant increase in commission
expenses related to social e-commerce platforms, and moreover, we increased
our brand promotion activities in 2024 such as outdoor advertising and holiday

marketing, which led to a rise in advertising and publicity expenses.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased from RMBI54.5 million in
2023 to RMBI148.2 million during the Reporting Period, mainly due to the fact
that it incurred listing expenses of RMB45.9 million in 2023, whereas in 2024,
there was no listing expense as the Company had been listed on October 12,
2023. In addition, the Company's expert consultation fees and depreciation and
amortization expenses increased as compared to the year 2023. Such combined

factors led to a decrease in administrative expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Impairment Losses Charged/Reversed on Trade and Other Receivables

Impairment losses charged/reversed on trade and other receivables of the
Group turned from a reversal of impairment loss of RMB0.2 million in 2023 to
an impairment loss charged of RMB4.6 million in 2024, mainly as a result of the

increase in the amounts of trade receivables.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs decreased by 38.2% from RMB21.7 million in 2023 to RMBI3.4
million in 2024, primarily due to foreign exchange gains generated from the
Group's settlement of foreign currencies in 2024, which collectively resulted in a

reduction of finance costs.

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value of Financial Assets Measured at

Fair Value through Profit or Loss (“FVPL”)

In 2024, the Group had financial assets that carried at fair value, which resulted in
a loss on fair value changes of RMBI155.6 million. These financial assets primarily
consist of equity interests in listed companies held by the Group for strategic

collaboration and investment purposes.

Changes in the Carrying Amount of Financial Instruments Issued to Investors

Our changes in the carrying amount of financial instruments issued to investors
primarily relate to the financial instruments granted to certain investors of our
Series A, Series B and Series C financing. The redemption rights related to
financial instruments have automatically expired upon the listing of the Company's
shares on the Stock Exchange. Changes in the carrying amount of financial
instruments issued to investors in 2023 amounted to RMBI81.1 million. In light of
the expiration of redemption rights related to financial instruments, there were
no changes in the carrying amount of financial instruments issued to investors in
2024.
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EENWEDN

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group increased from RMBé6.| million in 2023 to
RMB20.0 million during the Reporting Period, primarily due to the increase in

taxable income.

Profit/Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year of the Group turned from a loss

of RMB64.9 million in 2023 to a profit of RMB204.4 million in 2024.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the consolidated financial statements of the Group, which are
presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, the Group also uses
adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) as additional financial measures, which
is not required by, or presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.
The Group believes that the non-IFRS measure provides useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of
operations in the same manner as they help the Group’s management. However,
the Group’s presentation of adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The use of
such non-IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and investors should
not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute for an analysis of, the Group's
results of operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS Accounting

Standards.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

The Group defines adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) as net profit for the — ANEE L FHEFFH GEBRBR B EHREERFTE) T
years adjusted for fair value changes and dividend income arising from equity HEARERERENAALBEEHES A NE - AT
investments, changes in the carrying amount of financial instruments issuied EBEZETHESRTARBEZSH X TR AZRNF
to investors and listing expenses. The following table reconciles the adjusted ~ PFFE o T 5% 25! B A& #9225 508 (GEBI B B
net profit (non-IFRS measure) for the periods presented to the most directly — FF¥REERIFIE) BRBEEE T BHRESHENFTER
comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS 2 51|80 fx B # A th 81 % 51 = (BN AUF FDE S E 1) 8

Accounting Standards, which is net profit or loss for the years: AR

Year ended December 31,

BEZNA3IBLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBFT
Reconciliation of net profit to adjusted net profit VI B B F R (FEE R
(non-IFRS measure) Wi mE ARG 2 ) PBER
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFHE,(E18) 204,373 (64,863)
Add: Pl
Net losses arising from financial assets measured at EEBUAABEFEZFA
FVPL! BENEREENFER 145,093 =
Changes in the carrying amount of financial instruments ~ [RI& & & TR S M TAK
issued to investors’ ERE(EE ) - 181,141
Listing expenses’ ke = 45947
Adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) ORRFEFEGERR M S
HAEtE) 349,466 162,225
Notes: Kt -
Fair value changes and dividend income arising from listed equity investments, under | AEBFAEURABEFAEEHHABRENCRE
the financial assets measured at FVPL held by the Group. %7\ ,ZI\EF! YW EHIRREREEEN A AABEES: NS4

2. Changes in the carrying amount of financial instruments issued to investors were 7. RAREERTHNERIENRAEEH T ETER TR
primarily related to the financial instruments granted to certain investors of our PIAE B MCHREMNE TREENESRMIEAGH -

Series A, Series B and Series C financing.

3. Listing expenses primarily related to the initial public offering. 3. FIRAXFEEERARAEEHEE -
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Adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) of the Group increased by | 15.5% from
RMB162.2 million in 2023 to RMB349.5 million in 2024, while the adjusted net
profit margin (non-IFRS measure) rose from 3.3% to 6.1%, mainly due to the
combined factors which contributed to the growth of net profit, including that
we carried out continuous innovation and in-depth operation in the pantry food
category to further optimize its product portfolio, coupled with the strategic
deployment of sales channels which resulted in an significant improvement of the
Group's earnings quality with an increase in gross profit margin from 12.7% to

17.7%, plus that channel changes led to an increase in sales expense ratios.

Inventories

Inventories of the Group decreased by 15.2% from RMBI,604.8 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMBI,360.2 million as of December 31, 2024. Inventory
turnover days of the Group decreased from 127 days in 2023 to |13 days in
2024, mainly due to the decline in the price of raw material rice harvested in the
fall of 2024, coupled with a slight decrease in the inventory of raw materials as
compared to December 31, 2023, resulting in a decline in the inventory balance
as of December 31, 2024.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables of the Group increased by 55.4% from RMB242.8 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB377.4 miillion as of December 31, 2024. Turnover
days of trade receivables decreased from 24 days in 2023 to 20 days during the
Reporting Period, mainly due to the fact that sales revenue in the fourth quarter
of 2024 was higher than that in the same period of 2023, leading to higher
amount of trade receivables as at December 31, 2024. In addition, the Group's
bills receivables decreased significantly compared with December 31, 2023,

primarily because the Group reduced its cooperation with some of bill customers.

Other receivables of the Group increased from RMBI70.0 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB215.5 million as of December 31, 2024, primarily due
to the prepayment of advertising service fees under the agreement entered into

between the Group and a third party in relation to future advertising services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Assets Measured at FVPL

The financial assets measured at FVPL held by the Group as at December 31,
2024, represented the equity investments of RMB615.1 million in listed companies

for the intention of strategic cooperation and investment.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables of the Group increased by I1.0% from RMBI37.6 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB152.7 million as of December 31, 2024, while trade
payables turnover days decreased from |3 days in the previous year to || days
during the Reporting Period. The slight increase in trade payables was mainly due
to the increase in payables for purchase of packaging materials as sales business

increased.

Other payables of the Group decreased by 3.6% from RMB104.3 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMBI100.5 million as of December 31, 2024, indicating a

relatively small amplitude of fluctuation and remained stable.

Contract Liabilities

Our contract liabilities were short-term receipts in advance from customers. All
of the contract liabilities are expected to be recognized as revenue within one
year. Contract liabilities of the Group increased by 198.5% from RMBI13.6 million
as of December 31, 2023 to RMB40.6 million as of December 31, 2024, mainly
due to the fact that December 31, 2024 is close to the Spring Festival of the
following vyear, leading to an increase in product demand from some advance-
payment customers in the early Spring Festival, and thereby resulting in a rise in

short-term prepayments.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash on Hand and at Bank

Cash on hand and at bank of the Group decreased by 51.1% from RMBI,457.2
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB713.0 million as of December 31, 2024,
mainly due to the Group’s payment for various investing activities in 2024 and

repayment of partial bank loans.

EEENWED T

UARBENAEEHEZSTAENBENEREE

R2024F 128318 » XEEFBENURAAEBENEE
HEH T AEHEENEREESARBGISIEET
EYE EMARMNBRERE - BREEAERKE -

ESREMENRE

AEENEZENFBEREZ2023F12A3IBHAR
B 1376 &M 1.0%EE E2024F 12 A31HHA
R¥EI52788T - BIRENFBRABREX LFED
BRBLEREHAN 1K - B S ENZBIEEE N
TERRBEHEERLN  ENREMRRERES
Frsgan o

AREBHNEMEMFIBEBREE2023F12A3IHHAR
¥I043BEBTLRP3HEEE2024F 2A3IHHAR
¥1005BETT - BHRER) - RIEFEE -

BHER

BMMENABEEZEATPNENERNIE - 1A
EHBBEEAERN —FABRAARE - AEENE
HBEEHEE20FI2A3IBNAREI36AE T
n19ss% - EEE2024F 12 A3 HMARKE406EE
JCc EBHRM202445 12 A3 BB EE X FEE R EE
I BOERELPEEDAAEERT RGN - KE
TE RGN -

RBEEREXER
FRERBITRS

REBOFHERBITREAEE2023F12A31BHA
R¥ 1457288 TR PS5 I%EHE2024F 12831 B
WARKB7IZ0EET  FZHRAEET2024FE X
NEBEREEHTH - WEEBDSRITER o

TEEAEERGERAT FEHE2024 27



EENWEDN

Bank Loans

Bank loans of the Group decreased by 36.2% from RMBI,0ll.l million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB645.5 million as of December 31, 2024, mainly due
to the Group’s healthy operating cash flow in 2024, with the amount of loan

repayments exceeding new borrowings.

Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2024, gearing ratio of the Group (total liabilities/total assets)
reached 23.0%, which was lower than gearing ratio of 28.5% as at December 31,
2023, mainly attributable to the Group's 2024 operating results of a net profit

and the Group's lower level of debt.

Financial Risks

We have adopted risk management program to focus on minimizing potential
adverse effects of the unpredictability of financial markets as we are exposed
to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,

currency risk and fair value measurement risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. As of December 31, 2024,
our Group's credit risk was primarily attributable to trade receivables. Our
Group'’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and
bills receivables is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit standing, for which our Group is considered to have
low credit risk. Our Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose

our Group to credit risk.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity Risk

The treasury function is centrally managed by our Group, which includes the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of funds to cover
expected cash demands. Our Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions and investors to meet its liquidity requirements in

the short and long term.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Our Group's
interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings issued at
variable rates and at fixed rates, which expose our Group to cash flow interest

rate risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively.

Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily from cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily USD and HK$.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent

liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
RMB64.4 million (as at December 31, 2023: RMB97.5 million), mainly used for

purchase and construction of buildings, machinery and equipment.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group's capital expenditure
amounted to approximately RMB216.9 million (for the year ended December
31, 2023: RMB257.5 million), mainly used for purchase of property, plant and

equipment and land-use-rights.
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PLEDGED ASSETS

As at December 31, 2024, the aggregate carrying value of the property, plant and
equipment and land-use-rights pledged for the Group's bank loans was RMB338.7
million (as at December 31, 2023: RMB434.3 million).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

In accordance with Paragraph 32(4A) of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules, details
of significant investments measured at FVPL with a value accounting for 5% or

more of the Group's total assets as at December 31, 2024 are set out below:

Company Name (Stock Code)
HE AR BB (REAR)

lanagement Discussion and Analysis

BEERR

MR2024F 128318 AEBRRFITEREGIHFOY
¥ BEASBLIMWERENEALREAARE
3387 EBIL(R2023F 12831 H : ARM43438 &
JT) °

EARE  -EAUREBERHESR

WFLWRHIJM#%%DZ%QHA)EX /N

HBEBEN2024F 12831 BIEAREE
FHERREFBHIWOT

REEF AR
14 EE 5% A

Migao Group Holdings Limited (09879.HK)
KRS EEER AR A 7 (09879.HK)

Date of Investment

®ERH

Principal Activities

EENCIE S

Number of shares of relevant company held by the Group
AEEFEHBARKROEHE

Shareholding ratio of the Group in relevant company
REEFFHEBERRRMNEL

Initial capital contribution from the Group (RMB'000)
REBNHRKRESR(TTARE)

Changes in fair value recognized during the Reporting Period (RMB'000)
RREHARNERORABEES(TTARE)

Dividends received during the Reporting Period (RMB'000)
RREHARRBBE (TTARE)

Fair value as at December 31, 2024 (RMB'000)

R20245F 12 A3 BN AR BE(TTARE)

Proportion of fair value as at December 31, 2024 to the Group's total assets

R2024F 12 A3 BARBEMAEBEEELLD

The fair value of listed equity investments is determined based on the quoted

market bid price (Level |: quoted price in active markets).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group's investment objectives primarily revolve around the pursuit of
strategic collaborations with both upstream and downstream enterprises,
thereby instilling greater impetus for stable operation and growth in the future.
The Group holds positive views towards the future prospect of the principal
activities involved in the above equity investments and deems its investments
therein to possess strategic investment value. The Board did not alter the Group's

investment strategy due to short-term market volatilities.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing
Rules) of the Group’s listed equity investments are both less than 5%, such
investments did not constitute notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above, the Group neither had any significant
investments held, nor any material acquisition or disposal of any relevant

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save for the “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” disclosed in the Prospectus, the
Group did not have any existing plan for acquiring other material investments or

capital assets during the Reporting Period and as of the date of this report.
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lographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

£ EEREREEBEAERERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Bing (E££), aged 49, is the Co-founder, an executive Director, the

Chairman of the Board and the General Manager of the Company.

Mr. Wang founded the Company in May 2018 and was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board and a Director of the Company in August 2020. He
was appointed as the General Manager of the Company in December 2022.
Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in the pantry staple food industry.
Mr. Wang entered into the pantry staple food industry in June 2005 when
he was responsible for grain procurement at Shenyang Xinchang, serving as a
procurement manager from June 2005 to September 201 |, an operation director
from October 2011 to December 2018 and the chairman of the board since
December 2018. In January 2013, he founded Beijing Heyulongsheng Trade Co,,
Ltd. L REWERE S BBRAA]), which was de-registered in August 2021,
and served as its manager from January 2013 to August 2021. Mr. Wang has
also been a supervisor of Wuchang Caigiao since April 2015. Mr. Wang has also
served as an executive director of Shiyue Jinfeng since July 2020. Mr. Wang is the
spouse of Ms. Zhao, the brother-in-law of Ms. Zhao Shulan and the uncle of Mr.
Shu Minghe.

Mr. Wang graduated from Shenyang Chemical Industrial School in rubber
technology in Liaoning Province, the PRC, in July 1998. Mr. Wang is currently
studying at the Finance CEQ Pioneer Program in Tsinghua University (/& 2= A £2)
in Beijing, the PRC.

Ms. Zhao Wenjun (Eﬁj{%’) aged 45, is the Co-founder, an executive Director,
Deputy General Manager and Chief Marketing Officer of the Company.

Ms. Zhao was appointed as a Director in August 2020 and the Deputy General
Manager and the Chief Marketing Officer in December 2022. She served as the
General Manager of the Company from May 2019 to December 2022. Ms. Zhao
has over 20 years of experience in the pantry staple food industry. Ms. Zhao
entered into the pantry staple food industry in June 2005 when she served as
a sales manager of Shenyang Xinchang from June 2005 to September 2011, a
marketing director from October 201 | to December 2018 and a director since
December 2018. She has also served as a supervisor of Shiyue Jinfeng since July
2020. Ms. Zhao is the spouse of Mr. Wang, the sister of Ms. Zhao Shulan and the
aunt of Mr. Shu Minghe.
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
EE  EEReNEBEARERE

Ms. Zhao graduated from Shenyang Chemical Industrial School in chemical trade

economics in Liaoning Province, the PRC, in July 2000.

Ms. Zhao Shulan (E83#B), aged 47, is an executive Director. She was appointed
as a Director of the Company from the date of its establishment to May 2019
and re-appointed as a Director of the Company from August 2020. She has
over |0 years of experience in the pantry staple food industry. In January 2013,
she joined Beijing Heyulongsheng Trade Co., Ltd. At R BEHEXEZE ZHRA
A]), which was de-registered in August 2021, and has served as the executive
director and general manager of Wuchang Caigiao since April 2015, the legal
representative of Shenyang Xinchang from November 2017 to December 2018,
a director of Shenyang Xinchang since November 2017. She also served as a
director and the general manager of Shiyue Daotian (Wuchang City) Food Co,
Ltd,, formerly known as Shiyue Daotian (Wuchang City) Plantation Co,, Ltd. (+ A
EHAHM)EZEAR AR, since June 2021, a supervisor of Tonghe County
Caigiao Rice Co,, Ltd. since September 2021, and a director and the general
manager of Wuchang City Qiuman Agriculture Co,, Ltd. since September 2022.
Ms. Zhao Shulan is the sister-in-law of Mr. Wang, the sister of Ms. Zhao and the
aunt of Mr. Shu Minghe.

Ms. Zhao Shulan graduated from School of Continuing Education of Harbin
Institute of Technology (Y¥ERE L3 AZ) in Heilongjiang Province, the PRC, in
April 2018. She was awarded as an Agricultural Products E-commerce Pioneer
by Department of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of Heilongjiang Province (F23E
TERERNEREREEAT) and a Model Worker of the 37th session of
Harbin ("GER/ET 5537/E 55 E)IEED) in 2019, and an Excellent Leader of Rural
Industry Development in Wuchang City (RS TN EZZEREFHIEA) in
2021. Ms. Zhao Shulan has also been elected as the representative of the |6th
People’s Congress of Harbin from January 2022.

Mr. Shu Minghe (EFBAE), aged 35, is an executive Director. He was appointed
as a Director of the Company in August 2020, and has over |0 years of
experience in the pantry staple food industry. In January 2013, he joined Beijing
Heyulongsheng Trade Co, Ltd. Gt RERIERE 5 AR A F]), which was de-
registered in August 2021, and served as a director and the general manager of
Shenyang Xinchang since December 2018, and an executive director and the
manager of Shiyue Daotian (Aohangi) Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. since
December 2020. In addition, he served as a director of Shiyue Daotian Songyuan
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. from April 2021 to May 2022. He has also
been serving as a director and the manager of Sukuaibang Shenyang Supply Chain
Technology Co., Ltd. since June 2021, and a director of Tonghe County Caigiao
Rice Co., Ltd. since September 2021. Mr. Shu Minghe is the nephew of Mr.
Wang, the nephew of Ms. Zhao and the nephew of Ms. Zhao Shulan.
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Mr. Shu Minghe graduated from the Open University of China (B %R 5B ER)
in Administrate Management in Beijing, the PRC, in July 2021.

Mr. Zou Hao (B2R), aged 45, is an executive Director. He has joined our
Group since August 2022 and was appointed as a Director and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company in December 2022. Mr. Zou has over 20
years of experience in financing, investment, management and operation of
assets management companies and other matters relating to corporate finance
and investment. Before joining the Group, Mr. Zou served as an accountant at
KPMG Huazhen LLP (5 BERGEHAIELSFT) from 2002 to 2005. From
2005 to 2011, Mr. Zou successively served as an analyst at the Beijing office of
Investment Banking Department of Deutsche Bank AG, an associate at BOC
International Asia Limited (FFEREIBRIZARBBR/AA]) and an associate at the
Hong Kong office of Investment Banking Department of Deutsche Bank AG.
From March 2011 to February 2016, Mr. Zou consecutively held a series of
positions in ICBC International Holdings Limited (T iR BIFRIERRBR A 7)),
including vice president and executive director. He worked as a managing director
of Zhongrong International Capital Management Limited (P BB EAREEH
FR A 7)) from February 2016 to January 2017, and the chief executive officer of
Hwabao WP Asset Management (Hong Kong) Co, Ltd. (EBEEEER(ED)
BR2AA]) from July 2017 to June 2019. From December 2019 to March 2021,
Mr. Zou served as the co-president, chief financial officer, board secretary and
a joint company secretary of Sichuan Languang Justbon Services Group Co,, Ltd.
(formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2606) and
delisted on August 19, 2021 due to unconditional mandatory cash offer takeover).
Subsequent to that, Mr. Zou served as the chief financial officer of Shanghai
Sunrise Equity Investment Fund Management Co,, Ltd. (E/8RIBIIEIREE S
EIEBPR AR from September 2021 to August 2022.

Mr. Zou received his bachelor’s degree in Economic Information Management
from Renmin University of China (FFIBIARARZ) in Beijing the PRC, in July
2002 and his MBA degree from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in Hong Kong in November 2008. Mr. Zou became a chartered
financial analyst charterholder of the CFA Institute since October 2017.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Chang Bin (¥3E), aged 44, is a non-executive Director. He has been a
Director of the Company since August 2020. Mr. Chang served as a senior
consuttant of Deloitte Enterprise Consutting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Beijing branch ({2
FEFZA(ESBRARILRDAE]) from October 2004 to September
2006, a principal of Capital Today China Growth (HK) Limited (% B &N (&
B)BBRAR]), from September 2006 to October 2013, and a vice president of
Beijing Jingdong Century Trading Co., Ltd. JE Rt 42 & S HBR A A]) from
November 2013 to May 2020. He is the founder and has been serving as the
managing partner of GenBridge Capital since December 2016.

Mr. Chang received his bachelor’'s degree in international trade from Peking
University (36 X R2) in Beijing, the PRC, in July 2002. He holds the fund
qualification from Asset Management Association of China (FEIZEHIEEE®
W) since July 2018.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Ketong (%5 38), aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in March 2023, effective from the Listing Date. Mr. Shi is
a senior partner of the Beijing office of Jincheng & Tongda Law Offices (&3
[ ERIEHAT) where he has been a full-time lawyer since 1994 and has
accumulated over 30 years of experience in providing legal services to clients on
PRC corporate investment, stock issuance and listing, mergers and acquisitions,
restructuring and liquidation. Prior to joining Jincheng & Tongda Law Offices, he
practised law at King & Capital Law Firm (FR&PZAIZIEEN) in Beijing from 2000
to 2001 and at Shandong Luzhong Law Offices (Ll S &R ERIEMSAN). Mr. Shi
has also been a director of Beijing Legal Aid Foundation since August 2018.
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He has been serving as a director of Beijing Infrastructure Investment Co, Ltd.
LR EMRIERE B MR A F]) since October 2023, an independent director
of Bohai Industrial Investment Fund (ZNEEXNEESEERFR AT since
November 2016, an independent director of Aimer Co. Ltd. (BRRMNH AR
A 7)), a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 60351 1) since
January 2020, and an independent director of Guotou Taikang Trust Co., Ltd.
(B ZREIEFEBMR A A)) since December 2021. Mr. Shi served as a director
of Beijing Public Transport Holdings (Group) Ltd. (3t AR BITZ (S H)
BPBRAF]) from February 2015 to September 2023, an independent non-
executive director of China Zhongwang Holdings Limited, the shares of which
were formerly listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1333) and were delisted
on April 13,2023, from August 2008 to October 2021, an independent director
of UBS SDIC Fund Management Co, Ltd. (BEl#&IntREESEIZ AR AF]) from
April 2012 to April 2021, a director of Shandong Hongcheng Bond Financial
Leasing Co, Ltd. (LR REHERMEREHBR AT from January 2014 to
November 2018, an independent director of Whole Easy Internet Technology
Co, ltd. (RIEE R B R A F]) (previously known as Kunshan Jinli
Surface Material Application Technology Co., Ltd. (B L& FIREM £ &R
B2 AR (9 B BR A 7)), whose shares were formerly listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and delisted on June 28, 2022 (stock code: 002464) from June
2015 to September 2019, an independent director of Chongging Broadcasting
Digital Medial Co, Ltd. (EEEEEFEERMNBERAF]) from December
2015 to November 2019, and an independent director of Zhongrun Resources
Investment Incorporated Company (F/EERIZERMNDABRRAF]), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000506) from September
2020 to December 2021.

Mr. Shi received a bachelor’s degree in economic law from China University
of Political Science and Law (FEIBUAKER), China in 1992, He received the
Lawyer’s Practise License from Department of Justice in Shandong (LI 5% &))<EZ)
in 1994.
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Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (#37&3E), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in March 2023, effective from the Listing Date. Mr. Yeung
has over 30 years of experience in audit, financing and accounting industries.
Mr. Yeung currently is the president (2022-2023) and an executive council
member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-executive Director Association.
He worked at a major international accounting firm for over 10 years and then
worked for various Hong Kong listed companies as the vice president, the chief
financial officer, the financial controller and/or the company secretary. He is an
independent non-executive director of Sitoy Group Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1023), ZO Future Group (formerly
known as Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2309), ImmuneOnco Biopharmaceuticals (Shanghai) Inc., a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:|541), Sichuan Baicha Baidao
Industrial Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2555)
and Lingbao Gold Group Company Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3330).

Mr. Yeung served as an independent non-executive director of ANTA Sports
Products Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2020),
from February 2007 to June 2018, Boer Power Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:l685), from September 2010 to June
2020, Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited (formerly
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1296) and delisted on May 30, 2022)
from August 2017 to June 2022, as an independent director of New Hope
Dairy Holdings Co., Ltd. (¥1% L3N BEMR A E]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002946), from December 2016 to May
2023, and as an independent non-executive director of Beijing Capital Grand
Limited (formerly listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1329) and delisted
on January 27, 2025) from May 2023 to February 2025.

Mr. Yeung holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from The
University of Hong Kong in 1993 and a master’s degree in Professional
Accounting with distinction from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2004.
He has been a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
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Mr. Lin Chen (#K/&), aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in March 2023, effective from the Listing Date. Mr. Lin has served as an
independent director of CNCB (Hong Kong) Investment Limited since January
2022, China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited (the manager of
China Merchants Commercial REIT, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1503)) since December 2019, Allianz Global Investors Fund Management
Co, Ltd. since September 2023, Beijing 51World Digital Twin Technology Co.,
Ltd. since September 2024, Artificial Intelligent Interconnection Technology Co.,
Ltd. since December 2024 and Waterdrop Inc. (a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange, U.S, stock code: WDH) since March 2025. Mr. Lin has
been the Chair of Finance, Stelux Professor in Finance (since August 2013), and

Associate Vice President (since January 2023) of The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in Engineering from the South China
University of Technology (Z2FF32 T A28 in Guangdong, the PRC, in July 2000
and an MBA in May 2004, MA. in August 2005 and Ph.D. in August 2006 from
University of Florida in Florida, the United States. He is an advisory member of
the Hong Kong Institute for Monetary and Financial Research of the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority since 2019, a member of the Hang Seng Index Advisory
Committee and a member of the Fintech Advisory Group of Hong Kong SFC
since 2021, a Member of the Academia Europaea since 2022, a Fellow of the
Academy of Social Sciences, UK since 2023, a non-official member of the Task
Force on Promoting Web3 Development of the Government of Hong Kong
since July 2023 and a member of the Central Bank Digital Currency Expert
Group of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority since October 2023. Mr. Lin also
served as a member of the Currency Board Sub-Committee of the Exchange

Fund Advisory Committee of Hong Kong from 2016 to 2022.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Mr. He Yang (fil3¥), aged 41, has been a Supervisor since December 2022.
Mr. He joined our Group in September 2020, serving as the director of Human
Resources Department of the Company since then. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. He served as a Human Resources director of meat product and farming
department and a director of Human Resources Business Partner at COFCO
Joycome Foods Limited (formerly known as COFCO Meat Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1610) from August 2009 to
December 2017. He served as a manager of Human Resources Department and
assistant manager of consumer product department at COFCO Tunhe Tomato
Co, Ltd. (FrEHE A FE A B PR A F]) from January 2018 to September 2020.
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Mr. He received his bachelor's degree in Human Resources Management from
Northeast Normal University (SR1LAT&IAE2) in Jilin Province, the PRC, in
September 2007 and his master’s degree in Human Resources Management from
Remin University of China in Beijing, the PRC, in June 2009. He holds the title
of a senior human resources manager from Ministry of Human Resources and
Social Security of the PRC (1 A R MBIt &{RFEHS) in September 2014,
an intermediate economist from Beijing Municipal Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau (At AN ERFEERER) in April 2015, and a certified
management accountant of Institute of Management Accountant of the United

States in September 2019.

Mr. Li Xiang (Z=£), aged 35, has been a Supervisor of the Company since
December 2022. Mr. Li joined our Group in May 2020, serving as a supermarket
operation director since then. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li worked in Beijing
Carrefour (Fangyuan Store) Commercial Co., Ltd. (Jt REREEEEBRAF
FIEJE) from August 2012 to November 2013. He worked in Beijing Carrefour
Commercial Co., Ltd. (At RFKLEEE EBMR A A from December 2013 to
April 2015, and in Carrefour (China) Management Consulting Services Co.,, Ltd.
Beijing Branch (4448 (Hh BI) E BRI AR A BlE R A F]) from May
2015 to May 2017, a procurement manager in Beijing Jingdong Century Trading
Co,, Ltd. from June 2017 to July 2019, and an operation manager of e-commerce
platform in Guangdong Beyond Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (BERA R A34&H}
AR AE]) from August 2019 to January 2020.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in software engineering from Beijing
University of Chemical Technology North College (At F 1t T KZ4E 75 £0t) in
Beijing, the PRC, in July 2012.

Ms. Wang Zhijuan (E&B), aged 41, has been a Supervisor since December
2022. Ms. Wang served as an accountant at Beijing Shenglong Trade Co., Ltd.
GEREEREBREMAT]) from June 2007 to November 2009 and an
accountant at Symfun Telecom Co, Ltd. (AL RAENBEFMNHZEERET
~al) from November 2009 to May 201 1. She worked at Guangdong Dayipin
Agriculture Technology Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch (B A—mAEERFEERA
AL DA R]) from October 2011 to November 2014. She also served as a
finance accountant at Beijing Magic Universe Network Co, Ltd. (bR 48 2
RABAERAF]) from December 2014 to January 2015, a finance manager
at Sanhe WODA Hydraulics Control System Ltd. (= A JK 2 & BR{Z §I| R 4%
B A7) from March 2016 to December 2016, a finance manager at Beijing
Heyulongsheng Trade Co., Ltd. (St REWERE HBEMR A F]) from January
2017 to April 2021, an accountant manager from May 2021 to July 2021 and an
administrative director since August 2021 of Shiyue Daotian (Beijing) Technology
Development Co,, Ltd.
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Ms. Wang received her bachelor’s degree in economics from Southwest
University (FEFBAZ2) in Chongging, the PRC, in June 2007. She holds the title
of intermediate accountant from Beijing Human Resources and Social Security

Bureau since January 2016.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Bing (£ %) is our General Manager. For the biographical details of Mr.

Wang, see “—Directors — Executive Directors”.

Ms. Zhao Wenjun (X %) is the Deputy General Manager and Chief Marketing
Officer of the Company. For the biographical details of Ms. Zhao, see “—

Directors — Executive Directors”.

Mr. Zou Hao (82) is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. For the

biographical details of Mr. Zou Hao, see “— Directors — Executive Directors”.

Ms. Chen Hua (BREE), aged 47, is the board secretary since December 2022 and
a joint company secretary of the Company. Ms. Chen is responsible for corporate
governance, information disclosure and investor relationship management of our
Group. She served as a director of Shenyang Xinchang since December 2018 and
the finance manager of Shiyue Daotian (Beijing) Technology Development Co.,
Ltd. since April 2021. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Chen served as accountant
at Beijing Shenglong Trade Co., Ltd. from August 2001 to June 2009, worked
as the finance manager of Apollo Technology Trade (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (FI4A&E
B At R)EBRAF]) from June 2012 to June 2017 and served as the finance
manager of Beijing Junsheng Xinyue Trade Co., Ltd. AL IRE BRI E S ER A F])
from September 2017 to May 2020.

Ms. Chen received a college diploma in marketing from Dalian Jiaotong University
(RERFARE) (formerly known as Dalian Railway College (ARiE#iEZFr))
in Liaoning Province, the PRC, in July 1999 and received her bachelor's diploma
in accounting from Northeast Finance University (BRALBIAZAER) in Liaoning
Province, the PRC, in 2004. She holds the title of an intermediate accountant
from Beijing Municipal Human Resources and social security bureau in 2005, a
tax agent from Beijing Certified Tax Agents Association (3t R aEME: #5AM 17
) in 2016, a certified management accountant from Institute of Management
Accountants of the United States in 2022, and was the title of Senior Accountant

by the Beijing Municipal Human Resources and Social Security Pureau in 2024.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Chen Hua (PRZE) is the board secretary and a joint company secretary
of the Company. For the biographical details of Ms. Chen Hua, see "~ Senior

Management”.

Ms. Oh Sim Yee (#f&#) is a joint company secretary of the Company. Ms. Oh
is an assistant manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited
and has over ten years of experiences in corporate secretarial field. She has been
an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom since 2017.
Besides, she holds a bachelor of Business degree in accounting from Victoria

University, Australia.

CHANGE IN BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any changes in the
information of its Directors, Supervisors and senior management during the
Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date that need to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

We have regarded “being committed to providing Chinese consumers with
healthy, quality and safe pantry food” as our mission, and have infiltrated this
culture into our services to external customers and the training of internal
employees, while practicing the values of “customer primacy”, “teamwork”,
“integrity and dedication”, and “innovative exploration” in daily operation. In virtue
of increasingly improved service quality and operational efficiency, we endeavor
to satisfy consumers’ demands with a rich variety of product categories, aiming to

realize the vision of “building a valuable and influential food brand in China”.

We are committed to promoting standardization, quality and branding throughout
the pantry staple food industry. We aim to create sustainable value and promote
positive energy by demonstrating our commitment to our employees, customers,

partners and society.

For further information of the Company's corporate culture, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report published together with
this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

We are committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance which is
crucial to our development and safeguard the interests of our Shareholders. The
Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
as the basis of the Company's corporate governance practices since the Listing

Date.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code, except for
the deviation from code provision C.2.1, which is further illustrated in the section
headed “Chairman and General Manager” below. The Board will continue to
review and monitor the Corporate Governance Code practices of the Company

with an aim of maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.
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THE BOARD

Composition of the Board

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Board consists of nine Directors, comprising
five executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. All Directors are elected by the general meeting for a term
of three years which is renewable upon re-election. The current members of the

Board of the Company are listed as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Bing (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Ms. Zhao Wenjun

Ms. Zhao Shulan

Mr. Shu Minghe

Mr. Zou Hao

Non-executive Director

Mr. Chang Bin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Ketong
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat
Mr. Lin Chen

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed "Biographical
Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this report. Save
as disclosed in the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management” of this report, there are no financial, business, family, or

other material or relevant relationships among members of the Board.
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Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company, oversees
the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic decisions, maintains the
effectiveness of the Company's risk management and internal control systems,

and monitors the performance of the Company.

The major powers and functions of the Board include, but are not limited to,
convening the general meetings, presenting reports to the general meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at the general meetings, determining the
operational plans and investment plans of the Group, developing the annual
financial budgets and final accounts of the Group, establishing the fundamental
management systems of the Group, formulating profit distribution plans and
loss recovery plans of the Group, and exercising other powers and functions as
conferred by the Articles of Association. Our senior management is responsible
for the management of day-to-day operations of the Group, including but not
limited to implementing strategies and instructions determined by the Board,
organizing and coordinating the work among various departments and teams of

the Company.

Chairman of the Board and General Manager

Pursuant to code provision C.2.| of Part Il of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and general manager should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. However, the Company does not have
a separate role of chairman and general manager and the responsibilities of
chairman and general manager are both undertaken by Mr. Wang. The Board
believes that having the same person assume the responsibilities of chairman and
general manager is conducive to ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
and making the Group's overall strategic planning more effective and efficient. In
addition, since there are three independent non-executive Directors among the
nine Directors in total of the Board, there will be sufficient independent voices in
the Board to protect the interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.
The Board considers that the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will enable the Company to
make and implement decisions promptly and effectively. The Board will continue
to review and monitor the corporate governance code practices of the Company

with an aim of maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision A2.1

of the Corporate Governance Code, which include:

(@)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate

governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on compliance

with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company's compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix C| to the Listing Rules and disclosure in the

corporate governance report.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are

independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years following his/her respective appointment date
unless it is terminated in accordance with their respective terms, and are eligible

to offer themselves for re-election upon expiry of term.
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Training and Professional Development

Pursuant to the code provision C.I1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their unceasing contribution

to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director of the Company has received a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction training on his/her first appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing

Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

To help the Directors develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, various
training and lectures would be arranged at regular intervals, and the Directors
would be provided with relevant laws, rules and regulations and amendments
to or latest versions of the Listing Rules to keep them informed of the latest
development. During the Reporting Period, all of the Directors have participated
in training courses or reading materials on corporate governance and related
topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and provided relevant

records of training to the Company.

Directors
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ERETHREFRR  -NBREHA - 2HEFC2H
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Type of Training (Note)
sE R (Hrat)

Executive Directors
HITEE

Mr. Wang Bing
ITREE

Ms. Zhao Wenjun
HXYEZ L+
Ms. Zhao Shulan
BB 2
Mr. Shu Minghe
FFERAELE
Mr. Zou Hao
BRFEHE

Non-executive Director
FHITEF

Mr. Chang Bin
it
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Directors Type of Training (Note)

= BB (Hat)

Independent non-executive Directors

BIHHTEF

Mr. Shi Ketong a, b, c

SRmELE

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat abc

HEERE

Mr. Lin Chen a b, c

MEEE

Notes: MsE

a Training provided by law firm a‘: A=A R R

b: Internal training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums b: REBIFINR, HEBERREER KwE

c Reading study materials regarding Directors’ duties and responsibilities and/or the c: MEREERERECR AEFEEERRTER

latest corporate governance requirements 2B MK
Directors and Supervisors’ Securities Transactions ESRESETNESRS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code of conduct regarding AR FIEHRMNZETEMEAESRETETELRS
securities transactions by the Directors and Supervisors. Having made specific ~ BJSFRI| o &LMFABEEERNEEELIIFEEN © HER
enquiries with all Directors and Supervisors, each of them has confirmed that — FRE(ZE2024F 12431 H - FE D ETIEESTR -

they have complied with the Model Code during the year ended December 31,

2024.
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Independent Views and Opinions

The Board has established relevant mechanisms to ensure that the Board obtains
independent views and opinions. According to the provisions of the Articles of
Association, there are three independent Directors on the Board where, among
the members, at least one third of them shall be independent Directors, including
at least one member who is an accounting professional. Apart from the regular
Board meetings, the Chairman holds a meeting with the independent non-

executive Directors, without the presence of other Directors once a year.

Our Articles of Association and the terms of reference of each Board Committee
are stipulated in written form to ensure that independent non-executive
Directors remain independent and feel free to express their opinions, and that
their opinions are systematically considered by the Board. The executive Directors
and the Chairman also communicate directly with the independent non-executive
Directors on a regular basis to obtain independent views and opinions on a broad

range of matters.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the aforesaid relevant
regulations, and the aforesaid mechanisms are effective to provide independent
views and opinions to the Board. The Board will review the implementation and

effectiveness of the aforesaid mechanisms annually.

Board Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and Shareholders’ General

Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at least
four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with the
Corporate Governance Code. Notices of no less than fourteen days are given for
all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend

and discuss matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying Board documents are dispatched
to the Directors or Board Committee members at least three days before
the meetings to ensure that all Directors have full and timely access to any
information from senior management to enable them to make informed decisions

and discharge their duties and responsibilities.
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TERERERE
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the attendance records of each Director ~ B{ZE2024F 12 A3IHILFE - SEEHRNEFTESH -
at the Board meetings, committee meetings and general meetings are set out as & B @ 2 MR KM H B ek T ¢

follows:
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HEEEAE

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEnE Exg HEXERET FMESEE REZET BRERAE
Executive Directors
HITEF
Mr. Wang Bing 717 N/A 212 11 11
EREE
Ms. Zhao Wenjun 717 N/A N/A N/A I/
WXELL
Ms. Zhao Shulan 717 N/A N/A N/A 1/
HRE 2+
Mr. Shu Minghe 717 N/A N/A N/A 1/
FABSLLE
Mr. Zou Hao 717 N/A N/A N/A I/
FREE
Non-executive Director
IHITEE
Mr. Chang Bin 717 3/3 N/A N/A 1/
WL
Independent non-executive Directors
B IFHITEE
Mr. Shi Ketong 717 3/3 212 11 1/
SRBELE
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat 717 3/3 22 N/A 1/
BEELRE
Mr. Lin Chen 717 N/A N/A 1/ 1/
MEREE
Board Committees EEZEE

The Company has established three Board Committees, namely the Audit ARBEKL=HESEZES @ IERZES - H
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Al ZEB@RIZEXREE G - MAEFEZERHETTHEE
Board Committees are established with specific written terms of reference which ~ BiE#[E - LABEZERLEBE - E%ZEg - Hi
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit ZEGRIERLZE MR E S H N AR A4 &
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are published SR FrAEYE - WA EAR R B R EER] o

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are available to the

Shareholders upon request.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chang
Bin, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Shi Ketong and
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. Mr. Yeung serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

0) Advise the Board on the appointment, re-appointment, replacement and
removal of external auditors, approve the remuneration and terms of
employment of external auditors, and address any issues relating to the

resignation or dismissal of external auditors;

(i) Review and monitor whether the external auditors are independent and
objective and whether the audit procedures are effective according to
applicable standards; the Audit Committee should discuss with the auditors
about the nature, scope, methods and relevant declaration responsibilities

before the audit work begins;

(i) Formulate and implement policies regarding the engagement of external

auditors to provide non-audit services;

(iv)  Review and monitor the truthfulness, completeness and accuracy of the
Company's financial statements (including their disclosures), annual reports
and accounts and interim reports, and review the material opinions on the

relevant financial reporting contained in the statements and reports;

(v)  Examine the Company's financial policies, financial supervision and control,
internal audit system, risk management and internal control systems, and

provide opinions and suggestions for improvement;

(viy  Serve as the primary representative between the Company and the

external auditors to monitor their relationship; and

(vii)  Matters as required by applicable laws, regulations, the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules and other matters authorized by the

Board of the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings to discuss

and review the following matters:

. the annual results and annual report for the year ended December 31,
2023;

. Unaudited interim results of the Group for the six months ended June 30,
2024

. effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and internal control

systems for the year ended December 31, 2024;

. scope of audit work and reporting responsibilities of the external auditors;
and
. whether the external auditors are independent and objective and the audit

procedures are effective according to applicable standards.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the 2024 annual results and annual report of
the Company, as well as the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2024 prepared in accordance with the IFRS Accounting
Standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee met the external and internal

auditors once, respectively, without the presence of the executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, namely Mr.
Wang, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Shi Ketong
and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. Mr. Shi serves as the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

0) Formulate remuneration plans or proposals based on the main duties,
scope, importance, time commitment of the positions of Directors and
senior management officers and other necessary factors such as the
remuneration level of relevant positions in society. Remuneration plans or
proposals mainly include, but are not limited to, performance evaluation
standards, procedures and primary evaluation systems, major plans and
systems for rewards and punishments, etc., and should include non-
monetary benefits, pension rights and compensation amounts (including

compensation for loss or termination of office or appointment);

SREARE

RBEDRHE - ERZEERTTZREE - UilHm Rk
ERATEE

. HE203FNA3IHIEFEE£ERFERS ¢

. HE2024F 6 A308 IE /A B AL B ARKEFEZF
HiZEAE
. HZE2024F 2R3 BIEFERREIE KRN IE

HRSENARERTRIE ;

« HMEREFTRIMER TERBREREME K

REAMNIZE - INBEADZ
AREFEREM -

BELEENE

ERZE D BHARR04FNFEERERFER
& RIRBERM KRS S ERRRNE E20245F 12
H3IBILFENERAAHFHBTRE ©

RBERR  BRZESENATESTHESNERLT
7 RIEINE R A AN G — R -

FMEES

¥z Eedh SRR TEEENEEE) RMABBILIE
HITEFALRBEERGEELLE) - LEERH
MWEZE2XR - FHZESGNIEREMNT ¢

() REEFRSREBRAESEUNTERE &
BB RARBIA RS LA
MK FERMB BRI EHFMAEHTER

HHEI A REEBEBTIRNEUTER
£ BFREITEFAERR  RPNBINEE
FERMEES  TERBEHFSEMNS - BARS
RMEFECE(BERRAR BB AR EDN
e )

TEEAEERGERAT FEHE2024 51



i

Az

(i

(ii)

(v)

)

()

(vi)

(vii)

()

&

52

Make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management officers;

Make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-

executive Directors;

Consider the remuneration paid by similar companies, the time
commitment and responsibilities as well as the employment conditions of

other positions within the Group;

Study the evaluation standards for Directors and senior management
officers and make recommendations to the Board, review the performance
of duties by the Company's Directors (non-independent non-executive
Directors) and senior management officers and conduct their annual

performance appraisals;

Review and approve compensation payable to the executive Directors
and senior management officers for loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that such compensation is consistent with the
terms of the contract; if not consistent with the terms of the contract,

such compensation must be fair and reasonable and not excessive;

Review and approve the compensation arrangements involved in the
dismissal or removal of Directors due to misconduct to ensure that
such arrangements are consistent with the terms of the contract; if not
consistent with the terms of the contract, such compensation must be

reasonable and appropriate;

Ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in the

determination of his/her own remuneration;
Responsible for supervising the implementation of the Company’s
remuneration rules and review the relevant remuneration policies on a

regular basis; and

Review and/or approve matters related to share schemes as described in

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings

to discuss and consider the following matters:

. recommendations to the Board on the remuneration plan for Directors
and senior management respectively for the year ended December 31,
2024.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely Mr.
Wang, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Shi Ketong
and Mr. Lin Chen. Mr. Wang currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination

Committee. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

0) Evaluate and review the size and composition of the Board (including
skills, knowledge and experience) at least once a year based on the
Company's operating activities, asset size and equity structure, and make
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board in

line with the Company’s strategies;

(i) Formulate the Company's corporate governance policies and practices,

review their implementation, and make recommendations to the Board;

(i) Study the selection criteria and procedures for Directors, general manager
and other senior management officers and make recommendations, inspect
and supervise the training and continuing professional development plans

for Directors and senior management officers;

(iv)  Select qualified candidates for Directors, general manager and other senior

management officers;

(v)  Review and make recommendations on Director candidates and candidates

for general manager and other senior management officers;

(vi)  Review the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(vii)  Make recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular, the Chairman of the Board), general manager and other senior

management officers;
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(viii)  Formulate and maintain a policy on Board diversity, and conduct regular
reviews, and disclose such policy or the summary of such policy on Board

diversity in the annual report of the Company; and

(ix)  Matters required by applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of
Association, the Listing Rules and other matters authorized by the Board

of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall study the selection criteria, selection procedures
and term of office of the Directors and senior management of the Company
in accordance with provisions of relevant laws, administrative regulations, other
regulatory documents, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association and
taking into account the actual conditions of the Company, formulate resolutions
and submit them to the Board for consideration and approval, and implement

accordingly.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to

discuss and consider the following matters:

. reviewed and confirmed the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the split between number of executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors remained appropriate for the Board to perform

its duties;

. reviewed and confirmed the Board members have a diverse mix of skills,

knowledge, experience and gender; and
. reviewed the board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”).

Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to our Board Diversity Policy, selection of Board candidates will
be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical
capabilities, professional qualifications and skills, knowledge, length of service and
other related factors. We will also consider our own business model and special
needs. The ultimate selection of Director candidates will be based on merits of

the candidates and contribution that the candidates will bring to our Board.

The Company attaches great importance to the importance and benefits of
gender diversity on the members of the Board, and the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy ensures that the Board will have potential successors as a

substitute to sustain the existing gender diversity of the Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board ABHMEZEELZ/LBE  EEERTEUTAEN
has set the following measurable objectives and reviewed such objectives from B 1% - W AERFZEEE - UBEREEE ERER

time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress towards ~ EIRZE B IZMEE -

achieving those objectives:

(A)  at least one of the members of the Board is female; A BP—REFENEEARKIL:
(B)  at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be independent non-  (B) ZEAL=ZH 22— WEZESNEBAB Y IENTE
executive Directors; E

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained accounting (C) ZEAL—REESTHEBESSHIHEMEXE

or other professional qualifications/knowledge of environmental issues. %R B A -

An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the measurable ~EEFEMIRITHEKILAIFE B FEARENSTLT

objectives is set out below:

Gender Diversity

(3 ES(4

Male: 7 Directors
Bk - TRER
Female: 2 Directors
it 2RER
Position

B

Executive Directors: 5 Directors
BITES SEES
Non-executive Director: | Director
FEMITESE I ZE=
Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors
BYIERITESE 3BEE

Professional Background and Experience

HEE SRR

Accounting and finance: 2 Directors
ST - 2EREE
Law: | Director
TERE IREE
Experience related to the Company’s business: 4 Directors
HEARRNBRBA LR : 4BER
Finance and economy: 2 Directors
T B 2RER
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Our Board currently consists of two female Directors and seven male Directors
with a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including but not limited to overall
management and strategic development, finance, accounting and risk management.
The Company currently has three independent non-executive Directors with
different industry backgrounds, including accounting, auditing, economics, law, etc.
In addition, our Board has a relatively wide range of ages ranging from 35 years
old to 56 years old. The Company is of the view that the Board satisfies our

Board Diversity Policy, and have achieved the above measurable objectives.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for the implementation of our Board
Diversity Policy, and will review our Board Diversity Policy from time to time to

ensure its continued effectiveness.

For details on the diversity of the Company's employees, please refer to the

Environmental, Social and Governance Report published together with this report.

Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated

financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue

as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s

Report on pages 85 to 91.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the external auditor of the
Company, KPMG, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year

ended December 31, 2024 is set out below:

Service Category

SREARE

BB AT &

MEE20245 127431 B L FEMEA RS LIFE R
BRARRIMNERBMESASHMEBANEN,
e B D AT E S an T

Charges paid/payable

BRAS 5 R ey ENLER
(RMB)

(ARKT)

Audit services

ZE IR 3,400,000

Non-audit services

% BRTS

Interim review services

BB RS 1,400,000

Tax compliance services, ESG and other consulting services

PR RR  ESGREAE ARG 195,000

Total

Bt 4,995,000

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BEANTME

Ms. Chen Hua and Ms. Oh Sim Yee have been appointed as the Joint Company
Secretaries of the Company. Ms. Oh is an assistant manager of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. The biographical details of Ms. Chen Hua
and Ms. Oh Sim Yee are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of

Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this report.

Ms. Chen Hua is the primary contact person of Ms. Oh Sim Yee in the Company,
and cooperates and communicates with Ms. Oh Sim Yee on the Company's

corporate governance matters.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Ms. Chen Hua and Ms. Oh Sim
Yee have undertaken not less than |5 hours of relevant professional training

respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

The Shareholder(s) severally or jointly holding 10% or more shares in the
Company shall have the right to request the Board to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and shall submit such request to the Board in writing. The Board
shall, in accordance with provisions of the law, administrative regulations and the
Articles of Association, inform in writing to indicate whether the Board has agreed
or disagreed to convene such extraordinary general meeting within 10 days
upon receipt of the request. If the Board has agreed to hold such extraordinary
general meeting, it shall serve a notice of the general meeting within 5 days after
the Board has passed the board resolution. The relevant Shareholders' consent
shall be sought in respect of any changes to the original proposal contained in
such notice. If the Board does not agree to hold such extraordinary general
meeting or fails to give any reply within 10 days upon receipt of such request, the
Shareholder(s) severally or jointly holding 10% or more shares in the Company
shall have the right to propose to the Supervisory Committee to hold such
extraordinary general meeting and shall propose to the Supervisory Committee in
writing. If the Supervisory Committee agrees to hold such extraordinary general
meeting, it shall serve a notice of such general meeting within 5 days upon receipt
of such request. The relevant Shareholders’ consent shall be sought in respect of
any changes to the original proposal contained in such notice. If the Supervisory
Committee fails to give such notice for convening general meeting within the
period of time prescribed, it shall be deemed not to convene and preside over
such general meeting. The Shareholder(s) severally or jointly holding 10% or
more shares in the Company for more than 90 consecutive days may proceed to

convene and preside over such general meeting by themselves.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Shareholder(s) severally or jointly holding 3% or more shares in the
Company may bring forward provisional proposals and submit the same in writing
to the convener at 2/F, Building A, Yisha Wenxin Plaza, Chaoyang District, Beijing,
People’s Republic of China (marked for the attention of the Board/Company
Secretary), 10 days prior to the general meeting. The convener shall give a
supplementary notice of the general meeting and publicly announce the content

of such provisional proposals within two days upon receipt of such proposals.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board believes that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
Shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.
The Company mainly communicates with Shareholders and investors by
releasing the Company's financial reports (including interim and annual reports),
annual general meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, and
by publishing on the Company's website all disclosure materials submitted to the
Stock Exchange and corporate communications and other company publications.
The Company also holds conference calls after publishing annual and interim

results to discuss issues of common concern with investors and Shareholders.

General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide an important channel for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the
Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, will attend the annual general meeting and other relevant

general meetings to respond to Shareholders’ questions.

Corporate Communications

Corporate communications would be provided to Shareholders in plain language
and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding.
Shareholders have the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese)
or means of receipt of the corporate communications (in hard copy or through

electronic means).
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Corporate Website

The Company maintains a website at www.shiyuedaotian.com as a communication
platform with Shareholders and investors. The information on the website of the
Company is updated on a regular basis. Information released by the Company
on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) is also posted on the
Company's website immediately thereafter. Shareholders can also have an access
to press releases and other information issued by the Company from time to

time from the Company's website.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the Board.

The contact details are as follows:

Address: 2/F, Building A, Yisha Wenxin Plaza, Chaoyang District, Beijing,
People’s Republic of China (marked for the attention of the Board/
Company Secretary)

Email: sydtdb@shiyuedaotian.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be

disclosed as required by law.

Dividend Policy

For details of the Company's dividend policy, please refer to the "Directors’

Report” of this annual report.
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Shareholder Communication Policy

The Company adopted a shareholder communication policy after listing, in order
to ensure that Shareholders and investors can obtain fair and comprehensible
information about the Company on an equal basis at any time and in due course,
so that Shareholders can exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to
strengthen the communication among Shareholders, investors and the Company.
The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder
communication policy, and has considered that the shareholder communication
policy has been effectively implemented after taking into account the above

measures during the year ended December 31, 2024.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company
(Www.shiyuedaotian.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). For the
year ended December 31, 2024, no amendments were made to the Articles of

Association.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a risk management and internal control system, which
is responsible for independently reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the Company, and continuously
monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of its operation once a year. In
particular, the Board acknowledges its responsibilities for overseeing the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. The system aims to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
promote effective and efficient operations, reasonably ensure the reliability of
financial reports and comply with applicable laws and regulations and protect the
assets of the Company. The Board can only give reasonable but not absolute

assurance that there will be no material misrepresentation or loss.
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Main Characteristics of the Risk Management and Internal Control System

The Company has established a sound risk management and internal control
organization system which includes the Board, the Audit Committee, the
Supervisory Committee, the management of the Company, the internal control
department, the internal audit department, the legal department and other
departments. The various business units of the Group are the first line of defense
for risk management and internal control; the management of the Company,
the internal control department and the legal department are the second line
of defense; while the internal audit department, the Audit Committee and the
Supervisory Committee are the third line of defense. The Board serves as the
highest leading organ for risk management and internal control of the Company,
and is ultimately responsible for the construction and effective operation of
the overall risk management system. It is responsible for the establishment,
consummation and effective operation of the overall risk management system,
and is responsible for clarifying the assignment of responsibility as to senior

management or each business unit in the risk management system.

Implementation of Risk Management and Internal Control

Based on the requirements under the five elements of internal control, including
internal environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and
communication, and internal supervision, the Company conducts a comprehensive
assessment of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control

systems every year, and optimizes and updates the risk control mechanism.

After risk assessment, the Company’s major risks in 2024 mainly involve business
risks, financial risks and climate risks, and we have formulated feasible response

plans based on the Company's development status and strategic planning:

Business risks: The business risks the Group mainly faces include food safety risks,
production quality risks, reputation risks and sustainable development risks. The
Board regularly discusses and identifies the potential risks of the Company, tracks
and verifies the effectiveness of existing risk response strategies, and adjusts
risk response strategies in a timely manner to ensure that business risks are

controllable.
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Financial risks: The Company has formulated and implemented financial
management policies to control financial risks, such as tax risks, capital risks and
financial reporting risks. Secondly, the Board regularly monitors financial results
and key operating data to ensure that the Company’s financial risks remain within
acceptable limits and in compliance with regulations. In addition, the Company
also requires major suppliers to sign integrity agreements, and employees in high-
risk business positions to sign integrity commitment letters, and conduct random
checks on the execution of key businesses from time to time. The Company also
conducts internal control management and anti-corruption compliance training for
employees from time to time to standardize the risk management behavior of all

employees.

Climate risks: The Company has formulated internal systems and procedures
to proactively identify and assess climate risks and opportunities, and integrate
climate change risk identification, adaptation and mitigation into our decision-
making process, while continuously conducting extreme weather monitoring and
forewarning effectively, and formulating and updating disaster contingency plans in
order to improve our capabilities of climate disaster prevention and management.
Meanwhile, we pay close attention to the trend of climate change, and design our

production bases in a way that is appropriate to agro-climatic conditions.

Procedures for Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information as well as

Internal Control Measures

The Company attaches great importance to the handling and dissemination of
inside information and has implemented policies regarding the handling and
dissemination of inside information. Before inside information is properly disclosed
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, at all times, only relevant
persons (i.e. Directors, supervisors, senior management and relevant employees)
shall have access to inside information on a need-to-know basis. Directors,
supervisors, senior management and relevant employees who possess inside
information or potential inside information must take reasonable steps to keep
it confidential and ensure that their recipients are aware of their confidentiality

obligations.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control System

In 2024, we evaluated and checked the effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control systems through channels such as the management, business units
in the risk management system, internal control and audit team of the Company
and external legal counsel to improve risk response measures. Meanwhile, in
order to ensure the effective operation of the risk management system, the Audit

Committee conducted review and supervision over the risk management work.

In accordance with the work requirements of relevant regulatory agencies
and the Group, the internal audit department of the Company focuses on
the Group's risks at operational, financial and compliance level, actively carries
out internal control work, achieves more comprehensive and accurate risk
monitoring, and discovers latent risks more quickly. The internal audit department
regularly reports the results of internal reviews to the Audit Committee and the
Board, and communicates the results to the internal control team to promote the
perfection of the Company's management systems and processes. The internal
audit team regularly follows up on the implementation of rectification measures
and institutional processes, so as to achieve a closed-loop management of risks
and internal control, and support the achievement of the Company’'s medium-

and long-term strategic objectives.

The Company has continuously improved its reporting policies and systems. In
2024, the Company publicized its anti-fraud initiatives by distributing anti-fraud
posters and sending anti-fraud reminder emails during holidays, and publicly
released reporting channels along with corresponding reward and punishment
mechanisms, while emphasizing the protection for whistleblowers, and keeping
the personal information of whistleblowers and the materials provided by
whistleblowers strictly confidential. For the clues received through reporting,
the audit department of the Group independently conducted investigation work
to ensure the objectivity and fairness in both the process and outcomes, and

regularly reported its annual work results to the Audit Committee of the Board.

The Group’s management procedures for financial reporting and information
disclosure, etc. are in strict compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Board office strictly conforms to the Rules on the Information Disclosure
Management formulated by the Company to carry out information reporting,
reviewing and disclosure. Prior to disclosing relevant information to the public,
the Group will ensure that such information is kept confidential properly and will
perform the obligation to inform and supervise the insiders of inside information

as required.
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TEERRE

As of December 31, 2024, the Board has conducted a review of the risk &, 1E2024F 12831 H - EE YRS HERBREE

management and internal control work during the Reporting Period, covering ~ FAEIIZEHI TIE#ESIT T —RIR - MEFMBEEMNE

all important monitoring aspects, including financial monitoring, operational ~ ¥£5 M -+ BIEMIFEIE - EEEENARERE - R

monitoring and compliance monitoring, to ensure that the Company's resources, ~ ANA R E&F ~ NEEZ AT B REBEHNBHER -

staff qualifications and experience, staff training courses and related resources for B TERE K& - EITAXBIRENEBERER

accounting, internal audit and financial report functions are sufficient. There was R #If) o REB TN FEEARRELEERROEL - 1

no deficiency in material risk control nor any weakness in material risk control, ~ REZFIHE AR EILIFIE - AEENRKREEMAI
and the risk management and internal control system of the Group is effective ZH R B BRI -

and sufficient.
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The Board is pleased to present this Report of Directors together with the

audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended

December 31, 2024.

LIST OF DIRECTORS

The list of Directors during the Reporting Period and as of the Latest Practicable

Date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Bing (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenjun

Ms. Zhao Shulan

Mr. Shu Minghe

Mr. Zou Hao

Non-executive Director

Mr. Chang Bin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Ketong
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat
Mr. Lin Chen

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed "Biographical

Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this report.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are one of the leading and rapidly growing pantry food companies in China,
enjoying a robust multichannel brand presence. We have been dedicated to
providing our consumers with premium prepackaged rice, corn, whole grain, bean,
and dried food products since our inception, and have successfully established and
been operating multiple well-recognized brands, mainly including Shiyue Daotian (-
ATEH), Firewood Courtyard (4K AFt) and Sunshine Family (f&8= AZK). We
mainly supply rice products, corn products, whole grain, bean and other products,
as well as dried food products and other products. Rice products mainly include
pre-packaged rice products of different varieties, such as Wuchang rice (FL&
A3K), Daoxiang rice (FA&EK), long grain rice (RALEAK) and Komachi rice
(/INBT2K). Corn products primarily include various categories of pre-packaged
fresh corn products, such as yellow glutinous corn, white glutinous corn, black
glutinous corn, multicolored glutinous corn, fruit corn, fruit corn kernels, and
dried and dehulled corn kernels. Whole grain and bean products mainly include
pre-packaged mixed brown rice, millet and red bean. Other products under this
category primarily refer to seed and corn products. Dried food products mainly
include pre-packaged wood ear mushrooms, snow fungus mushroom, lotus seeds
and lily bulbs. Other products under this category mainly include by-products,

such as bran, husk and fractioned rice.

Please refer to the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” of this report for a true and fair review of
the Group’s business and analysis using financial key performance indicators, a
description of the key risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and discussion

of potential future development of the Group’s business.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers. The Company provides good working environment and effective
incentive mechanism for employees, continuously optimizes employee training
system, provides different career development paths for employees, guides
employees to grow together with the enterprise, and protects the rights and
interests of employees. The Group deeply understands the changing market
demand and maintains a close relationship with customers by strengthening
communication with customers. The Group actively and effectively strengthens
the business cooperation with suppliers to ensure the stability of the its business

operation through continuous communication.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance by business segment for the year is set

out in the note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The Group’s operating results for the year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page 92 of

this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set

out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

Based on the Group's overall operating performance for the year, and taking into
account the Group’s earnings, overall financial condition, and capital expenditures,
etc., the Board will recommend the distribution of a final dividend (“Final
Dividend”) of RMBO.164 per Share (tax inclusive, with total Final Dividend being
approximately RMBI175.2 million) as of the end of the year at the Company's
upcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM"), which accounts for approximately
50.1% of the Group's adjusted net profit for the year ended December 31,
2024. The proposed Final Dividend will be declared in RMB and paid in Hong
Kong dollars to the holders of our H Shares (“H Shareholders™). The Final
Dividend paid in HK$ will be converted from RMB to HK$ based on the average
exchange rate of RMB against HK$ of the five business days prior to the AGM
of the Company released by the People’s Bank of China, and the Final Dividend
paid to the holders of our Domestic Shares will be paid in RMB. The proposed
Final Dividend is subject to approval at the AGM before implementation and is
expected to be paid on or around July 18, 2025.
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In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of
China and its implementation rules (the “EIT Law"), non-resident enterprises shall
pay enterprise income tax on income derived from China, and the applicable tax
rate is 10.0%. To this end, any H Shares registered in the name of non-individual
Shareholders, including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, trustees
or other organizations and groups will be treated as being held by non-resident
enterprise shareholders (as defined in the EIT Law), and the Company will
distribute the Final Dividend to such non-resident enterprise shareholders after

withholding such 10.0% enterprise income tax.

When the Company distributes the 2024 Final Dividend to the individual
Shareholders, such dividend will be subject to the withholding of individual
income tax at a rate of 10% or 20%. However, if otherwise provided by tax laws,
relevant tax treaties or notices, the tax will be withheld in accordance with the

relevant requirements and tax levy and administration requirements.

The Company will not be liable for any claim or dispute over the withholding
mechanism arising from any delay in, or inaccurate determination of the status of
the Shareholders. The Board is not aware of any Shareholders who have waived

or agreed to waive any dividend.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have adopted a general annual dividend policy after listing, which is to declare
and pay a dividend of no less than 20% of our distributable net profit every year
in the future. Any declaration and payment of dividends will depend on our actual
and expected operating results, cash flows and financial condition, overall business
conditions and business strategies, expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans, statutory, regulatory and other contractual restrictions,

and other factors which we consider relevant.

The decisions to declare and pay any dividends are subject to the approval by
the Board and are conditional upon the final approval from Shareholders. No
dividend shall be declared or payable except out of our profits and reserves
lawfully available for distribution. Any future net profit that we make will have to
be first applied to make up for our historically accumulated losses, subsequent to
which we will be obliged to allocate 10% of the net profit to our statutory surplus

reserve until such reserve has reached more than 50% of our registered capital.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to Shareholders

by reason of their holding of the Company's Shares.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group made charitable or other
donations of approximately RMB609 thousand. For further details, please refer to

the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are carried out primarily in the PRC, while the Shares
of the Company are listed on the Stock Exchange. The businesses operated by
us are subject to the laws of relevant jurisdictions in the PRC, Hong Kong and
other related areas. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and as of the
Latest Practicable Date, we have complied with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in the applicable jurisdictions. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material non-compliance with such

laws and regulations.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

For the year ended December 31, 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities
(including the sale or transfer of treasury shares). As of the end of the Reporting

Period, the Company or any of its subsidiaries did not hold any treasury shares.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company's shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on October 12, 2023

through a global offering, and the net proceeds from the global offering were

approximately HK$716.4 million after deducting underwriting commissions and

other related expenses. The use of proceeds from the global offering and the

planned schedule of the Company are as follows:

Net proceeds
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Unutilized net

Utilized net
proceeds during
the twelve  Unutilized net

months ended  proceeds up to

FREOATICABBET - ARFEHNEEK

BERERREABRALAEFERAT

Expected timeline

Approximate % from the  proceeds as of ~ December 31,  December 31,  for utilization of
of total  global offering  January I, 2024 2024 2024 the balance of the
Intended Use net proceeds  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million) ~ (HK$ million)  net proceeds
HE0MF
BZ04F  1A3IAL 20245
IRIA M8  12A3IRAL
EFERIER PREE  HABAY EREAN HAREA RHERAERE
AFENES  FERETE MENETE FENEFE MENEFE FERE
RERR B2t (E8%x) (B8#R) (E8%R) (BB#ER) HAKEH
Enhancing our cooperation with suppliers and strengthening our 35% 250.74 250.74 160.60 90.14 By the end of 2025
procurement capability
BREHEHOSE - WK FIKRERE 20256 KA
Expanding our production capacity, upgrading existing 30% 21492 21492 13355 8137  Bythe end of 2025
production lines, broadening the geographic coverage of our
warehousing and logistics, and providing funds for production
activities related to our business expansion
EftiRR  BAEGHR  BIRRMREELRIAR FR2025F KA
REMEBERERNEERDREEAS
Expanding our channel coverage and establishing our sales 10% 71.64 71.64 45.85 2579 Bythe end of 2025
ecosystem
MARPNREREYBRAE LRER 20255 A
Enhancing our brand equity 10% 71.64 71.64 4257 2907  Bythe end of 2025
AR FImAE 8 R2005F KA
Constructing our digital middle platform system 5% 35.82 3582 .76 3406 By the end of 2027
BREMNAF T EEAR R007E KA
Working capital and general corporate purposes 10% 71.64 71.54 50.80 2074 Bythe end of 2025
EEALR—REERE R005F KA
Total 100% 71640 71630 435.13 28117
a&t
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The balance of proceeds from the listing will continue to be used in accordance
with the proposed purposes aforementioned. Due to the adjustment to the
Company's overall informatization strategy, the Company re-evaluated its business
execution plan, and the proposed schedule regarding the use of the unutilized

net proceeds for constructing the digital middle platform system was later than

originally planned.

In order to enhance the capital usage efficiency, reasonably utilize the temporarily
idle proceeds raised from the global offering and realize value preservation
and appreciation of the proceeds of the Company and protect the interests of
Shareholders of the Company, without affecting the normal operation activities of
the Company, as approved by the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company
held on June 7, 2024 for the cash management purpose, it was proposed to utilize
up to HK$280 million of the proceeds which were expected to remain idle for
more than one year to appropriately purchase wealth management products with
high security, positive liquidity and a term of maturity not exceeding 12 months,
within 12 months from the date when it was considered and approved at the
2023 annual general meeting. The above amount can be utilized on a rolling basis
during the above-mentioned investment period of |2 months. The return from
the cash management belongs to the Company. There is no material impact on
the normal use of the proceeds according to the intended purposes as disclosed
in the Prospectus and the normal operations of the Company. For detalils, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated May |3, 2024 and circular dated
May 16, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has not subscribed to

any short-term wealth management products.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details regarding the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note |3

to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of changes in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial

statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, the distributable reserves of the Company amounted
to RMBI75.9 million.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in property, plant and equipment of the Company and the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note || to the

consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at December 31,

2024 are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED DEBENTURE

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not issue any

debenture.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the Group's top five customers
accounted for approximately 46.2% of the Group's total revenue, while revenue
from the largest customer accounted for approximately 20.8% of the Group's

total revenue.

During the Reporting Period, the amount of purchases from the Group's top five
suppliers accounted for approximately 10.6% of the Group's total purchases, while
the amount of purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately

3.1% of the Group's total purchases.

During the Reporting Period, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of
the Directors or their associates or any Shareholders (who owned or to the
knowledge of Directors had owned more than 5% of our issued share capital)

has any interest in any of our top five suppliers and top five customers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained directors’ liability insurance to protect the Directors
of the Company against any potential losses arising from his/her actual or alleged
misconduct. During the year and up to the Latest Practicable Date, permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was and is being in force
for the benefit of the Directors of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
we did not enter into any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions being disclosable in accordance with Rules 14A49 and 14A.71 of the
Listing Rules.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there was no related party transaction
or continuing related party transaction set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements which constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that was required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules. In respect of the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions, the Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of the

Listing Rules (as amended from time to time).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Company has entered into service contracts with each Director and
Supervisor, the tenure of whom is three years from the date of appointment
of each Director and Supervisor, and may be terminable in accordance with the

relevant terms of each service contract.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has entered into
any director or supervisor service contract with any member of the Group (other
than contracts expiring within one year or determinable by the relevant employer
within one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation)).
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REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS, SENIOR EX  EENSHECEEFMREEEZES HM
MANAGEMENT AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AE

The remuneration received by Directors, Supervisors and members of senior #E 5  BEERSAEEREXNEWEINT AT € « £
management consists of salary, allowances, pension scheme contributions, B ~ RIKSFTEIER - WIBEAREGCEDET - B
discretionary bonuses and other benefits in kind. Independent non-executive M IEHITEERIBFEBHK(RIERETESSEEEKE
Directors receive compensation according to their duties (including serving HNEFVEBHN - XRAIEENEHRIEE = H
as members or chairmen of the Board Committees). The remuneration of  F % * FIEENRE MR A QAR HEERTMIEREEHE
the Company’s Directors is determined based on the remuneration plan for — EJE °

Directors, positions held and relevant contracts signed between the Company

and the Directors.

Details of remunerations of Directors, senior management and the five highest ZEF - SR EEEM AL TS T MA THEHFS D
paid individuals are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the consolidated financial ~ BIE A OB M F M T8 KMo - e REEEK B
statements respectively. Details of the remuneration of senior management by ~ REE2024F 12 A3 B I FEZRERE D EHENE R

band for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out as follows: N
Range Number of individuals
nF AH

HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000
500,001 B 7LZ 1,000,0007% 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 2
1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000/ 7T

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000

4,500,00 | & 7T 25,000,000 7T

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there I ESREXRAENEFTAME - B ANEB L HEE
were no remunerations paid by the Group to any of the Directors or the five (FIEERXKAZHZSFMA LTI NEFRMEMS @ EAM
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as A ZN£2 B sk il A ZN 2 B i 1) S8 B sk fE A BE B a8 o

compensation for loss of office.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not participate in, directly
or indirectly, any material transactions, arrangements and contracts in which any
of the Directors or the Supervisors or his/her connected entities had a material
interest, and related to the businesses of the Company and were subsisting during

or by the end of the year.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors had any interest in any
business, which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our

business, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2024, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, the interests
and short positions of the Directors, the Supervisors and chief executives of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) which were (i)
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(i) recorded in the register kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code are as follows:

76

SHIYUE DAOTIAN GROUP CO,, LTD. 2024 Annual Report

ESREEEXRE - RERESNPHFE

HE204F 12A31BIEFE - AREWEEESHE
SIS ESNEENREERENTRRNEPE
BEARNZ@AEFR  BARGEBEH - AREAFER
BERBFDABINEERS  ©HHELD -

ESABRFERTNES

RBEHRRN > EFHENERMNEHEERXRER
B FRAEBREFOERNESTHREARE LT
RUECEIVES (b iidcdnke £

EE EERESTBRAEBRAQAREEE
FENRSG  HEROIEEEPHES KK
B

M2024F 12 A318 - BESFA - ARAES - E=E
RERITHABRAARSEEREZE(EERESFK
HEGOIEXVE) R, - HERNDIERETHES
WVRIBEES MBS EPEXVERET R8N HAME AN
A REE R TR KA R (BB RIEE S R BAE KA
BB E R BEEORR AR ) 3Lk
PIREFH K EEPIE3521KBF BB LA
@ RORE (i IRBIRETFREME AR DT KB AT
MR AR T



Directors’ Report
ESERE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS, ¥E  EERESTHRABREALARMGHRE

SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARES OF THE &R K&

COMPANY

Approximate

Approximate percentage of

percentage of shareholding in

shareholding in the total issued

Number of the relevant class share capital of

Name of the Directors, Shares of Shares as at  the Company as at
Supervisors and chief executives Nature of interest interested  Class of Shares December 31,2024  December 31, 2024
R20245 128318

M04F 128318 REQFAZBEH

Ex B2 BEEERD REBRGERN  TRATHSRE

RBETHASRSA BEMHE ROBE  ROER BRENED L HEAL

Mr. Wang Bing?®) Beneficial owner 166315993 (L)  Domestic Shares 20.49% 1557%

FEKAEOD BREBA NER

Interest in controlled corporation  490,648310 (L) ~ Domestic Shares 60.44% 45.93%
NSRRIk NEK

Ms. Zhao Wenjun®® Interest of spouse and interestin 656964303 (L)  Domestic Shares 80.92% 61.50%

controlled corporation

HXE L EEEs RN EE NER

Mr. Shu Minghe! Interest in controlled corporation 386,036,760 (L) ~ Domestic Shares 47.55% 36.14%

FRERLC REEEE S NEK

Ms. Zhao Shulan Beneficial owner 9662510 (L)  Domestic Shares 1.19% 0.90%

bl BREAA NERK

Notes: MisE -

(1) The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. () FEILRKRZATRROONGE -

(2)  Mr. Wang Bing and Ms. Zhao Wenjun respectively hold 70% and 30% of the equity  (2) FEELRBEXEBELZTHAET AL LH70%%30%H
interest in Shiyue Jinfeng, and Shiyue Jinfeng is the general partner of each of Shiyue W BETASLATAEEHCEEENTARENY
Daotian Enterprise Management and Shiyue Zhongxin. Mr. Wang Bing and Ms. Zhao BEBA - RIEBEELELBAEEMN  FEAERBEE
Wenjun are deemed to be interested in the 386,036,760 Shares and 104,611,550 ZEHWEARTABHC¥ERERTARSEDRIATE
Shares held by each of Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management and Shiyue Zhongxin B H)386,036, 7608 52 104,61 | SSORXAR D R EA RERS ©
under the SFO.

3) Ms. Zhao Wenjun is the spouse of Mr. Wang Bing. Therefore, each of Mr. Wang (B) HBMXBEZITATELAENERER BEIZIHEKHERK
Bing and Ms. Zhao Wenjun is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each Bl - FRAERBYXELTHERASNETAHFENR
other under the SFO. A RERS -

(4)  Mr. Shu Minghe directly holds approximately 4.37% of the partnership interest in  (4) &HABAER T ARBHCEEBREEFENI37%E
Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management and holds 100% of the interest in Shenyang B WREGRERFBI00%RE - MEGRE
Shengxin, which in turn holds approximately 39.31% of the partnership interest R+ ABEBCEEBEEANI03I%E B - Bt -
in Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management. As such, Mr. Shu Minghe, directly and SEEAAEELBREEREHERTABALD
indirectly through Shenyang Shengxin, holds approximately 43.68% of the partnership XEBHBRN43.8%aBER  c REZFKHAEKR
interest in Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management. Mr. Shu Minghe is deemed to be 5l - SFRABEERE AN T AEECEEEMBEAEDN
interested in the 386,036,760 Shares held by Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management 386,036,760 AR D B = ©
under the SFO.

(5)  The shareholding percentage calculation is based on the total number of issued — (5) BB DL EFEHER2024F 12 A3 BEETR

shares of 1,068,153,150 shares as at December 31, 2024, including 256,300,450 H
Shares and 811,852,700 Domestic Shares.

1 48 88 1,068,153,150 % * B $5256,300,450 f& H iZ &
811,852,700k E % °
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RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

ESREEREROIEREZNER

REIE2024F 128318 - IERTARNES - B3k
HESENRBIRARMISHEMNTFRABEARARRK
MERENFRAMERAERN - MEENETEE
RZEEF : BAARSRE AN EL BT EELR
HUSESEHBEESENRMBI KRR I8mMNFLRE
R E AN E RS Z SRR -

As of December 31 2024, none of the Directors or Supervisors or their
respective spouses or children under the age of 18 was granted any rights
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares or debentures of the
Company, nor exercised any such rights. The Company or any of its subsidiaries
did not make any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective
spouses or children under the age of |8 to acquire such rights from any other

body corporate.

PENSION SCHEME BIREETE

Details of the pension scheme are set out in note 6(b) to the consolidated B BRREFT EIFFHIBENE S BHREM (D) ©
financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL FERRRAQATIRGREABRONEZR AR
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

OF THE COMPANY

M2024F 12A31 8 - AR ARIBE S KBS KM
FEIBRAEFENELRMAEE - LWTAL(KRRTE
BB mETIRABRIN RAR R MR kA8
RipPHEEERSIAR

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (not being the Directors,
Supervisors or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would be required to =&
be recorded in the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
Approximate percentage of
percentage of shareholding in

shareholding in the total issued

Number of the relevant class share capital of

Shares of Shares as at ~ the Company as at

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest interested Class of Shares December 31, 2024 December 31, 2024

R20245 128318

M04FNAIIA REQFZBESR

BRESN REBROERN  TREPHERY

RRER BaEtE RO%E  ROER BRENEDL HNEDL

Shiyue Jinfeng® Interest in controlled corporation 490648310 (L)  Domestic Shares 60.44% 45.93%
thAgge RREEE S WA

Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management Beneficial owner 386,036,760 (L)  Domestic Shares 47.55% 36.14%
TRARELXER BHEEAA NEK

Shiyue Zhongxin Beneficial owner 104,611,550 (L)  Domestic Shares 12.89% 9.79%
TARE BEEHBA NEK

Shenyang Hongsheng® Interest in controlled corporation 104,611,550 (L) ~ Domestic Shares 12.89% 9.79%
EGBTTO REEEE RS NEK
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the total issued

Number of the relevant class share capital of

Shares of Shares as at ~ the Company as at

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest interested Class of Shares December 31, 2024 December 31, 2024

R20245 128318

M2024F 128318 RADR2HEH

FRESN REBROERN  TREPOFRY

RREA BEMHE ROEE  ROEH FRENED L HNEDH

Shenyang Shengxin® Interest in controlled corporation 386036,760(L)  Domestic Shares 47.55% 36.14%

B REEY REEEE S NEK
Mr. Wang Hetong Beneficial owner 53407657(L)  Domestic Shares 6.58% 5.00%
FEERE BRBEAA NER

Generation Sigma HK Investment Limited®  Beneficial owner 81305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
EafAA H

Generation Sigma Investment Ltd.®) Interest in controlled corporation 81305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
REEEE S HAR

GenBridge Capital Fund |, LP.®) Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
REEAE S HAR

GenBridge Capital Fund | GP, Ltd® Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
SR EAE T o HAR

GenBridge Capital Partners, Ltd.®) Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
REEEE S HAR

Ms. LI Mao Chun®® Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
LI Mao ChunZL£9® REEEB R HAR

Mr. CHEUK Hiu Kwong® Interest of spouse 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
CHEUK Hiu KwongZE4© fiBriER Hi%

Joyous Beats Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
REEEE S HAR

JD.com Investment Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 81305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
REEEE NS HA

JD.com, Inc.® Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
SR AE I e HAR

Max Smart Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
REEEE S HAR

UBS Trustees (BV.L.) Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 81,305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
REEEE HAR

Mr. LIU Qiangdong Richard® Beneficiary of trusts 81305070(L)  H Shares 31.72% 761%
BRRELS BERERHA HAX

MIC Capital Management 81 RSC Ltd? Beneficial owner 34811460(L)  H Shares 13.58% 3.26%
BESHEEA Hi

MIC Capital Management (Restricted) Interest in controlled corporation 34811460(L)  H Shares 13.58% 3.26%

7 td?

NSRBI HA

Mubadala Investment Company PJ.S.C? Interest in controlled corporation 34811,460(L)  H Shares 13.58% 3.26%
SR AE T e HAR
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Notes:

The Letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Shiyue Jinfeng is the general partner of each of Shiyue Daotian Enterprise
Management and Shiyue Zhongxin, respectively. Shiyue Jinfeng is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management and Shiyue
Zhongxin respectively under the SFO.

Shenyang Hongsheng holds approximately 90% of the partnership interest in Shiyue
Zhongxin. Shenyang Hongsheng is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Shiyue Zhongxin under the SFO.

Shenyang Shengxin holds approximately 39.31% of the partnership interest in Shiyue
Daotian Enterprise Management. Shenyang Shengxin is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Shiyue Dactian Enterprise Management under the SFO.

Generation Sigma HK Investment Limited is wholly owned by Generation Sigma
Investment Ltd., which is in turn 80.719% owned by GenBridge Capital Fund |, L.P.
The general partner of GenBridge Capital Fund |, LP. is GenBridge Capital Fund |
GP, Ltd., which is in turn 50% owned by each of GenBridge Capital Partners, Ltd.
and Joyous Beats Limited. GenBridge Capital Partners, Ltd. is wholly owned by Ms. Li
Mao Chun; and Joyous Beats Limited is wholly owned by JD.com Investment Limited,
which is in turn wholly owned by JD.com, Inc. Mr. Liu Qiangdong Richard holds
the voting rights of JD.com, Inc. primarily through Max Smart Limited and Fortune
Rising Holdings Limited. As of December 31, 2024, his voting rights proportion in
JD.com, Inc. was 71.7%. Max Smart Limited is a company beneficially owned by Mr.
Liu Qiangdong Richard through a trust. Generation Sigma Investment Ltd., GenBridge
Capital Fund |, L.P., GenBridge Capital Fund | GP, Ltd, GenBridge Capital Partners,
Ltd., Ms. LI Mao Chun, Joyous Beats Limited, |D.com Investment Limited, JD.com, Inc.,
Max Smart Limited and Mr. Liu Qiangdong Richard are deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Generation Sigma HK Investment Limited under the SFO.

Mr. CHEUK Hiu Kwong is the spouse of Ms. LI Mao Chun. Mr. CHEUK Hiu
Kwong is deemed to be interested in the same shares in which Ms. LI Mao Chun is
interested under the SFO.

MIC Capital Management 81 RSC Ltd is wholly owned by MIC Capital Management
(Restricted) 7 Ltd, which is in turn wholly owned by MUBADALA INVESTMENT
COMPANY PJS.C. MIC Capital Management (Restricted) 7 Ltd and MUBADALA
INVESTMENT COMPANY PJS.C are deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by MIC Capital Management 81 RSC Ltd under the SFO.

The shareholding percentage calculation is based on the total number of issued
shares of 1,068,153,150 shares as at December 31, 2024, including 256,300,450 H
Shares and 811,852,700 Domestic Shares.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, (i) no contract of significance was entered into
by, and/or subsisted between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries; and (i) there is no contract of
significance in relation to provision of services by the Controlling Shareholder or

any of its subsidiaries to the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year ended December 31, 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
and the laws of the PRC which oblige the Company to offer new Shares to

existing Shareholders on their shareholding proportions.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules requires that there must be an open market
in the securities for which listing is sought, and that a sufficient public float of an
issuer’s listed securities shall be maintained. This normally means that at least 25%
of the issuer’s total issued share capital must at all times be held by the public.
Pursuant to Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange may, subject
to certain conditions and at its discretion, accept a lower percentage of between
159 to 25% in the case of issuers with an expected market capitalization at the

time of listing of over HK$10 billion.

We have applied to the Stock Exchange to exercise its discretion to grant a
waiver under Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules at the time of listing, and the
Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to strictly comply with the minimum public
float requirements under Rule 8.08(I1)(a) of the Listing Rules, resulting in the
minimum percentage of public float being 15.7% of the total issued share capital

of the Company from time to time.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the aforementioned
minimum public float required by the Stock Exchange during the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Directors’ Report
ESERE

EREH

AR & B (i) A 2 B 3E ] — SR P B 2 451 A B
BRRLEEM—RIMBARRT R RFEERE
% R FERRBERRRIEERN-RMBEL
AMAEERERBHERSL -

FR 40 £ 2 5 %

HE2004F 128318 LIEFE - AKBEWEE] LT
AR EE AR -

BREERE

RABRFTEEARZYBELBEERMG - RELAR
AR PIMIRE R RIR2HETRD

DNEEFR

1]

FWRAIEL08(N()IEMRE SR EMWHESFMA
BARAME - BETAN L TREFEEREHORE
RE - —MME @ BimAl - BITADBITRAL
BUARDVDHLUHARALTRES - BIBELETRAE
8.08(1)(d)fE - EFAE THRHENIBFIRAT » MEITATE
HfE ETR R TSR 10018 T - RIEE R AT o] BY 1S 5
N T 15%E25% 2 HH — AR BE DL ©

BTN ETHRE ME AT RBRE LR AIZE8.08(1)
(WEITEERBEER TEHE - BBXAER THEER
RS EHRBIES08(1)@)IEE THREARBRE
BE  FRARFRENSZEADLETRALRAARE %
TR RRAHY 15.7% o

BREARFASAHERREZESHA - A28
2024F 12 A3 1 HIEFEE #FE R AT E KM ATl &K

RRFERE o

X

+TEBREERAERAT FEHE2024 81



irectors’ Report
SEHRE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

There was no contract concerning the management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company which was entered

into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2024,

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

We believe that environmental, social and governance (“ESG") issues are critical
to our long-term, sustainable development. We focus on the fields of economy,
employees, environment and social responsibility, and are committed to steadily
advancing the construction of the ESG governance system, improving ESG
practice and performance, and contributing to the community and social well-

being through various ESG measures.

For details of the Group's environmental policies and performance, please refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report published together with this

report.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has always followed the “people-oriented” philosophy. In alignment
with our strategic upgrade and business expansion, it has emphasized the principle
of "“talent precedence”, fostering a symbiotic growth between the organization

and its talents.

In 2024, the Company continued to forge its employer branding, introduce
external talents, and consolidate its organizational team. The Company
strengthened its external cultural publicity and attracted talents by leveraging
online platforms such as the founder’s IP, and video accounts of human resources.
In 2024, the Company won the "“Best Employer of the Year” and the “Nomination
for the Best Employer of the Year” from third-party talent service agencies such
as CTG Corporation and Zhaopin. The Company persistently focused on the
endogenous cultivation of talents, continuously implemented the recruitment
program for management trainees, and strengthened the cooperation with
universities, so as to undertake its social responsibilities as an enterprise in the
aspects of “education and employment”. In 2024, the Company was designated
as the “practice base” and “employment hub” of Dalian University of Technology,
Liaoning University, and Heilongjiang University. The Company also expediently
nurtured professional talents through internal methods such as “mentorship and
self-organization”, which robustly underpinned the meteoric rise of emerging

channels and new businesses.
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In 2024, the Company intensified its efforts in talent training, established platforms
such as the “Internal Training Forum” and the Online Business Academy, and
allocated training resources to the cultivation of management trainees, induction
training for new recruits, as well as professional development for employees. It
has currently accumulated more than 60 high-quality courses, covering the entire
business chain with multiple professional links, as well as aspects encompassing
marketing innovation, management, leadership, etc,, thereby fulfilling the needs for

internal training and talent development.

In 2024, the Company relentlessly pursued the refinement and enhancement of
its institutional framework while advancing its cultural construction. The Company
refined certain institutions, workflows, documentation sheets, etc, all of which
were implemented through the system, thereby boosting its work efficiency and
providing employees with a more standardized and convenient service experience.
The Company launched activities such as “amusing sports meet”, “brand day” and
"year-end party” to enliven the cultural atmosphere and elevate employees’ sense

of belonging.

In terms of salary, the Company has gradually improved its salary system. On the
basis of ensuring internal fairness, it appropriately favors key positions and core
employees to maintain the market competitiveness of the salary for outstanding
talents. The Company attempts to flexibly use a variety of salary structures and
models to meet the needs of employee management and motivation in different
scenarios, such as implementing piece-rate wages and performance incentives for
front-line employees at production line. The Company attempts to implement
a performance-linked salary incentive model for some offline sales personnel to
encourage employees to earn higher incomes on the condition of completing
performance targets. The Company handles and pays various social insurance and
housing provident funds in accordance with relevant national laws, regulations
and local policy documents, and withholds and pays personal income tax of

employees.

As at December 31, 2024, we had 2,062 full-time employees, most of whom

were located in Shenyang, Wuchang and Beijing.

Among the Group's full-time employees (including senior management
members), male account for approximately 47.38% and female account for
approximately 52.62%. The Group recognizes the benefits of having a diversified
team. All employees of the Group enjoy equal employment, training and career
development opportunities. The Company is also committed to creating an
environment and culture friendly to female employees. The Company expects to
maintain reasonable gender diversity at the employee level. The Company is not
aware of any factors or circumstances that would make achieving gender diversity
among all employees, including senior management, more challenging or less

relevant.
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EEHRE
For details of the Group's employees, please refer to the Environmental, Social

and Governance Report published together with this report.

SHARE SCHEME

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company and its major

subsidiaries did not have any share scheme.

AUDITORS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, KPMG assumed the office of the
Company’s auditor. The financial statements contained in this annual report have
been audited by KPMG. There has been no change in the Company's auditor
since the Listing Date and there has been no change in any of the past three

years.

SUBSEQUENT SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There were no significant events after December 31, 2024 that would materially
affect the Group's operating and financial performance as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

By Order of the Board
Shiyue Daotian Group Co., Ltd.
Mr. Wang Bing

Chairman and Executive Director

Beijing, PRC, March 24, 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG

to the shareholders of Shiyue Daotian Group Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shiyue Daotian Group
Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 92 to 183, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting

policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSASs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (hereinafter referred
to as the "Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People's Republic of
China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on this matter.
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Key audit matter (Continued)
HRETERE)

Revenue recognition

L&ﬁiﬁgwm

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(v).

uﬁ/

Bt & BT R M st 4RI 1200 F B B ETIBE
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZBEEET P RN

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
revenue from sale of goods, including rice products, corn products,
whole grain, bean, dried food and other products amounting to
RMB5,745.3 million.

HE204F N2 A3 BIFEE -
KER TRER  HE T ZERHGES -
ARHES 745388 T °

ERERANAMEERARER
TRED

The Group generates sales through a variety of sales channels, including
online channels, grocery retail channels, sales to direct customers, and
sales through distribution network. The sales involve a large volume of
transactions with different types of customers having different trading
terms, which may affect the timing and amount of revenue recognition.
Revenue is recognised when the control of the underlying products has

been transferred to the customers.

SEBREZEHEREELHER  BRERRE  METE
‘74%5 C BEEREPHEURDHEMEE - HESRAERS T

RENNEFPETRNZZIENK @« EAEEFERAERNEE
MERE - WAERBERNZHRERATPHERR
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue from sale of

goods included the following:

B AERE RS RANEEF e

»  assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls over revenue recognition;

o FHERARER 2 ABEHFEENRE - BRMETRA

» inspecting the Group's agreements with customers, on a sample
basis, to understand key terms of sales transactions, including the
terms of delivery and sale returns, and evaluate if the Group's

revenue recognition policies were in accordance with the

requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

- HMEERERAETFPEITNGZE U THEEXINERRE
K BREINMBEEREER - Wi EEEENKRAERR
REBNARITEFTERMER

» comparing revenue recognised during the year, on a sample basis, to
underlying documentation, which included goods delivery records or
settlement statements indicating the customers' acknowledgement

of the acceptance of goods sold;

. Z—ETH&EE’J% A F R R A A AR RS ST
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Key audit matter (Continued)
HEETEE(E)

The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
HRETER(E)

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 342 BLET R

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

ZEEEET P RNMELE ()

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group, and
there is an inherent risk that revenue may be recognised in the incorrect

period or manipulated to achieve targeted or expected levels.

B AER B RARESEE - ARRATERENRER
BREIRZ — » FREWATT BEN E5 AR B R SR S R A A B
BERFEHRENE AR

e obtaining confirmations from customers, on a sample basis, to
confirm the amount of sales recognised during the reporting period,
and the outstanding trade receivable balances at the end of the

reporting period;

« HEEREFPERE  AERRSHACERHHEERME
SHRREENE Z YRR

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether revenue transactions before
and after the end of the reporting period had been recognised
in the appropriate financial year by comparing those selected
transactions with underlying documentation, which included goods

delivery records or settlement statements;

c HEFIEREHMERITERERHBUARZREEEREDN
MBERRNER - TERHZFEENRZEREXT (B
PR T RC S A H B ) AT

» selecting sales journal entries during the financial year that met
certain risk based criteria and comparing details of these journals

with the relevant underlying documentation; and

« BRAMBFEANSFERREENHEDH - WHRF
7 SRE) S BAR R SR ST TR - I

» identifying significant sales returns from sales ledger after the end of
the reporting period and by making enquiries of management and

inspecting relevant underlying documentation.

© BRERREHOHERTIFINEAHERE  AEEEE
1T R E R SR XA -
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Information other than the consolidated financial statements and
auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

0 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear

on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or

safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's

report is Yu Wai Sum.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
|0 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

24 March 2025
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\EF2024F 12 A3 B IEFE(AARE(AREDIIR)

onsolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
EEaRHEMEEBAR

< :E’;‘;he year ended 3| December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB"))

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hat AR®TT ARBTT

Revenue &= 4 5,745,315 4,867,026
Cost of sales SHERCA (4,725,943) (4248310)
Gross profit EF 1,019,372 618716
Other net income HABKAFEE 5 40,647 3713
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RASIER X (513,831) (324,063)
Administrative expenses THEFAXE (148,227) (154,489)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment B 5 & E A MR IE

losses on trade and other receivables CRERR),RERE D (4,590) 213
Profit from operations &R 393,371 144,090
Finance costs R DN 6@a) (13,425) (21,720)
Changes in fair value of financial assets NARBENEEEZEHTAER

measured at fair value through profit or (TAAAEEFEEEZEEH AR

loss (“FVPL") A NEREEANBEED 14 (155,576) =
Changes in the carrying amount of financial MREERTHNERITAREE

instruments issued to investors 28 22 - (181,141)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBATEF, (EE) 6 224,370 (58,771)
Income tax FiS®i 7(a) (19,997) (6,092)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive AN B RS RN

income for the year attributable to FREA(BR)R

equity shareholders of the Company 2HEUALEE 204,373 (64,863)
Earnings/(loss) per share SREF,(FHE) 10
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARREE(ARKET) 0.19 (0.08)

The notes on pages 98 to 183 form part of these financial statements. Details

of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the

profit for the year are set out in Note 26(c).
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BRI R

at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)
72024412 A31 B JAAREFIR)

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Mtat ARETT ARBETTT
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB K&E 11 1,050,096 957,868
Right-of-use assets EREEE 12 240,029 189,215
Financial assets measured at FVPL AR EEFTEAES
ABRNEREE 14 615,055 =
Other non-current assets EMIEREEE 15 25,780 20,490
1,930,960 [,167,573
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 16 1,360,169 1,604,828
Trade and other receivables B 5k HA W IE 17 609,717 505,192
Cash on hand and at bank FENIBITRS 18 712,972 1457218
2,682,858 3,567,238
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & AR FRIE 19 253,217 241,861
Contract liabilities aRaE 20 40,635 13,571
Bank loans RITER 21 645,475 1,011,071
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 26,488 12,899
Income tax payable T ET SRR 24 14,488 6,070
980,303 1,285,472
Net current assets REBEERE 1,702,555 2,281,766
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEES 3,633,515 3,449,339
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‘ December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)
2412431 R IAAREIIR)

onsolidated Statement of Financial Position

2024 2023
20245 20234F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARET T ARET T
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 30,754 19,467
Deferred income PRIEWA 25 47991 46,362
78,745 65,829
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,554,770 3,383,510
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRFEE 26
Share capital PN 106,815 106,815
Reserves & 3,447,955 3,276,695
TOTAL EQUITY e 3,554,770 3383510

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2025.

Wang Bing Zou Hao
= PR
Director Director
BE BF

The notes on pages 98 to 183 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERRER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)
BE2024F12A31H EFEAARBIIR)

Paid-in capital/ Capital Other Statutory  Accumulated
share capital reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BA/BA EARRE EMRE  OAERE  RHER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTR ARETRT ARBTT AR%TR
(Note 26(b))  (Note 26(d)) (Note 26(e))  (Note 26(f))
(Hiske())  (BiaR2s(d))  (Fifzkae(e))  (Miak2e(f)
At | January 2023 R0BFIAIA 99,445 2130522 (1,616,069) 16711 (736981) (106372)
Changes in equity for 2023: 03FE@REH) :
Loss and total comprehensive income for FRNERRZERALRE

the year = = = = (64.863) (64.863)
Capital contributions (Note 26(b)) HA& (FiR26()) 2,030 279960 = S = 281990
Issuance of shares by initial public offering, BRERNREEETRG -

net of share issuance expenses MRRHETRE

(Note 26(b)) GEIG) 5340 706,113 = = = 711453
Recognition of redemption liabilties for the REFRNBEOARE

preferential rights (Note 22) (Btzr22) - - (285714) = = (285714)
Conversion into a joint stock company with 5| BRH AR AH

limited liability (Note 26(5)) (FtzE26(b)) - (1717998) 1335941 (16711) 398768 =
Expiration of the redemption rights upon /NGl sk Bl

the listing of the Company's shares (Ft322)

(Note 22) - - 2847016 - - 2847016
Appropriation to reserves PNEEHE = - - 4142 (4142) -
At 31 December 2023 and | January R2023F12A31 BR2024F1A18

2024 106815 1,398,597 2,281,174 4142 (407218) 3383510
Changes in equity for 2024: 2045 =%

Profit and total comprehensive income for ~ FREFIRZEMALZE

the year - - - - 204,373 204,373
Dividends to shareholders (Note 26(c)) AR EIEA AR (FiTEE26(c)) - - - = (33,113) (33,113)
Appropriation to reserve PEERE - - - 19,079 (19,079) -
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12831 B 106,815 1,398597 2,281,174 23221 (255,037) 3,554,770
The notes on pages 98 to |83 form part of these financial statements. SR EIBZE 183 A ¢ REMFT AR B #RK 2 —2bp -
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onsolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHRERER

the year ended 3| December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)
15202412 A31 B ILFE AARBTIR)

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kzt AR®T ARBETT
Operating activities ReEEH
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELATEF](E518) 224,370 (58771)
Adjustments for: AT R IEFE -
Depreciation e 6(c) 113,824 86,705
Changes in the carrying amount of financial MIREERITHER T AREEZD
instruments issued to investors = 181,141
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERRENEERFE
equipment 5 2,221 1,537
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment B 5 R EM BN IEREEE(RE
losses) on trade and other receivables B R R ) 27(a) 4,590 (213)
Finance costs BRSO 6(a) 13,425 21,720
Investment income FEBA 5 (32,163) (4218)
Changes in fair value of financial assets UARBEAE8EZFH T ABEZNS
measured at FVPL MEENAABEEZD 14 155,576 -
Loss arising from changes in fair value of EMEEANBEESEEZEE
biological assets 5 16,065 -
Changes in working capital: LEEEY
Decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits SRFIERORL,(350) 30,000 (30,000)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories HFERD,(38m) 228,594 (232,157)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other Z 5 REMBRFIEGM), SR
receivables (101,077) 61261
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other B 5 REAEA BN, CFD)
payables 20,369 (45351)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHBEEN ) 27,064 (17,993)
Increase in deferred income IRIEY AL AN 1,629 13,504
Cash generated from/(used in) operation mEme (FTA)RE 704,487 (22,835)
Income tax paid BEASFTEH 24(a) (11,579) (5904)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BETBHME (A BRSFE
operating activities 692,908 (28,739)
Investing activities BRETEH
Payments for purchase of property, plant and ~ HEE Y% - BRE &R A K - A
equipment and land use rights RERTER (216,903) (257,544)
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BENAABESELEZEH A ABR
e REE (1,394,720) (632,621)
Redemption of financial assets at FVPL BRIAAREESE B EEBE B
MEREE 624,089 625819
Payments for purchase of time deposits i B E BF 2 R (165,000) =
Net proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « BERZEMGSRIEFEE
plant and equipment 394 317
Investment income received B U E YA 24,125 4218
Net cash used in investing activities REZEBFTARESTH (1,128,015) (259811)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBRESRER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)
BE2024F12A31 B ILFE(AARBIITR)

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kzt AR®T ARBETT
Financing activities RS EE
Gross proceeds from the issuance of shares FERABRARBEEEITRG
by initial public offering FriGsRIB4 26 = 752,727
Proceeds from the capital contributions, net HEFSHIE - RS
of transaction costs AR 26 - 285292
Issuance costs of the proposed issuance of EREITHRM BT
new shares 26 (1,297) (31,064)
Dividends paid to shareholders A AR B AR 2 18(b) (33,113) =
Proceeds from bank loans RITE RS IR 18(b) 845,000 1,100,010
Repayment of bank and other loans HRAT R H M B FUERK 18(b) (1,210,000) (484,498)
Capital element of lease rentals paid [EANEE-vitknt R Ncra=ia) 18(b) (26,550) (12,795)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2fRHEEEESNFEES 18(b) (2,672) (1522)
Finance costs paid BB A 18(b) (20,305) (9,136)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing ~ BESEEN(FTH),Fi8
activities ReFE (448,937) 1,599,014
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ReRELEEY
equivalents (R2),EmRE (884,044) 1310464
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ~FHRERBLSEEY
of the year 18(a) 1,427,218 120360
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes EXSEBHNTE 4,556 (3,606)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the ERBEERRESEEY
year 18(a) 547,730 1,427,218

The notes on pages 98 to 183 form part of these financial statements.

FINEISEEF 183 2 RIEME AR BIHMEK 2 — 710 -
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Jotes to the Financial Statements
5 %&i%iﬁ%% Bt 5E

| Corporate information
Shiyue Daotian Group Co., Ltd. (T ARBEEK D BR A F]) (the
"Company”) was established in Shenyang, Liaoning Province, the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 3 May 2018 as a limited liability
company. The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group") are
principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of pantry food in the
PRC.

The Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 12 October
2023.

2 Material accounting policies
(@)  Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (the "IASB"). These financial statements also

comply with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

(the "Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by the

Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected

in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2024 comprise the Group.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except that the
following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as

explained in the accounting policies set out below:

= Financial assets measured at FVPL (see Note 2(f)).

The Company and the Group has its functional currency in RMB

and the consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS
Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are

discussed in Note 3.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

(c)  Changes in accounting policies
The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these financial

statements for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to IAS |, Presentation of financial statements
— Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (2020
amendments”) and amendments to IAS |, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current liabilities with covenants
(2022 amendments”)

. Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a sale and

leaseback

. Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS
7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — Supplier finance

arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group's results and financial position for the current period have
been prepared or presented in this financial report. The Group
has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet

effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combination not under common
control using the acquisition method when control is transferred to
the Group (see Note 2(e)). The consideration transferred in the
acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable
net assets acquired. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred,

except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date
of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that
meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity,
then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within
equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at
fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or

loss.

Business combinations of entities under common control are
accounted for using the principle of merger accounting, under
which, the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statement items of the acquired entities or businesses in which
the common control combination occurs from the date when the
acquired entities or businesses first come under the control of the

controlling party.

The net assets of the acquired entities or businesses are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling party’s
perspective. The differences between the cost of acquisition (fair
value of consideration paid) and the amounts at which the assets
and liabilities are recorded (net of any reserves of the acquired
entities) have been recognised directly in equity as other reserve.

Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

2 EBEAREHBEGE)

(d)

TABEHAKERGERAT FEHE2024

EBast

EEVEERTARE  AERERBKE
ERIER—EH TEBAETEEE
(RKfEE2(e) - WBHHEEORE KRR
AREEE - MAKRBOAREBIFEE
R - XHERAEEERFH - HEREE
TEBIBMAEFETEERI

ERRXAREREER RN A EE
E XN EERmIATENIAREN
BEHD R AR  HERAAEHAE - H
REEEDZDAR - B EsAK
BESERSAMZ A EEENE -
FARBEAREENEREBHEERTHE

27
e

R—ZH THEEXBAHERAA S
RAIAR - Bt - HEMBERREEK
BERAEBERIIEH I EHE AL
BRFABRER—ZHEHHPTRBERNK
XM EHRAIAR -

P U RE B B s A5 1O B BV FE (AL
TAEFENRERAEAHAK - B
BRA(EMRENREER) BMESEE
RAERMEEERNEAMFE) 28
MEBCEENERERERSELMHE -
WIBRARE LR -

101



= S

2

102

N\ %‘es to the Financial Statements
%}ﬁ%iﬁ% B &

i & ressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
\\(RAFRIFERRSN - @B RARKT)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the

date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and
expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no

evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group's equity interests in a subsidiary that do not

result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former

subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an investment in a

subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(j)(ii)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,

are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at FVPL for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently

accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
® Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)
Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of

the following measurement categories:

= Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method (see Note 2(v)
(iii)), foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised

in profit or loss.

- Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") (recycling), if the
contractual cash flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
the collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as if the financial asset was measured at amortised
cost. The difference between the fair value and the
amortised cost is recognised in other comprehensive income
("OCI"). When the investment is derecognised, the amount

accumulated in OCl is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

= FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

(®)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL, unless the
equity investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in OCl. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. If such election is made for a particular
investment, at the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings and not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVPL or FVOC], are recognised in profit or loss as other income
(see Note 2(v)).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they
are measured at fair value with changes therein recognised in profit
or loss, except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge

accounting or hedges of net investment in a foreign operation.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (see Note 2(j)

(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate

proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see Note

2(x))-

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items

(major components).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Material accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and

equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual values, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and

is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods
are as follows:

— Plant and buildings 10 — 20 years
— Machinery and other equipment 3 — 10 years
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed

at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses (see
Note 2(j)(ii)). Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as
interest expense capitalised during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction
in progress is transferred to property, plant and equipment when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets for
their intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided for
in respect of construction in progress until it is completed and ready

for its intended use.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

@

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract

is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract conveys the

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the

customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset

and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.

(0

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a

single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a short lease term of |12 months or less,
and leases of low-value items. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value item, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not
capitalised, the associated lease payments are recognised in

profit or loss on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is recognised using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to profit

or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Notes 2(j)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced

to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided
for in the lease contract, if such modification is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease
term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be

settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") on financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents and trade and other

receivables).

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are not

subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Generally, credit losses are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls between the contractual and

expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls of trade and other receivables
are discounted using effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof if the effect is

material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
@) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

= |2-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that
result from default events that are possible within
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the instrument is less

than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the

items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured
at 12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low

credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e. the
risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased significantly

since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
@) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that

includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset

has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

= the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is | year past due.

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the

globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying

amount through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
@) Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial

asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the

following observable events:

= significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or being | year

past due;

= the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group
on terms that the Group would not consider

otherwise; or

= it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
This is generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts

subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or

loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories
and other contract costs) to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash

inflows of other assets or cash-generating units (“CGU'’s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal.
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time

value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable

amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are
allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets in the

CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that
the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been

recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal

criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes

20)() and (ii))

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end

of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

(k)  Biological assets
Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell, with any

change therein recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in fair value less cost to sell of biological assets are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

V)

Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their

present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the

sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the

period in which the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is recognised for the right
to recover products from customers sold with a right of

return. It is measured in accordance with Note 2(v)(i).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
U} Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)
(ii)  Other contract costs
Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as

inventories (see Note 2(I)(i)).

The Group takes advantage of practical expedient in
paragraph 94 of the IFRS |5 and recognises the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract as an expense if the amortisation
of the asset that the Group otherwise would have recognised

is one year or less.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Otherwise, costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property,
plant and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as

incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of
capitalised contract costs is recognised in profit or loss when
the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised (see
Note 2(v)(i)).

(m) Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(v)(i)). A contract liability is also recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such latter cases, a corresponding receivable is also recognised (see

Note 2(n)).
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

(n)

Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration and only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.

Receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost (see Note

20)(0)-

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLs (see Note 2())(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised costs unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at

invoice amounts.

Refund liabilities arising from rights of returns are recognised in

accordance with Note 2(v)(i).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense

is recognised in accordance with Note 2(x).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(r)  Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be

estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is

provided.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits

and when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments granted to employees is measured using the
binomial lattice model. The amount is generally recognised
as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for
which the related service conditions are expected to be met,
such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the
number of awards that meet the related service conditions
at the vesting date. The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is included in the amount recognised in share capital for the
shares issued) or the option expires (when it is released

directly to retained profits).

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

2 EXETHE(E)
(ry EEEF

(i)

(i)

(iii)

TABEHAKERGERAT FEHE2024

ERHIESEFRRERKEBMNAE
By

R HIE B4R A X ER 6 A R AR 75 B 1)
RAX o MEE TREBERS M
AEBEAFRERBEEZEERIHETE
BiE - WHEBESHEEHAIEED
Bt ZBERT  AREREFTR
XM EREMAERER -

REHRFERFENHKZEER
RUBABERERIIRME

REBIEF
BBEANRASETERDREH‘Z
98 A By Te R 5% (B i 2R B A B AR B
(AREBEHE[E)TIH -

R G BE#
BETREABRMDAERNBELR
MRHBEEEBRAAREBERAZE
AHERAGE - RSB RER
RAX - LHERBNGERAERE
BhniEs c BRSNS ET N
SEE - DA BRIE HATR 2 AR B AR S 1k
HHRBEE K< HREBRL
R A SRR B M AR R AR A R A A
RBBEREN - RESBERER
RETER  BEEBRERTE(E
BT AT BITROZBEARER
SRR BRIERE W (EBRIER
EERERBRENE)/L -

117



2

118

&

BIFERRSN

%‘es to the Financial Statements
) 7% 7R 3= MY RE

4 rg
.
» L) I
Mq;fm X (2 =

ssed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

C SREBLAARET)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

()

®

Redemption liabilities

A contract that contains an obligation for the Company to purchase
its own equity instruments for cash or another financial asset
gives rise to a financial liability even if the Company’s obligation to
purchase is conditional on the counterparty exercising its right to
redeem. The redemption liability is initially measured at the present
value of the redemption amount and subsequently measured at
amortised cost with interest expense being included in change in the

carrying amounts of financial instruments issued to investors.

The then carrying amount of the redemption liability is reclassified
to equity upon a termination of the counterparty’s redemption

right.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to
a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
OCl.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable
on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments
to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of
the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax

also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are

met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

®)

Income tax (Continued)

= temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences;

= temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries to
the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that

they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

= taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition

of goodwill; and

= those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-

operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use

assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences.
If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognhise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in
the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed

when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria

are met.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

liabiliy.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying
products or services are sold, based on historical warranty data
and a weighting of possible outcomes against their associated

probabilities.

A provision for onerous contract is measured at the present value
of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract, which is
determined based on the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation
under that contract and an allocation of other costs directly related
to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established, the
Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with

that contract (see Note 2(j)(ii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic

benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to

the carrying amount of the provision.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

)

Revenue and other income
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods or the provision of services in the ordinary course

of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after

deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession
of and accepts the products. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other goods, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion
of the total transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the goods promised under the contract on a

relative stand-alone selling price basis.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable

consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Sale of goods (Continued)

The Group offers certain customers for the sale of goods
with rights of return and retrospective volume rebates when
their purchases reach an agreed threshold. Such rights of

return and volume rebates give rise to variable consideration.

The Group uses an expected value approach to estimate
variable consideration based on the Group's current and
future performance expectations and all information that
is reasonably available. This estimated amount is included in
the transaction price to the extent it is highly probable that
a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is resolved. At the time of sale of goods,
the Group recognises revenue after taking into account
adjustment to transaction price arising from returns and
rebates as mentioned above. A refund liability is recognised
for the expected returns and rebates, and is included in
other payables. A right to recover returned goods (included
in inventories) and corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales are also recognised for the right to recover products
from customers. This right to recover returned goods is
measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory
less any expected costs to recover goods (including potential

decreases in the value of the returned goods).

Service income

Service income is recognised when the services are rendered.
When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than
as the principal in a transaction, the revenue is recognised
when the related agent services are rendered at the net
amount of commission received or to be received by the

Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(v)  Revenue and other income (Continued)

(ii)

()

")

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. The “effective interest rate” is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. In calculating interest income,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired).
However, for financial assets that have become credit-
impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer
credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income

reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised
as other income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial
position and are subsequently recognised in profit or loss

over the useful life of the asset.

Dividends
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date

on which the Group's right to receive payment is established.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

W)

Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective
functional currencies of group companies at the foreign exchange

rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency

differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing

costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or

complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(y)  Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

0]

(i

(ii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or the Group's parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

0)

0)

(ii)

(iv)

\Y)

(i)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member

of a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).
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Material accounting policies (Continued)

(¥)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (Continued)

(viiy A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or isa member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group's
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various

lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material

may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Accounting judgements and estimates
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Note 27 contains information about the assumptions and their risk factors

relating to fair value of financial instruments.

4 Revenue and segment reporting
(@) Revenue
The principal activities of the Group are the manufacturing and
sales of staple food. All of the revenue of the Group is recognised
at a point in time. Further details regarding the Group's principal
activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

Disaggregation of revenue by primary products is disclosed in Note

4(0)(0).

For the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, the Group's
customers with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the
Group's revenue in the respective years are as follows. Details of

concentrations of credit risk of the Group are set out in Note
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27(a).

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBETIT
Company A* DNAA* 1,193,885 1,182,199
Company B* NG 659,325 810,707

* Revenue from the products of all four segments. * REMAMLEDIPERSRE

The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
[21 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose the remaining performance
obligation as all of the Group’s sale contracts have an original

expected duration of less than one year.
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Revenue and segment reporting (Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by products. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group's most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following four reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable

segments.

. Rice products: this segment mainly produces pre-packaged

rice products of different varieties.

. Corn products: this segment mainly produces pre-packaged

corn products.

0 Whole grain, bean and other products: this segment mainly
produces pre-packaged mixed brown rice, millet, red bean

and sesame.

C Dried food and other products: this segment mainly produces
pre-packaged wood ear mushrooms, snow fungus mushroom
and lotus seeds, as well as by-products, such as bran, husk

and fractioned rice.

As revenue from corn products witnessed a significant increase in
2024, it is expected that corn products will help generate stable
cashflows, and the growth in revenue of corn products will be a
good opportunity for the Group to diversify its product matrix
and revenue streams to improve the financial performance and
profitability of the Group. The Group's most senior executive
management considered the adoption of new segment is
appropriate, and the comparative data of segments for the year

ended 31 December 2023 has been restated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued)

(b)  Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results attributable to

each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments. The
measure used for reporting segment result is gross profit.
No inter-segment sales have occurred for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. Assistance provided by one

segment to another is not measured.

The Group’s other operating income and expenses, such
as other net income, selling and distribution expenses,
administrative expenses and impairment losses, and assets
and liabilities are not measured under individual segments.
Accordingly, neither information on segment assets and
liabilities nor information concerning capital expenditure,

interest income and interest expenses is presented.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 3| December
2024 and 2023 is set out below.
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E |
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4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued) 4 WERDERE(E)
(b)  Segment reporting (Continued) (b) DEHmE(HE)
(i)  Segment results (Continued) () DEB¥EEE)
2024
20245
Whole
grain, bean  Dried food
Rice Corn and other and other
products products products products Total
e R HER

AkER FRER REtER W HitE: st
RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR AREMTR

Revenue from external customers REIMIEFRIE R

and reportable segment revenue BE e 4,014,456 815,108 469,536 446215 5745315
Reportable segment gross profit AREDHER 629,307 245,540 100,966 43559  1,019372
2023
2ABE
Whole
grain, bean  Dried food
Corn and other and other
Rice products products products products Total
Eia ek HER
AXER FAER RAt#Em EthES @t

RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB00O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARETT ARBTL ARBTT ARETT ARETL

Revenue from external customers REIMIEF RN R

and reportable segment revenue AHED B 3830303 130801 470,699 435023 4867026

Reportable segment gross profit RESHER 440920 31327 109,207 37,262 618716
(ii)  Geographic information (i) HMEZH

The Group does not have material assets or operation REBUWENFEIRINEEERE
outside the PRC. All of the Group’s revenue is generated BERER - AEEHRE 2R E
from its customers in the PRC. Hence, no segment analysis ERFBENES - @At - WEZ7
based on geographical location of the customers and assets is EREPREEMBUENSHS
presented. e
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

5  Other net income 5  HAFHE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Interest income FLEW A 6,797 4565
Net income from sales of raw materials HERERM B A S5 5716 2,508
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERZER
equipment EE (2,221) (1,537)
Loss arising from changes in fair value of EMEEAABEEHER
biological assets (16,065) -
Investment income KEWA 32,163 4218
Government grants T4 B 10,615 13,959
Reversal of provision/(provision) for an RAEERRGR
outstanding legal claim o (5H48) 3,642 (20,000)
40,647 3713
6 Profit/(loss) before taxation 6 BRBADRR,(E18)
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging; BRAATEF](E18) SR U TS BEEF T -
(@)  Finance costs (@) BAFEELA
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT
Interest on bank loans RITEFFAE 19,709 9,790
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 2,672 1,522
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss fE X, (W) EiE (8,956) 10,408
13,425 21,720
No borrowing costs have been capitalised for each of the years BIE2024F R2023F 12A3IBLEFESE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. F - HEBERKEEERE -
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6 Profit/(loss) before taxation (Continued) 6 BRBADER,(F518) (&)
(b)  Staff costs BT

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARETT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENMEMESR 277,219 251,170
Contributions to defined contribution FEHFRAET IR

retirement schemes 18,855 20,731

296,074 271,90

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group participate in
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme managed by
the local government authorities, whereby these subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the schemes for the years ended 3|
December 2024 and 2023. Employees of these subsidiaries are
entitled to retirement benefits, calculated based on a percentage of
the average salaries level in the PRC, from the above-mentioned

retirement scheme at their normal retirement age.

The Group has no further obligation for payment of other
retirement benefits beyond the above contributions. Contributions
to the scheme vest immediately, there is no forfeited contributions
that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of

contribution.
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Profit/(loss) before taxation (Continued)

Other items

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3 3= B &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

6 BRBAER(EE) (E)
(c) HfbEHE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARMET T

Cost of inventories* (Note |6) FERA(HiF6) 4,725,943 4248310

Depreciation” (Notes || and 12) FrEs (et 1 & 12)

— owned property, plant and equipment —BEME - BEREE 84,872 69,794

— right-of-use assets —(EREEE 28,952 16911

Rental expenses” HEMRX* 2,892 2,057

Auditors' remuneration ZHETH S 4,800 4,000

Listing expenses EmAX - 45,947

& Cost of inventories includes RMB194.0 million relating to staff costs, & BHZE2024F 12RA31ALFE - BETL
depreciation expenses and rental expenses for the year ended 3| BA - FERZIREERINFERR
December 2024 (2023: RMB142.0 million), which is also included in RARMKEI19408 8 T(2023F : AR
the respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in Note 14208 &7T) - ZBEBEITH R A £/

6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

Income tax

Mizte(o) MZSHERIM XS B BEBRE
MBRESD o

7 B
Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (a) HEBEEREMZEARARPNFER
other comprehensive income represents: -
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBETT
Current taxation BNEAFR I8 19,997 6,092
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7 Income tax (Continued) 7 FiSE (&)
(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at (b) BEMEAXHEHGSHHRAUEARRITENY
applicable tax rates: iR :
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFRT ARBTT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREATR R, (E518) 224,370 (58,771)
Expected tax on profit/(loss) before taxation, — FRFELATGF,(E18)TEEIFIIE @ 2B
calculated at the rates applicable to profits BT R AR MR B AR Gt
in the tax jurisdictions concerned E(MEEG))
(Note (i)) 56,093 (14,693)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses RIHNRL R 2 B IS = 2 (B =Gy
(Note (ii)) 35,856 46,674
Effect of PRC tax concession (Note (iii)) B B Y R (B i) (93,410) (45,789)
Tax effect of withholding tax in connection BUAAEESEBEEH A8
with the dividend income received from BENRSMAB BRI TENT 2 5
FVPL SR (1,206) =
Tax effect of utilisation of prior years' unused BN LRI AR BEFEREHH
tax losses previously not recognised BEBNBBTE (984) (134)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and deductble ~ RFERAIAR BB EE L Al Y
temporary differences not recognised FIEZRENBBTE 23,648 20,034
Income tax FR1GH 19,997 6,092
Notes: Bt
0) The subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC are subject to (0 RAEBEKINAESERBRRNEBE
PRC Corporate Income Tax rate of 25% for the years ended 3| 2024 20234 12 A3 HIEFE - 78R
December 2024 and 2023. 25%H) H B b ZE PTG TR R ANTY o
(i) Tax effect of non-deductible expenses mainly represent the changes (i) TAMBRT NN ETEERTT
in the carrying amount of financial instruments issued to investors REEZN R I ANKREEZ S RIBER
and certain other costs and expenses, which all are not deductible in PEAERE T AR B T A F0 B )8 T H
accordance with relevant tax regulations in the PRC and loss arising B AT A - DA RARYR R 4 M A
from changes in FVPL which is not deductible in accordance with SHABBEARB NI MKRMNEAAE
relevant tax regulations in the British Virgin Islands. Bt HHEEHA ABm 2 @HEE -
(iif) In accordance with relevant tax regulations in the PRC, the Group's iy WEPBEEABEHGESR @ AEBEERE
business in primary processing of agricultural products is eligible for mIIMNIEBE ERERRHMBAET -

income tax exemption.

(c)  Pillar Two income taxes

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
Group's exposure from the enactment of the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation

and Development and considers that the enactment of the rules

() ZHEZFEH

is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
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Directors’ emoluments

Details of emoluments of directors and supervisors are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3 3= B &

8 EEMe

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

EXREENOMSFHBERIINT

2024
20245
Salaries, Retirement
Directors’ allowances and Discretionary scheme
fees benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2ER RIK
Esng EVEN  WERAL FrEfE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR%®TR ARETR AR%¥TrR AR®T:R
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Wang Bing TR%HE - 1,019 160 58 1,237
Ms. Zhao Wenjun BNELL - 640 100 38 778
Ms. Zhao Shulan AR L = 616 100 19 735
Mr. Shu Minghe HHELE - 354 54 29 437
Mr. Zou Hao PRAHE - 2,668 1,500 66 4234
- 5,297 1,914 210 7421
Non-executive director FBTES
Mr. Chang Bin FREE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BYEHITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat hEERE 360 - - = 360
Mr. Shi Ketong FR@EE 360 - - = 360
Mr. Lin Chen MREE 360 - - = 360
1,080 - - - 1,080
Supervisors 2=z
Mr. He Yang LS - 928 350 66 1,344
Mr. Li Xiang FEEY - 524 300 66 890
Ms. Wang Zhijuan FHEatT - 309 180 32 521
- 1,761 830 164 2,755
1,080 7,058 2,744 374 11,256
TAEHEEROGERAR FEHRE2024
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8 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 8 EEMe (&)
2023
WBF
Salaries, Retirement
Directors'  allowancesand  Discretionary scheme
fees  benefits in kind bonuses  contributions Total
¥ 2R IR
EXHE EYEN  BBRA X @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000

ARETR  AR%TE ARMTR ARETL ARETRL

Executive directors YTEZ
Mr. Wang Bing FEEE - 1019 80 58 1,157
Ms. Zhao Wenjun HXERT = 640 50 38 728
Ms. Zhao Shulan ARt - 666 - 19 685
Mr. Shu Minghe EAERE - 354 7 29 410
Mr. Zou Hao BR%HE = 2465 960 63 3488
Mr. Shen Nanpeng (resigned on 3 March 2023) B EAE(R0BFIA3EEHE) = = = = =
Mr. Yu Feng (resigned on 3 March 2023) B4 (K033 A3BEHT) - - - - -
= 5,144 1117 207 6468
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Chang Bin BHSEE - - - - -
Mr. Mohamed Albadr (appointed on 17 January 2023 Mohamed Albadr$t 4 (78203 1 A 178
and resigned on 3 March 2023) EZATR0BEIA3BEHT) - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUKHTES
Mr, Yeung Chi Tat (appointed on 12 October 2023)  #i@ LA (FR203F 107 12HEZE(T) 79 - - - 79
Mr. Shi Ketong (appointed on 12 October 2023) FRBEEROBEIOR NAEET) 79 = = = 79
Mr. Lin Chen (appointed on 12 October 2023) MREE(RNBEFI0A 12BRZE) 79 = = = 79
37 = = = 37
Supervisors E=x
Ms. Zhao Shujuan (resigned on 6 January 2023) HRERT (K03 AeREHT) - - - - -
Mr. He Yang (Bt = 905 300 63 1,268
Mr., Li Xiang £ = 507 250 6! 818
Ms. Wang Zhijuan FEfRRt = 292 |44 27 463
= 1,704 694 I5] 2549
37 6,848 1811 358 954
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Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

These directors’ emoluments disclosed above included compensations for services
rendered by them as key management personnel prior to their appointments as
directors of the Company.

For the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, no director or supervisor has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments and no amounts were paid or payable
by the Group to the directors and the supervisors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any office in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

Individuals with highest emoluments

The number of directors, supervisor and other employees included in the
five highest paid individuals for the years ended 3| December 2024 and
2023 are set forth below:

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

ESMe(E)
Hrat

EXFENZEEENERREREERERARRE
EAEETIREEABMRFERBOHDH -

HZE2024F K2023F 12A3 I HILEFE - HEESEKE
ENERRAERECWHNE  EAEBETEL [k E
NEERESFHE - EARSIEMAKXEELMAR
EERENREIBIAEETAKNERRBEEHE

IR E(E -

BEHMAL

HZE2024FK2023F 12A3IHIEFE AH&
SFMALHNES EELHMEENHAR
AT

2024 2023

20244 2023F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AZ

Directors S 2 2
Supervisor BEE | |
Other employees HiESs 2 2
5 5

+TEBREERAERAT FEHE2024 137



= S

9

10

138

%‘es to the Financial Statements
%}ﬁ%iﬁ% B &

i & ressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
\\(RAFRIFERRSN - @B RARKT)

Individuals with highest emoluments (Continued)
The emoluments of the directors and supervisor are disclosed in Note 8.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining highest paid

individuals, are as follows:

9

REEHMA L (E)
EEREENHFMRH T RE - Hffk

Tt
et

A L Fr BN AR EREZ a0 T

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBETTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RAREYER 2,098 1,674
Discretionary bonuses BOIETEAL 250 229
Retirement scheme contributions RIRSET B 133 126

2,481 2,029

The emoluments of the individual who is not director or supervisor and
who is amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group is within the

following band:

ZEVHAEHEETAEEFAUNTERSH
AL ZALTHEHBENT

2024 2023

2024 2023%F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AH AEL

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 #7T 2 1,500,000/ 7T 2 2

For the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to these individuals as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Earnings/(loss) per share

(@)  Basic earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share for the years
ended 3| December 2024 and 2023 is based on the profit/(loss)
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue or deemed

to be in issue for the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Earnings/(loss) per share (Continued)

(@)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (Continued)

The Company was converted into a joint stock limited liability
company and issued 99,445,074 shares with the par value of RMBI
each on 6 January 2023. For the purpose of computing basic
earnings/(loss) per share, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares deemed to be in issue before the Company's conversion into
a joint stock limited liability company was determined assuming the
conversion into joint stock limited liability company had occurred on
| January 2023, at the conversion ratio established in the conversion
in January 2023 and takes into account of the share split at a one-

for-ten basis immediately upon listing.

The financial instruments issued to investors with preferential
rights were treated as treasury stock and debited to other reserve
before the termination of preferential rights as described in Note
22. Accordingly, before the termination of preferential rights, the
shares converted from related paid-in capital was deducted when

calculating the number of ordinary shares deemed in issue.

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity

shareholders of the Company

10

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

SREFN (BB (&)

(@)

BREXRBR (FHE) (&)
RARBR2023F 1 A6 B HI B ER
NR)  BETT99,445,074 R EE AR
TRIRR o Bt EERERRR (FE)
ME - ARENHE AN ERD AR
REBTHNERROMNETHE - DK
BRE&EN2023F | AIHENH ABRNHERA
A] v LA20234F | A 2 B T S ) HR IR L 3R
BE Bt REEEMEE - TEEE
TR MIFAETE -

AREERTHOHFELENSRITAR
BEBKIEABRAEFR M LA AR
22/ ) - Eitt - REEER
AT - HEABSRAE RN ERIES
T E BB -

FRAEERERREGCFABR (&
%)

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBETT
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to all RARIFEERREEFA
equity shareholders of the Company wH(E518) 204,373 (64,863)
Allocation of profit for the year attributable MR EEEITH ST ARG
to financial instruments issued to investors FREN DB (HEE2)
(Note 22) - (2,462)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RABE BERRRIEEFA
ordinary equity shareholders of the A, (E18)
Company 204,373 (67,325)
tABEEERGERAR FEHs024 139
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10  Earnings/(loss) per share (Continued) 10 BREF(EHE)(H)
(@)  Basic earnings/(loss) per share (Continued) () EREXERF(EE) (&)
Weighted average number of shares R mE-F58E
2024 2023
20245 20234
No. of shares No. of shares
R EE ignEE!
’000 ‘000
FR T
Ordinary shares deemed to be in issue at | RIAIBRAEETHERR
January 1,068,153 994,450
Effect of ordinary shares deemed to be in RARBBITERRNZE
issue = 19,350
Effect of shares issued by initial public offering & i B X AMBEEFTEITRNDHFE = 11,706
Effect of the financial instruments issued to MREEETEMTANTE
investors (Note 22) (Mf3E22) - (226,656)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  (#/%) B 3178 & @A INHE FH9 £
(deemed to be) in issue 1,068,153 798,850
(b)  Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) SREBHEF (FHE)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

There is no dilutive potential shares outstanding for the year ended
31 December 2024 and the dilutive earnings per share is the same
as basic earnings per share. For the year ended 3| December 2023,
the Group's potential ordinary shares are from financial instruments
issued to investors with preferential rights (Note 22). The potential
ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of diluted loss
per share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly,
diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 are

the same as basic loss per share for the year.
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B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

Property, plant and equipment I Y% BERRKE
Machinery
Plant and and other  Construction
buildings equipment in progress Total
IR E MR
BERET # EEIRE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®BTT AREBTT AR¥ETR
Cost: AR
At | January 2023 R2023% 1 HIH 462,529 394,325 84,376 941,230
Additions NE 231 27974 138,787 166,992
Transfers in/(out) BA(8BH) 51,051 100,684 (151,735) =
Disposals He (1352) (3,560) = (4912)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 12831 H K
| January 2024 2024 1 A1 H 512,459 519,423 71,428 1,103,310
Additions NE 1,522 15,540 163,159 180,221
Transfers in/(out) BA(BH) 57,892 86,433 (144,325) -
Disposals He (246) (6,056) - (6,302)
At 31 December 2024 2024 12A31H 571,627 615,340 90,262 1,277,229
Accumulated depreciation: KIHE -
At | January 2023 202351 A1 B (23,275) (55,395) = (78,670)
Charge for the year FAX (22,538) (47,256) = (69,794)
Written back on disposals HER D 193 2,829 - 3,022
At 31 December 2023 and 20235 12A31 8 &
| January 2024 20241 A1R (45,620) (99,822) - (145,442)
Charge for the year FAZH (26,199) (58,673) = (84,872)
Written back on disposals HEEE 139 3,042 - 3,181
At 31 December 2024 2024 12A31H (71,680) (155,453) = (227,133)
Net book value BREFE
At 31 December 2024 2024 12 A31H 499,947 459,887 90,262 1,050,096
At 31 December 2023 2023 12A31H 466,839 419,601 71,428 957,868

At 31 December 2024, certificates of certain plant and buildings of the
Group with carrying amount of RMBI09.1 million (31 December 2023:

RMB152.7 million) are yet to be obtained.

M2024F 128318 » AEEETHREEAEBEAAR
109 B& (2023 128318 AR 527

BETT) MRS RETF H AR

e
SHEE o
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12 Right-of-use assets 12 EREEE
Land-use-rights Properties Farm Total
+ b fE AR L/ES BS #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AREBTT ARKETRT
Cost: AR :
At | January 2023 M2023F 1 AR 114,543 277253 - 141,796
Additions NE 51,383 12,144 15,849 79376
Reductions due to early termination  AHERTAR 1 s> - (5,302) - (5,302)
Reductions due to expiration of BRI 7 49 21| B i s >
leases - (3,060) - (3,060)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 12431 H K
| January 2024 20241 A1 H 165,926 31,035 15,849 212,810
Additions NE 27,834 11,001 57,287 96,122
Reductions due to early termination  FERBTAL LR A - - (17,743) (17,743)
Reductions due to expiration of EFR A EA R
leases - (1,368) (512) (1,880)
At 31 December 2024 R20244 12831 A 193,760 40,668 54,881 289,309
Accumulated depreciation: Z2FHITE :
At | January 2023 20231 A 1B (6,280) (5.964) = (12,244)
Charge for the year FAZH (3.016) (11,634) (2,261) (16911)
Reductions due to early termination ~ F$ZATAX LEfim 4> = 2,500 = 2,500
Reductions due to expiration of PRI A8 40 21| R st
leases = 3,060 = 3,060
At 31 December 2023 and 2023 124318 &
| January 2024 2024F1 A1 H (9,296) (12,038) (2,261) (23,595)
Charge for the year FAZ M (3,811) (9,748) (15,393) (28,952)
Reductions due to early termination 4 ATAX L s 4> - - 1,387 1,387
Reductions due to expiration of 78 29 2 B i R 2>
leases - 1,368 512 1,880
Al e . NIaFDHESIE (13109 (20418) (5753 . (49.280)
Net book value BREFE
At 31 December 2024 20245 12 H31H 180,653 20,250 39,126 240,029
At 31 December 2023 2023 12H31H 156,630 18997 13,588 189,215
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B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRFEFRIGERRSN - BB RARBIT)
2 Right-of-use assets (Continued) 12 FERAEEE(E)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or MEERPRANEEEBENFZER HTH0
loss is as follows: N
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EREEENEER 28,952 16911
Expense relating to short-term leases R EATH EAERE RIS 2,892 2,057
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEABEME(HiT6() 2,672 1522
34516 20,490

Detalils of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease

liabilities are set out in Notes 18(c) and 27(b), respectively.

EHHENAEReREAREERENI G

AN ZFHED BRI 18(c) & 27(b) °
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Right-of-use assets (Continued)

0]

(if)

Land-use-right premiums were paid by the Group for land situated
in the PRC. The remaining lease terms fall within the ranges of
42 years to 50 years. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire these land-use-rights, there are no ongoing payments to be

made under the terms of the land lease.

At 31 December 2024, certificates of certain land-use-rights of the
Group with carrying amount of RMBI4.7 million (31 December
2023: RMBI 1.9 million) are yet to be obtained.

The Group has obtained the right to use the properties as its
warehouse and offices and to use the farm to plant through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of | to 9

years.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional
period after the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the
Group seeks to include such extension options exercisable by the
Group to provide operational flexibility. The Group assesses at lease
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise
the extension options. If the Group is not reasonably certain to
exercise the extension options, the future lease payments during
the extension periods are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities. For existing leases as at 31 December 2024, the Group is
not reasonably certain to exercise any extension options therefore
did not include future lease payments during the extension periods
in the measurement of lease liabilities. None of the leases includes

variable lease payments.
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(BHBIERRSN - SHBBARETT)
REE A RK RS

TERSITENEARELE  AERBME
P 2 R B0 o

I3 Interests in subsidiaries 13

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which

principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

Place of

establishment

Particulars of registered/

Proportion of

ownership interest

Company name and business paid-in capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BV ERARE
RAER MR EEDE BAGE  FRERESLS IEEHR
Wuchang City Caigiao Rice Industry Co, Ltd. The PRC RMB 100,000,000/ 100%  Production and sale of rice
("Wuchang Caigiao”) * (i) RMB100,000,000 and other products
AETURREERRA(HEZED () RE AR#1000000007T, EEREKREM
AR%100,0000007C Em
Shenyang Xinchang Grain Trade Co,, Ltd. The PRC RMB 100,000,000/ 100%  Production and sale of rice,
(“Shenyang Xinchang”) * (i) RMB100,000,000 grains, beans, dried food
and other products
BHEERRESERAR(NESEE D () hE ARH 1000000007t HEHEAK B
AR%100,0000007C 28 wRRit
Em
Shiyue Daotian Songyuan Agricuttural Technology Co, Ltd. * (i) The PRC RMB30,000,000/ 100%  Production and sale of rice
RMB30,000,000
T ABERRRBEREER A () R ARE300000007T,/ EEBEERR
AR #30,000,0007C
Shiyue Daotian (Aohangi) Agricultural Technology Co,, Ltd. * () The PRC RMB30,000,000/ 100%  Production and sale of
RMB30,000,000 grains
T ARE (GRS REREABRAF" () hE AR%300000007T,/ EEHRERN
AR#30,000,0007T
Shiyue Daotian (Beijing) Technology Development Co, Ltd. * (i)~ The PRC RMB20,000,000/ 100%  Technology services
RMB20,000,000
TABROLR)BEERGRAR) RE AR%200000007T, BB
AR #20,000,0007T
Tonghe County Caigiao Rice Industry Co,Ltd. * (i) The PRC RMB35,000,000/ 100%  Production and sale of rice
RMB35,000,000
BAGHEREBRAR () FE AR 35,0000007T,/ 100% EEHEAK
AR 3500000070
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.
I3 Interests in subsidiaries (Continued) 13 REARAERE (&)
Place of Proportion of
establishment Particulars of registered/  ownership interest
Company name and business paid-in capital held by the Company  Principal activities

BV ¢ FRARE

NEAER B RE R BAFE  RERSLS EEER
Shenyang Zhongxin Grain Trade Co, Ltd. * (i) The PRC RMBI,000,000/ 100%  Purchase of rice and other
RMB,000,000 products
BLRERRESERAA" () i AR¥1,00000070, BEARRAMER
AR 1,0000007T
Wuchang City Qiuman Agricultural Co,, Ltd. * (i) The PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 100%  Production and sale of rice
RMB5,000,000 and other products
ARMRREEBB A" () F AR #5,0000007T,” 100% HEHEAKREM
AR#5,000,0007 Em
Shiyue Daotian (Shenyang) Agricuttural Planting Co, Ltd. * (i) The PRC RMB ,000,000/ 100%  Production and sale of
RMBI,000,000 grains
1+ ABECER) BERBER A () R AR 1,0000007T,” EEEESY

AR 0000007T

Intelligent Frog Ltd. The British Virgin UsD50,000/ 100%  Investment activities
Islands USD50,000
Intelligent Frog Ltd. RBRARES 50000%7T,/ 100% REXH
50,000% 7T
£ The English translation of the names are for reference only and the official * EXZFEEEL2ERLEEBZEALHAT

names of these entities are in Chinese.

(@) These companies are limited liability companies established in the mainland
China.
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(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

4  Financial assets measured at FVPL 14 LUAREBEsTEEEHSFHFTAEZENERH
BE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARMETIT

Non-current assets FRBEE

— Listed equity investments (Note (i)) — _EiRRER A (HEG) 615,055 =

0) The Group does not intend to dispose the listed equity investments within (i) f% E%miﬁ%‘iﬁﬂ ?é‘ff:fﬁ A ﬁ E%E
twelve months after the reporting period and classifies the investments as MRERE - WZEREDERIERDEE -

non-current assets.

I5 Other non-current assets 15 HMEREBEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARMET T

Prepayments for construction in progress and TERET AR Rt (s AT
land-use-rights FIE 25,780 20,490
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Inventories 16 7FE

2024 2023

20244 20234F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETTT

Raw materials R 870,041 1,183,751
Work in progress R 87,772 57,100
Finished goods BURK MR 363,866 343,286
Packaging materials BEME 50,439 33,613
1,372,118 1,617,750
Less: write-down of inventories R TFEMOR (11,949) (12,922)
1,360,169 1,604,828

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and

included in profit or loss is as follows:

EER/AXLFABRENFESEITAOT

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBETT

Carrying amount of inventories sold B EFEMERHEE 4,726,916 4,237,882
(Reversal of write-down)/write-down of & (MUsEm),/ #Us

inventories (973) 10,428

4,725,943 4248310
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I7  Trade and other receivables 17 EBSRHEAMEKRRE
2024 2023
2024F 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARMETTT

Trade receivables from: REATATHE S EKFIE -

— third parties —%=5 383,188 245,634

Less: loss allowance IR (5,763) (2,882)
377,425 242,752

Bills receivables FEUE & 8,789 92,406

Dividend receivable FEY A B 8,038 -

Prepayments for TERTFOE

— raw materials, logistics and others —RME - Y R EA 20,805 21,872

— advertising services — BERSS 84,343 3,169
105,148 25,041

Value added tax recoverable Al Bl (AR 82,289 125,970

Deposits and amounts due from the JEME B aRE S MR

e-commerce platforms 13,582 9,890
Deposits for bidding and purchase of T AREREREERES
land-use-rights 1,657 1,657

Other receivables H b U FKIR 931 364

Other deposits HibRFE® 11,858 7,112
110,317 144,993

Trade and other receivables B 5 KA MR 609,717 505,192

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or BB 5 REMBUFIETERN —FA WD 5k

recognised as expenses within one year. ERR/FX -
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I7  Trade and other receivables (Continued) 17 EBEZRHEMEKRNREGE)
Ageing analysis BRIER 2 AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the Group's HEREHR  AEBERELZAHNESE
trade receivables (net of loss allowance), based on the invoice date, is as WK (MR SR EE) RESITOT
follows:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARMET T

Within 3 months 3MEAR 371,937 218,773
4 to 6 months 4Z 618 A 4,988 15,174
7 to 12 months 7E21218A 299 8714
Over | year | A E 201 9l

377,425 242,752
Details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from trade EHRAEEEERRULE S RIFEE AR
receivables are set out in Note 27(a). EERBEFERNME27R) °
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I8 Cash on hand and at bank and other cash flow information I8 FHEEKRTESRHMBEESREBER
(@ Cash on hand and at bank () FHERHETHRS

2024 2023

2024F 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBFT

Cash on hand and at bank FHEMRITRE 712,972 1457218
Less: Time deposits B EHER (165,000) -
Restricted deposits (Note) BRI (B EE) (242) (30,000)

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated ~ 4RAIRERERMRE K

statement of cash flows REeEEY 547,730 1427218
As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents situated in M2024F 12A318 LR B AREMIRES KR

Chinese Mainland amounted to RMB482.5 million (2023: RMB745.1

million).

Note: The restricted deposits in 2024 represent bank deposits to secure
the performance and retentions of construction contracts. The
restricted deposits in 2023 frozen by the court due to litigation of
certain subsidiaries of the Group has been unfrozen in 2024.

(b)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

SEEMAANRE485BET(20234F : ARK
7451 B8 TT) °

M - 2024F ZRHNFRIERNRBR LA RBETHN

% SHRITFER 203 FAAREBE TH B

7%$ﬁ“ﬁw£mﬁ#mx@ﬂrmaﬁ
mmi%%%

(b) METHELENEEHIER
TRAJNAKSERETDHNEEES B
FReNFRSEY - EXERETIN
BEAEBRERECRIRKRREREH

RAKEEGEBRESRERSPBARELTH
FERERENAE
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I8 Cash on hand and at bank and other cash flow information 18 FHERETHEERHEMEESHEER(E)

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities by BMETBELENEEHR(E)
(Continued)
Dividends
Bank loans  Lease liabilities payable Total
RITEX HEAE FERRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®T R AR®BTFT
(Note 21) (Note 23)
(Kf&E21) (F&£23)
At | January 2024 R202451 18 1,011,071 32,366 - 1,043,437
Changes from financing cash flows: FERE&RELE) :
Dividends paid to shareholders Bl ENRPEs - = (33,113) (33,113)
Proceeds from bank loans RITEFRETEFIE 845,000 = = 845,000
Repayment of bank loans RITEFER (1,210,000) - - (1,210,000)
Finance costs paid [BANEIE DN (20,305) = = (20,305)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ BAFAERENAE S - (26,550) - (26,550)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B2 EH S HIF EFH - (2,672) - (2,672)
Total changes from financing cash RMERSREEDEE
flows (385,305) (29,222) (33,113) (447,640)
Other changes: Hg g :
Increase in lease liabilities HEAREM - 68,288 - 68,288
Reductions in lease liabilities due to & B EEEATAR LR D
early termination - (16,862) - (16,862)
Dividends declared EEIRKE - - 33,113 33,113
Finance costs BABRRA 19,709 2,672 - 22,38
Total other changes Hih & Ehiase 19,709 54,098 33,113 106,920
At 3| December 2024 M20245F12H31 8 645,475 57,242 - 702,717
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Cash on hand and at bank and other cash flow information

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BMETHELENEBEYIR(E)
(Continued)
Financial
Bank and other instruments issued
loans Lease liabilities to investors Total
RITR miREE
EER HEBRE BITHLRIA @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
NS NS NS ARBFT
(Note 21) (Note 23) (Note 22)
(Fifzxal) (Fi#5E23) (Pi322)
At | January 2023 R2023EFI1A1H 394,905 20,006 2,380,161 2,795,072
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRELD
Proceeds from bank and other loans ROTRAMEFRAEHE 1,100010 - - 1,100,010
Proceeds from the issuance of financial MEEEETERIAMSG
instruments to investors, net of FIE - HBRRHHA
transaction costs - - 285,292 285292
Repayment of bank and other loans RITRAMETER (484,498) = = (484,498)
Finance costs paid BRBBMA (9.136) = = (9.136)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BREERENAL TS = (12,795) = (12,795)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEERS MR SRS - (1522) - (1522)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BAR&RELBBE 606,376 (14317) 285292 877,351
Other changes: Hit@ 5
Increase in lease labilities HERBEN - 27993 - 27993
Reductions in lease liabilities due to early & & BEEIEAILR E TR
termination - (2,838) - (2838)
Changes in the carrying amount of MREERTHERIAREE
financial instruments issued to 2y
investors = = 181,141 181,141
Exchange adjustments S = = 422 422
Expiration of the redemption rights upon  AVABIRR{) 14 & B 5 H
the listing of the Company's shares - - (2847,016) (2847,016)
Finance costs BTSN 9,790 1522 - 11312
Total other changes At &8ss 9,790 26,677 (2,665453) (2,628986)
At 31 December 2023 RW2023F12R31H 1,011,071 32366 - 1,043,437
TABBEKERGERAT FEHRE2024
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RIFERRSN - SFBRABARKT)

Cash on hand and at bank and other cash flow information 18

(Continued)

(c)  Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows

represent leases rental paid and comprise the following:

otes to the Financial Statements
J %&i%iﬁ%% B =E

{1 Ny
&

(© HENRSRLGE

SUWEFBATIER :

FRERBTREREMBRESREEN(H)

AAGRERERERNEEAETHNAEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFT
Within operating cash flows REERERENAN (2,892) (2,057)
Within investing cash flows PREREMEAN (27,834) (66,951)
Within financing cash flows REEHRESRENAN (29,222) (14,317)
(59,948) (83325)
Trade and other payables 19 EBEZRHMEMNRKE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBTT
Trade payables B 5
— Third parties —%=5 152,677 137,566
Payables for staff related costs BB TR AR 53,724 38,365
Payables for construction and purchase of FERTZE - BRE RRERR REERIE
property, plant and equipment 22,654 25,970
Payables for costs incurred in connection with HRARRRMDEZERAAEEMEED
the proposed initial public offering of the FEAT AR
Company’s shares - 6,224
Others Hit 12,617 8,474
88,995 79,033
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost REBEK AT RN eREE 241,672 216,599
Provision for an outstanding legal claim FHRRAEERR = 20,000
Refund liabilities EHREE 2213 1,634
Payables for miscellaneous taxes AREAETH 9,332 3,628
253,217 241,86
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(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

Trade and other payables (Continued) 19 EBEZRHMEMNKEGE)
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the Group's HEREHAR  TAEEREZEHANESE
trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: NFIBHRE ST
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARMET T
Within one year or on demand —FANIRER 152,677 137,566
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one EEAMEES REMENRERR —FREH
year or are repayable on demand. NBREKEE
Contract liabilities 20 AHERE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBETTT
Contract liabilities due to third parties BRE=F&08E 40,635 13,571

All of the contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as revenue

within one year.

BRI IAANBERRN —FRER /KRS

Movements in contract liabilities BREERD
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR¥ETTT
Balance at | January RIAI B &ER 13,571 31,564
Decrease in contract liabilities as a resutt of SERBBEEFANHREYEA
recognising revenue during the year that a8 Er i R
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (13,571) (31,564)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of E R A EETERGRIA SN
receipts in advance 40,635 13,571
Balance at 31 December K12 A3 BR&ER 40,635 13,571
tABEKERGERAR FEHE024 100
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21 Bank loans 21 RITER
(@  The Group’s bank loans comprised: () FTEBEMNRITERERE:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTTT
Bank loans: RITER -
Secured by property, plant and equipment RASENYE - BER
and land-use-rights of the Group S A R b fF FRRE (R HR
(Note 21(c)) (MFEE21(0) 445,307 750,763
Unsecured Eiihgi 200,168 260,308
645,475 1,011,071
(b)  The Group’s bank loans are repayable as follows: (b) AEBWRITERZEUTHAEE:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT

Within | year or on demand R—FRFIEERK 645,475 1,011,071
(c)  Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by the following (c) ARENETRITERUFEBHUTE
assets of the Group: EEEA
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARMET T

Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKREE 261,047 322,822
Land-use-rights i A 77,680 111,447
338,727 434,269
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Bank loans (Continued)

C)

C)

®

At 31 December 2024, the Group's banking facilities amounting to
RMBI,250.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,550.0 million), were
utilised to the extent of RMB645.0 million (31 December 2023:
RMBI,010.0 million).

Certain of the Group’s bank loans are subject to the fulfilment of
covenants commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the
loans would become repayable on demand. The Group regularly
monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further details of the
Group's management of liquidity risk are set out in Note 27(b). At
31 December 2024 and 2023, none of the covenants relating to the

bank loans had been breached.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain bank loans were
guaranteed by the subsidiaries within the Group.

21
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SRITEM(E)
(d) T2024F12A318 - AEEMIRITRE A

(e)

()
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22 Financial instruments issued to investors

The movements of the redemption liabilities are set out below:

EAREERTHNEMIA
e A ENEBHEIIDMT -

Redemption
liabilities
WMEEE
RMB'000
ARMET T
At | January 2023 202351 AR 2,380,161
Grant of redemption right in Series C financing BTCiRm & B ol 285,714
Changes in the carrying amount of redemption liabilities B & EREEY 181,141
Expiration of the redemption rights upon the listing of KRB EhizE R #EEIH
the Company’s shares (2,847,016)

At 31 December 2023 and 2024

20234 20245 12 A31H -

From July 2020 to February 2023, the Company conducted several rounds
of financing by issuing registered capital to investors and the investors
were granted a right to put back to the Company the registered capital
acquired upon the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) no
qualified initial public offerings has been consummated within five (5) or six
(6) years following the closing of series financing; (ii) any material breach
of the agreements made with the financing investors under the transaction
documents; (i) any founding shareholders resign or is unable to act as
the key management or core staff due to any subjective reasons before a
qualified initial public offerings; (iv) the other financing investors required
the Company to redeem their registered capital based on the above
events (i), (i) and (iii).
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Financial instruments issued to investors (Continued)

The redemption price is as follows:

For the Series A-1 and A-2 investors, the redemption price is the
higher of (i) the investment amount paid by the investors, plus an
annual compound interest rate of 10% on the investment amount
for the period commencing from the relevant payment date of
the investment amount to the date on which the investors receive
payments for redemption, and any declared but undistributed
dividends; and (i) the market fair value of the paid-in capital with
redemption rights required to be redeemed. Upon the Series B
financing agreements dated on 12 April 2021, the redemption rights
of the Series A-I and A-2 investors were amended, such that (ii)
above was removed. The changes in the carrying amount of the
redemption liabilities as a result of such modification was charged to
equity, since the modification is a transaction between the Company

and its shareholders in their capacity as owners.

For the Series B and Series C investors, the redemption price
is the investment amount paid by the investors, plus an annual
simple interest rate of 10% on the investment amount for the
period commencing from the relevant payment date of investment
amount to the date on which the investors receive payments for

redemption, and any declared but undistributed dividends.
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redemption liabilities was transferred to “other reserve” within equity. -

The redemption rights have automatically expired upon the listing of the

Company's shares on the Stock Exchange and the carrying amount of the
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23 Lease liabilities 23 HES®E
The lease liabilities were repayable as follows as of the end of the HEREHANHEEGEARNATHRER
reporting period:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARMET T

Within | year IR 26,488 12,899
After | year but within 2 years ES T EVES 17,350 12,083
After 2 years but within 5 years 2EFBESFN 11,044 7384
After 5 years 5% 2,360 -
30,754 19,467
57,242 32,366

24 Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position 24 REEUBRRROFEHR
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial () REEUBEMRRMEIABIERE :

position represents:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBETTT

Net balance of income tax payable at PR BENFTEEE

| January EERFER 6,070 5,882
Provision for the year (Note 7(a)) FREE (7)) 19,997 6,092
Income tax paid BEASFTEH (11,579) (5904)
Income tax payable as at 31 December R12A3 1 BERFTEH 14,488 6,070
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24  Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position 24 AZHREHEMRRTROFER (E)

(Continued)
(b)  Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) MERERNWELBEEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(t), BRI 20 TS @ TR - B E20244F
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of 12A318 - REBWRRAEERE THE
cumulative unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences NEIEERFTARE AR IEEE R TE
arising from certain subsidiaries of the Group of RMB222.4 million TRMEBARKE2248 B T(HE2023
as of 31 December 2024 (as of 3| December 2023: RMBI31.7 FI12A318 : ARBIBI7EEBT)BRIE
million), as it is not probable that future taxable profits against JERIAEE @ B BN S RERE
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax & N B B8N N K BT BE A P B A R 2R B AR TR
jurisdiction and entity. vt M R SR SH B 1R o
25  Deferred income 25 EEWA
Various local government authorities have provided government grants to BT B M AN R B R E BT B B B
the Group for the purchase of certain property, plant and equipment and ETOE BERRBLLMERE - E5RE
land-use-rights. Movements of the balances are as follows: T
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
At the beginning of the year F47 46,362 32,858
Government grants received during the year G A P UCER U 47 B 7,354 18363
Amortisation during the year FNEEH (5,725) (4.859)
At the end of the year FR 47,991 46,362
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26  Capital, reserves and dividends

(@)

162

Movements in components of equity

otes to the Financial Statements
g ;%&i’%iﬁ%ﬁﬁi

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of

each component of the Group’s consolidated equity are set out

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the

changes in the Company's individual components of equity are set

out below:

26 BX - HERRKRE

()

EEAEARBINEE

AEBRGREEEH ST DM R IR
EHRUREHAINEAREEHR - ARF
Rz BRI EE D VR E)F BRI T

(Accumulated
Paid-in capital/ Statutory  losses)/retained
share capital -~ Capital reserve  Other reserve reserve profits Total
¢ (B:tER)/
BR/BR AAEER EtRE  EERA BER &t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETRT ARETRE ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note 26(b)) ~ (Note 26(d)) ~ (Note 26(e))  (Note 26(f))
(M)  (WEke)  (Ftiee)  (BER26(1)
At | January 2023 R0BEIAIR 99445 2,130522 (1,616078) 16711 (609,250) 21350
Changes in equity for 2023: WRFREREE -
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ FRIEFIRZERABE

for the year - - - - 251897 251897
Capital contributions (Note 26(b)) & (Fie) 2030 279960 = = = 281990
Issuance of shares by inital public FRERDAREETRG -

offering, net of share issuance MBRHETEY

expenses (Note 26(b)) (MEE26(0)) 5340 706,13 - = = 711453
Recognition of redemption liabilities for AELRNERERE

the preferential rights (Note 22) (M) - = (285714) = = (285714)
Conversion into a joint stock limited AR ERAT

liabilfty company (Note 26(5) (MEE26(0)) - (17179%) 1335941 (16711) 398768 =
Expiration of the redemption rignts upon AN EIIR 17 Ltk B el 38

the listing of the Company's shares (Fti2)

(Note 22) - - 2847016 - - 2847016
Appropriation to reserves PiEkRE - - - 414 (4142) -
At 31 December 2023 and | January ~ R2023% 128318

2024 R204F 1818 106815 1398597 2281,165 4142 31273 3827992
Changes in equity for 2024: WAEFERE
Profit and total comprehensive income FREHREERALE

for the year - - - - 190,792 190,792
Dividends to shareholders (Note 26(c)  FIBGRAIRE. (HzE26()) - - - - (33,113) (33,113)
Appropriation to reserve P EkRE - - - 19,079 (19,079) -
At 31 December 2024 #04E12A318 106,815 1,398,597 2,281,165 23201 175,873 3,985,671
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26  Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 26 EBX - RFERRE(E)
(b)  Share capital (b) M
Number of
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR ordinary shares Share capital
EERHE &S
‘000 RMB'000

Th% ARMET T

As at | January 2023 20231 A1R - =

Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into 2RI AR B Q BIEF BT TE AR

a joint stock company (Note (i) (5% GR)) 99,445 99,445
Issue of ordinary shares in series C financing CHim & P 3T @R (i)

(Note (i) 2,030 2,030
Shares split upon listing (Note (iii)) TR AR 4 48 (B Gi)) 913,271 -
Issuance of ordinary shares by initial public FERABRLARBEERITERR

offering (Note (iv)) (3% Giv)) 53,407 5,340
As at 31 December 2023 and M2023F 128318 K

3| December 2024 2024%F 128311 1,068,153 106,815
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26  Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(b)  Share capital (Continued)
Notes:

0] Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into a joint stock company

On 6 January 2023, the Company was converted into a joint stock
limited liability company and issued 99,445,074 shares with a par
value of RMB1.00 each.

(ii) Issue of ordinary shares in series C financing

On 17 January 2023, the Company completed the Series C financing
and 2,029,491 new shares of the Company were issued to the Series
C investor with a consideration of USD42,333,000 (approximately
RMB285,292,000), which was fully paid in February 2023. The excess
of the aggregate consideration of RMB285,292,000 over the increase
in the share capital of RMB2,030,000, net of transaction costs of
RMB3,302,000, amounting to RMB279,960,000 was credited to the
capital reserve.

(iii) Shares split upon listing

On 12 October 2023, the Company's shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Immediately
upon listing, the ordinary shares of the Company has been split on a
one-for-ten basis, and the nominal value of the shares changed from
RMBI.00 each to RMBO.10 each.

(iv) Issuance of ordinary shares by initial public offering

On 12 October 2023, 53,407,500 ordinary shares of par value of
RMBO. 10 each were issued at a price of HK$15.36 per ordinary share
upon the listing of the shares of the Company's shares. The proceeds
of HK$5,820,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB5,340,000),
representing the par value, were credited to the Company's share
capital. The remaining proceeds, net of share issuance expenses of
RMB41,274,000, of approximately HK$769,538,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB706,113,000) were credited to the Company’s
capital reserve account.

164
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26  Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 26 EBX - RFERRE(E)
(c)  Dividends () BE

@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

attributable to the year

() BERFFELHENE LA ERR
REE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETTT

Final dividend proposed after the end of WE AR BRIRE 2 REANRE

the reporting period of RMBO. 164 per BT BRARKO.I647T
ordinary share (2023: RMB0.03 | per (2023%F : BRI @R
ordinary share) ARHE00317T)

175,177 33,113

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the

reporting period.

(ii)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and

paid during the year

RBERARRBERE Z RARENEEH
REARERR—HAE °

(i) FREHMIEN K EFBR L — B
FEBHENE R AR RRKE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARMET T

Final dividend in respect of the previous FAESNIR TR E—WIRER 2
financial year, approved and paid during REARR B AT AR A RE0.031

the year, of RMB0.03 | per ordinary L2035 : AR¥EZIT)

share (2023: RMBNIl)

33,113 =

(d)  Capital reserve
The capital reserve comprises: (i) the differences between the net
considerations received and the nominal amount of paid-in capital/
share capital issued by the Company; (i) the difference between the
grant date fair value and the exercise price of share awards which
have been granted to and exercised by certain managements of the
Group; and (iii) the differences between the net assets received and
the total amount of the par value of shares issued in relation to the

conversion into a joint stock company as disclosed in Note 26(b)(i).

(d)

BEREE
BARERE ()VAARBITERER S
BRAKBRREFEELEZCEANER
(VAEERHEREEELTENKRESE
BHRTFAAABERTEBROEZE
R (iii) Bt 7 26(b) (i) FT 4% B8 2k 1 A A% 19 &1 &
RIFTPRMEEEFEREEITROBE
BRI A -
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Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

()

()

(®)

Other reserve

The other reserve includes reserve arising from the Group's
reorganisation, amounts in relation to the initial recognition,
modification and expiration of the redemption liabilities, transactions

with the Company’s shareholders and deemed distribution.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations and the
articles of association of subsidiaries of the Group established in the
PRC, these subsidiaries were required to set up certain statutory
reserves, which were non-distributable, to transfer 0% of their
net profit to their respective statutory reserves until the respective
reserves reach 50% of the respective registered capital. The
statutory reserves can only be utilised for predetermined means

upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to

finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in

economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments
Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the normal
course of the Group’s business. The Group is not exposed to significant

currency risk.

The Group'’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.

(@)  Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and bills receivables is limited because the counterparties
are banks and financial institutions with high credit standing, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk. Deposits and
amounts due from the e-commerce platforms, deposits for bidding
and purchase of land-use- rights, other receivables and deposits
have been classified as other receivables. For the purposes of
internal credit risk management, the Group has applied the general
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at |2-month
ECLs as there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group determines the expected credit losses
for these assets by assessment of probability of default, loss given
default and exposure at default. As at end of each reporting period,
in view of the nature of these balances and historical settlement
record, the Group considers that the provision of ECL allowance

for these assets was not significant.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose

the Group to credit risk.
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27

Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

@)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management policy under
which individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Normally, the Group does not obtain

collateral from customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At 31 December 2024,
35% (31 December 2023: 25%) of the total trade receivables, were
due from the Group's largest debtor, and 66% (3| December 2023:
60%) of the total trade receivables, were due from the Group's
five largest debtors. The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group'’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group's different

customer bases.
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27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 27 SR TENMKEKREERAAEBEE)
(Continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ GFERRGE)
EZERE ()
TREHEBEAEEERE S EKHIED

FERRREHREEBERNER

Trade receivables (Continued)
The following table provides information about the Group's

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables:

2024
20245
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
mEHEER IREAE EERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥T
Current (not past due) BNER(R#1HA) 0.02% 50,851 12
Within 3 months past due BEA3ME A A 0.08% 322,778 265
4 to 6 months past due R4 E ofE A 1.11% 3,697 4]
7 to 12 months past due BER7E 1218 A 6.09% 230 14
| to 2 years past due BER | 2046 96.43% 5,632 5,431
383,188 5,763
2023
20234
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEEAES 18 %X REAE R
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Current (not past due) BIEACoREHA) 0.04% 62,343 23
Within 3 months past due BEA3(E A A 0.15% 156,928 242
4 to 6 months past due B4 E ofE A 1.15% 15116 174
7 to 12 months past due BER7E 128 A 5.85% 9,255 541
| to 2 years past due gl Epkes 95.38% 1,950 1,860
Over 2 years past due EEREF LA 100.00% 42 42
245,634 2,882
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Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 27 SMTANPEEAREERAAEEE)
(Continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ GFERRGE)
Trade receivables (Continued) EZEWHNE(E)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the FEHEEERGEEARFENEREBRL
past recent years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences BAEN ZELELHBURBREKE
between economic conditions during the period over which the JE 52 B ) R A A8 AR © B RTIR R B
historic data has been collected, current conditions and the Group's REBHERKRIBEBRBFHNCERRE
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the EZERER -
receivables.
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade FRNNE SEWRIBEERERE 280
receivables during the year is as follows: ™
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Balance at | January RA I B & 2,882 3232
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment B 5 N MR IR E
losses) on trade and other receivables B8,/ CREEERRE) 4,590 (213)
Write-off of impairment losses W R EREE (1,709) (137)
Balance at 31 December RI12A31 BR &R 5,763 2,882
(b)  Liquidity risk (b) FREELEK
The treasury function is centrally managed by the Group, which AEBEREEBEKEE  B2ERCARK

includes the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of funds to cover expected cash demands. The Group's policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions and investors to meet its liquidity requirements in the

short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of each reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
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TRMITANMERAREER D AEEE)

(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FEESE(E)
2024
20245
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BERERAER
Within
| year or on | year to 2 years to Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
k3 15 28
FRER 26 56 5t fRE1E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR ARBTR ARBTRT AR¥BTR
Bank loans RITER 656,938 - - 656,938 645,475
Trade and other payables measured ~ IZESHRNAFTENE S &
at amortised cost HibENFIE 241,672 - - 241,672 241,672
Lease liabilities HERE 27,390 18,140 15,042 60,572 57,242
926,000 18,140 15,042 959,182 944,389
2023
2023
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARABRRADRL
Within
| year or on | year to 2 years to Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
IR % 255
FIZEK 2F 5% st fREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Bank and other loans RITREMER 1,038,190 - - 1038190  1011,07I
Trade and other payables measured ~ IZESHRNAFTENE 5 &
at amortised cost HiCEMN IR 216599 - - 216,599 216599
Lease liabilities HERE 13,169 13,047 8,480 34,696 32366
1,267,958 13,047 8,480 1,289,485 1,260,036
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27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk
) Interest rate profile
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate
risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings issued
at variable rates and at fixed rates, which expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk,

respectively.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the

Group's borrowings at the end of each reporting period.

27 SRIANMBERREERERQAEEGER)

(c) FIEEM

(i)

FIEHEER

MERBRELMIANAABHESL
ARRERERATHHREFH MK
AR  AEENNEEREIE
TEIRF N R K B E M KBERD
AAEER  BRERSAKRED R
HRRAERENERAREAAEBE
MEER o

TRFNAKEERN S REHR
CORIIES

2024 2023
2024 20234

Effective
interest rate
LIRS
%

Effective
RMB’000 interest rate RMB'000
ARBT T BRFE  ARETR
%

Fixed rate borrowings: EEFEER :
— Bank loans —RITER 2.30%~2.75% 400,475  3.50% ~ 4.00% 811,071
— Lease liabilities -HERR 3.60% ~ 4.75% 5742 43%~475% 32366
457,717 843,437
Variable rate borrowings: FEIRRER
~ Bank loans —RITER 250%~275% 245,000 340% 200,000
Total borrowings et 702,717 1,043,437
Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage of Bl M &G ER
total borrowings BEASL 65% 81%
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27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)
(c)  Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have decreased/increased the
Group's profit after tax and increased/decreased accumulated
losses by approximately RMB2,450,000 (2023: increased/
decreased the Group's loss after tax and increased/decreased

accumulated losses by approximately RMB2,000,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's profit after tax and accumulated losses
that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held
by the Group which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group's profit
after tax and accumulated losses is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a change in

interest rates.

(d)  Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily from cash
balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to which
the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are

primarily USD and HK$. The Group manages this risk as follows:

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

27 SRIANMBEEAREERERQAEEGER)

(c) FIZRER(HE)
(i) SBEZH
720244 12 B31 8 » (HEHFIREEE
EATRICOEES - mAAEE
thEEREFTE  AEERBEE
TR/ EARBTEBLEA T
F& 49 AR #2,450,0007C ( 20234 A
SEBRBEEERRTERES L
Ft/ T # AR #2,000,0007T)

LR BERESNBEL  BERMEX
BHORBERRBELICEAE
EFMTERSASENRE RS
B A<SHERAAEBEMNXER
MERMTE  AEERBEENR
RABEENNEEE - AAKER
BERRFTENIBHNREITET
AEAMRESRENXRRME
BAKERBEEN R RTERN
FEGTRENEEHELNFE
A RBANELEE -

(d) E¥mEE
REBHBHNEBRREZREAINES
BN e&EL - AER 5 E AN EBHI
BEEB AN ERE - SlRZERRNER
FEREZTMAT - FEEHE—RBRD
EBWMT
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27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 27 SR TENMKEKREERAAEBEE)

(Continued)
(d)  Currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥ERERE)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (i) EEHEEEE
The following table details the Group's exposure at the TRFIIARE B EIRE BHRE A
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from HEBAERNIEEE NG
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency AENEHREENBERMELD
other than the functional currency of the entity to which B ERA RO o HRIIHRE
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the BE - BERMAONSEUARERE
exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the spot rates ™ FRZEHEBAEERETR
at the year end date. i
Gross exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities: ERRBEERBBEATARERE:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEEY
ush ET 60,038 628,681
HK$ BT 5219 79811

65,257 708,492

174 SHIYUE DAOTIAN GROUP CO,, LTD. 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

TRMITANMERAREER D AEEE)

(dy E¥RE(E)

27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 27
(Continued)
(d)  Currency risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i)
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group’s results after tax and accumulated losses that
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.
2024
20245

Increase/(decrease) in

foreign exchange rates

Increase/(decrease) in
profit after tax and
decrease/(increase) in

accumulated losses

SBE R AT

TRET  BRAEARREON
SNEREEERBEMRED - BE
SFEEMARSERETE -
5 5 B A8 U R TR 98 o DB
2 -

2023
203F
Decrease/(increase)
in loss after tax and
Increase/(decrease) in - decrease/(increase) in

foreign exchange rates accumulated losses

BB %A BAEEE
HNEER LH/(TE)RR: SNERER TR /(EF)REE
IH/(TE)  BETE/(LH) HH/(TR)  BETR/(EH)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETR ARBT T AREFT ARETR
UsD e 10% 6,004 10% 62,868
(10%) (6,004) (10%) (62,868)
HK$ BT 10% Ly)) 10% 7981
(10%) (522) (10%) (7981)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ results after tax and accumulated
losses measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the end

of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

+TAEHEEERBERART FEHRE2024

ERZIMOMBERERT AEE
BEEBBRHEEENRSZEMIA
BEEMREBFENZAEBEERE I
BHREHRMETHRERARBE
1513, -
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27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments 27 SR TENMKEKREERAAEBEE)

(Continued)
(e)  Fair value measurement (e) AREHEFE
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value () HUAABEFEHNZHBEERER

Fair value hierarchy NABERER

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s TRINTIAEERREARRER

financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting MEEAENERIANAIAE

period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three- B WHEEZEBRMEREERE

level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value BRAALBEFEFAREN=EAR

measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement AREBEEER AABEFENSHE

is classified is determined with reference to the observability |2 ZGHEMT P E A E AR

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique BOABRMENEZHREDT

as follows:

0 Level | valuations: Fair value measured using only Level g FIRME: EEASE IRBA
I inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets B ENARERE - BAH
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement AEENBERGEHBRNE
date. BTSRRI HBRE -

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 0 F2RMHE : FAE2REAK
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet BROEIREREE I ROATBER
Level |, and not using significant unobservable inputs. BWAEER) BWHEERAERT
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data AERBABBAENARE
are not available. B - TR BERBASBBR AT

ESMSEBENEARE
. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant 9 EIMMAE: FRERNTAER

unobservable inputs. R AR =N AREE -
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27  Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(e)  Fair value measurement (Continued)

(0

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

27

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

TRMITANMERAREER D AEEE)

() AREEFEGE

(i)

UAREBEAENSHEERERE
(%)
ARBEER(E)
Fair value measurements
as at 3| December 2024

categorised into

2024128318

BEEUTERN
DRBEERE

Fair value at
3IDecember 2024 Level |

M2024F 128318
A REE EJE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTT

Financial assets: SREE:

— Listed equity investments — ERERE 615,055 615,055

During the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2024, there
were no transfers between Level | and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end

of the reporting period in which they occur.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

(i)

+TAEHEEERBERART FEHRE2024

REE2023%2024F 12 A31 AL
B BIRBEFFETEEE
MEEALEBLEIR - AEEHK
RRRBEBREAABERBRSE
HEEBE T AR

WHBEAABEIEHEHEER
BENLLEE

20245 %2023 12 4318 - A%
ERR AR ARIEN SR T
BEMEEEREAAEBELESAXR
ER o
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S @%E\Jiﬂﬂﬁ\\ BB AARET)

-
28  Commitments 28 IR
At 31 December 2024, the outstanding capital commitments of the Group F2024F 12 A31 8 - RERE M IRET B IR E
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as follows: B2 ARREREEEREENT -
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT
Commitments in respect of buildings, BT - EERZED
machinery and equipment HAE
— Contracted for —B2F4 64,375 97,546
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not committed to enter R2024F 12A31H » AEBIWAREFEE] L
into any lease contract that is not yet commenced. EAEARFIENEESL
29  Material related party transactions 29 EXBBAIRS
(@)  Key management personnel remuneration (@) FEEEBEASHMH
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, AEBTEEEAENGTMN(BRIEH FE8AT
including amounts paid to the Company's directors and supervisors BERAADFEEREE AR F
as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as FrRERE TRaHEESZIMNMESE)N
disclosed in Note 9, is as follows: N
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBFTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e  RREREVREN 8,387 8,093
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAL 3,266 2,172
Contributions to defined contribution AREHFCRIRET SR
retirement schemes K 466 422
12,119 10,687
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 6(b)). FMmER Al B TRAI(RHEE60b)) ©
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29  Material related party transactions (Continued) 29

(b)

Transactions with related parties

B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

EXEBAERS (E)
(b) EEFEBEAEMNRE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Receiving of goods and services ESEmREK
An entity controlled by a close family AN B IR ER HO 3T R AT il
member of a shareholder of the —EEE
Company 665 1,270
An entity controlled by directors of the RARIEREHN—HER
Company 463 _
1,128 1,270
Sales of goods HEER
Shareholders and supervisor of the RATIRRREEE
Company 9 40
Entities controlled by directors of the RARESEHNER
Company 43 199
52 239
tARESERGERAT FEHE04 179
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ressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

S \WBHAIERS - 2B AARNT)
29  Material related party transactions (Continued) 29 EXBBAIRS (&)
(c)  Balances with related parties as at the end of each reporting (c) MEREHREBESNER
period
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARMET T

Trade in nature: Eo5ME:
Trade and other receivables B 5 RHEAEWRRIE

Prepayments to an entity controlled by a A AR 2 B IR BR 3 S8R P2 il

close family member of a Shareholder —EEBHENK
of the Company 92 138
(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected (d LHRIEEBEIZNERY

transactions
The related party transactions in respect of receiving of services and T ERESRELEEERMBEE IR
sales of goods above constitute connected transactions or continuing SR ETRBNE 4AZ TR ERIBIER
connected transactions as defined in Chapter |4A of the Listing SRFBERBERS - R - ZERXHER
Rules. However those transactions are exempt from the disclosure BT EMBAE4AZZWERTE 15
requirements in Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules as they are below AREBRREI4AT6(NEE T 2 &EE R
the de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1). IKIE o
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B RS R R M &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

Company-level statement of financial position A 7] B H B AR R &
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T AREETTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB R 6,195 160,374
Investment property B 140,401 -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 31,842 32,140
Interests in subsidiaries RHTBARRER 1,764,349 1,739,349
Financial asset at FVPL AR BETEAEEEHTA
BanemEE 29,119 =
1,971,906 1,931,863
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H b FE IR 1,680,163 1,109,522
Cash and cash equivalents Be MR EEY 345,193 799,334
2,025,356 1,908,856
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A FERTFIE 6,863 12,604
Lease liabilities HEBE 308 =
7,171 12,604
Net current assets REBEEFRE 2,018,185 1,896,252
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 3,990,091 3,828,115
Non-current liability FRBEE
Deferred income R A 4,420 123
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,985,671 3,827,992
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRHE
Share capital A& X 106,815 106,815
Reserves ] 3,878,856 3,721,177
TOTAL EQUITY PR 3,985,671 3,827,992
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. i Q ‘ ressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
St \\WSSRIRAS - @EEBAAARET)
31

Immediate and ultimate controlling party 31
At 31 December 2024, the directors consider the immediate and ultimate

controlling party of the Group to be Mr. Wang Bing.

32 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations 32
issued but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a
number of new or amended standards, which are not yet effective for the
year ended 3| December 2024 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following which may

be relevant to the Group.

182
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAFRIRERRSN - SREBRAARETT)

32 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and 32 EEGERBZE2024F 12831 B IEFE
interpretations issued but not yet effective for the year ended REMWEET  FERRDRENEBEEXE
3| December 2024 (Continued) (%)

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

RELT B Ak AR BRI
EEHREER

Amendments to |AS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — Lack of exchangeability | January 2025

RERTERIB2ISRUERTA) » INEE KR BLAIZE — R Z AL RIE 202551 A1 H
Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures — | January 2026

Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments
R ERERIEOR(EFTAR) - 2 LA RBIRMBHRELERUEIIR) /T 2026F1 1R
A RBE-SBITASERIEMEET

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards— Volume | | | January 2026

BRMBRESTENFERE - R 15 20265 1 A1 H

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements I January 2027

BB RS e AR RIS | 85K - AF B IR A Ay 2 51 R B 5R 20271 A 1R

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures | January 2027

BB mEEANE 9% - FARZHEEFLA - KE 20275 1 A1 H

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Available for optional adoption/
Associate or Joint Venture effective date deferred indefinitely

RIS ERNF 105 (BFTA) REFR R ERF 28R (IBATA) - KREZFHAB LA AIFUEERG/ERAH
KEEPRANEENELTE R HBET

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact AEBETHZEERNARERPHEEANE

of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. EoHE  BRBASERAZSZERTAA

So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a BEHREMBERRERERTLE -

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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“Articles of Association”

NCIELES

“associate(s)"”

[BHEEA

“Audit Committee”
[EEEg ]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

252

“Company”

A

“connected transaction(s)"”

[RER 5 |

“Controlling Shareholder(s)" or “Controlling

Shareholders Group”

[ AR 3R ol 2 A A R SR

“Corporate Governance Code”

[bEERTA]

“"CRM system”
[CRME#E

“Director(s)”
=

“Domestic Share(s)"

[RER

the Articles of Association of Shiyue Daotian Group Co., Ltd. (as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

(T AEAEERNERAREZIETRIER - MFsUAEMmTT N EH)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIE FZmn R

the audit committee of the Board

ExgEERLZEE

the board of Directors of the Company
ARREEE

Shiyue Daotian Group Co,, Ltd, a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with
limited liability, the H Shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code of 9676

TABEKERNDERAR @ —KRPEEMAZORNDBERAF - HHR
IRBERZ PR BT (AR ISR 289676)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIE FZmr R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context
otherwise requires, refers to Mr. Wang, Ms. Zhao, Shiyue Daotian Enterprise
Management, Shiyue Jinfeng, Shiyue Zhongxin and Shenyang Hongsheng

BB MR T &ARRE - BRXESEMES - 9T RE - Bt
THABACXER - +A2E - +ARSREGBRT

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules, as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

ERAIMERCI PR E AT R (R TEHERT ~ FFEsIARAL T A E2k)

customer relationship management system

EFREREEREMR

the director(s) of the Company
ARRES

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
RMBO. |0 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in RMB
RABRATFREEARECIOTTH LT EE - AARBRELHT
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“ERP system”
[ERPE#E ]

“GI’OUP”, nweﬂy “us” or “our”

- SEREAEC AN

"“H Share(s)”

[H

“H Share Registrar”
[HRXRE 77 & ik )

“Hong Kong" or "HK"
[&%]

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK$"

&7t

“Latest Practicable Date”

[SRERATAS]

“Listing Date”
[ A

“Listing Rules”

[ AR Al

“LKA(s)

[LKA]

“Model Code”

[R2E<F Al ]

Definitions
E=

enterprise resource planning system

DEERREIFLG

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARRREKBRR]

overseas listed foreign Shares in the share capital of the Company with a nominal
value of RMBO.10 each, which are traded in Hong Kong dollars and listed on the
Stock Exchange

AR BEARHEREEAREIOTHIRI EHINER - WETTE B
Rk

Tricor Investor Services Limited

SEEFELBERAT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEARAMBEERRITHRE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BEEEER

April 17, 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining

certain information in this report prior to its publication

202554 A 178 - BIRAHRE TIEAEEETE TERNSRRERATTES

October 12, 2023
2023104 12H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBBERGMARARES LM AARIEARHERT - Mz AR M 7 8
%)

regional supermarket, hypermarket and convenience store operator(s)

R T - KBS RENELLR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

ERRAMERC( LM BETABFETESRZHFRETA) (ETEHERT -
FFRRIARM T B2
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~Definitions

&

“Mr. WANG"

[E5&E]
“Ms. ZHAO"
Fiksunl
NKAGS)”

[NKA ]

“Nomination Committee”

[fRREEE

“OA system”
[OAZ#E ]

"“Prospectus”
[HARER]

“Remuneration Committee”

[HHEEE]

“Reporting Period”
[R5

“RMB" or “Renminbi”
[ARE]

“SFQO" or "“Securities and Futures Ordinance”

[FE55 R B 15

“Share(s)”
[Rtn |

Mr. WANG Bing (F ££), spouse of Ms. ZHAQO, the chairman of our Board, an
executive Director, the general manager and one of our Controlling Shareholders
TS BREIREB  FARAREER  RITEF - AKERAR R
Rz—

Ms. ZHAO Wenjun (83X ), spouse of Mr. WANG, an executive Director, the
deputy general manager, the chief marketing officer and one of our Controlling
Shareholders

WXELL - TRERRE  ARRWTES - BIALKE  BRTHEERAR
AIRIERR R 2 —

national supermarket, hypermarket and convenience store operator(s)

@B - KBS REHECES

the nomination committee of the Board

E=gTERLZES

office automation system

MRBBCER

the prospectus issued by the Company on September 28, 2023 in relation to our
global offering and listing
RATGREEEE K ETHATIE A #A202359 A28 A MBI ER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXeTEFNEES

from January I, 2024 to December 31, 2024
20245F 1 H I BZE20245F 12 A31H

the lawful currency of the PRC
hELEEEY

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FRAPIFS7 I B ES MARRGDEIEER] ~ M A a2 Ek)

Domestic Share(s) and H Share(s)
MBI B HAX
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“Shareholder(s)”
MR |

“Shenyang Hongsheng”

&R 57T

“Shenyang Shengxin”

“Shenyang Xinchang”

“Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management”

[+AEACEER]

“Shiyue Jinfeng”

[t+A&E]

“Shiyue Zhongxin”

[t ARE]

Definitions
E=

holder(s) of our Share(s)
EGESZEPN

Shenyang Hongsheng Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (&F5E %
EEFERBMR AR, a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC on March 20, 2023 and one of our Controlling Shareholders
BEBITEEERBABTRDR - —HKRN20235F3 A20 B RIEP BEEM
RIZHBRAR] - REMZERRR 2 —

Shenyang Shengxin Enterprise Management Consultation Co,, Ltd. (EFZER {12
EEFERBMR AR, a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC on February 20, 2023

BEREEFEEETRARAAF - —RN2023F2 4208 REF BUAE
DAVAEOES1-YNE]

Shenyang Xinchang Grain Trade Co, Ltd. (ZZ{E 2R R E S AR A H), a limited
liability company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on June 27, 2005 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BSEERRESERAR - —RMN200556 827 AREHBUAE ML
BBERAR - RARFNZENBAR

Shenyang Shiyue Daotian Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (Bl T ARB XS RHAGREEERER)), a limited
partnership incorporated under the laws of the PRC on July 24, 2020 and one of our
Controlling Shareholders

BT ATACRERBASRER(BRAR) - —FHKN2020F7 A24ARE
HEDEEEMBIHNBRAEREE - AEMMERBIRZ —

Shenyang Shiyue Jinfeng Enterprise Management Consulting Company Limited (/&%
TRESECEEERFEREMR AR, a limited liability company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC on July 8, 2020 and one of our Controlling Shareholders
BETASERXERFBZRAERAF - —FKN2020F7 A8 B REHBEERE
MECZH AR AR - ARFIFIEBRR 2 —

Shenyang Shiyue Zhongxin Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (&5 T ARBREERHAGBEEEREE)) a limited
partnership incorporated under the laws of the PRC on July 24, 2020 and one of our
Controlling Shareholders

BETARBCREEEXANCRER(BREE) - —RIK202047 A24BRE
HEDEEEMAINAREREE - BEMSZERBIRZ —
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“Stock Exchange”
[ B 32 PR )

“subsidiary”” or “subsidiaries”

=Nl

“substantial shareholder(s)
[EZERER

“Supervisor(s)”

[BE=

“Supervisory Committee”

[EEg ]

“TMS”
[T™MS]

"USD!
E

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEREBERHERAT]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAIE TR R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIE T RRRZE

the supervisor(s) of the Company

ARAEEE

supervisory committee of the Company

ARREES

transportation management system
EREERLR

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XBEREEH
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Shiyue Daotian Group Co., Ltd.
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